An Exploration of the Socioeconomic Status--Health Status Gradient in Ontario: Results from the 1990 and 1996 Ontario Health Surveys

by

Susan E. Schultz

A thesis submitted in conformity with the requirements for the degree of Master of Science (Epidemiology)

Graduate Department of Community Health

University of Toronto

© Copyright by Susan E. Schultz 2001



National Library of Canada

Acquisitions and Bibliographic Services

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Acquisitions et services bibliographiques

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

Your file. Votre rélerance

Our file Notre rélérence

The author has granted a nonexclusive licence allowing the National Library of Canada to reproduce, loan, distribute or sell copies of this thesis in microform, paper or electronic formats.

The author retains ownership of the copyright in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission. L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque nationale du Canada de reproduire, prêter, distribuer ou vendre des copies de cette thèse sous la forme de microfiche/film, de reproduction sur papier ou sur format électronique.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

0-612-58756-8

Canadä

An Exploration of the Socioeconomic Status--Health Status Gradient in Ontario: Results from the 1990 and 1996 Ontario Health Surveys

Susan E. Schultz Master of Science, 2001

Graduate Department of Community Health, University of Toronto

Abstract

Data from the 1990 and 1996 Ontario Health Surveys are used to model the association between SES (income and education) and health status (the Health Utilities Index, Selfrated Health Status and Activity Restriction) in 1990 and 1996. The associations are first examined for each year separately and then an interaction analysis is done to determine whether there was a change in the overall association over time. The study found a positive association between SES and health status – health status increased with increasing SES – overall and for most subgroups. Results of the interaction analysis varied among health status measures. Significant interaction was found between year, income and the HUI, indicating that the slope of the gradient in the HUI by income changed from 1990 to 1996. This is primarily due to a drop in HUI among those with low incomes, and may be related to the recession of 1991-93.

Acknowledgments

I would like to begin by thanking my supervisor, Dr. Vivek Goel and my committee members, Dr. Jacek Kopec and Dr. Ian Johnson. for their guidance, support and advice during the completion of this thesis. I would also like the recognize and thank Dr. Sue Bondy for her help and advice on ways to deal with some of the more thorny data problems.

I would like to thank my colleagues at ICES, particularly Patricia Pinfold and Dr. Doug Manuel, for their support, encouragement and understanding.

The support of friends and classmates has also been important during this process. In particular I would like to recognize Esther Willms and Marlene Sagada for their unfailing encouragement. Thanks to friends and classmates Sue Pollock, Michelle Howard and Ali Moses for all the times we shared in and outside the classroom, and for making my return to academic life such a pleasure.

And finally, this thesis is dedicated to my mother. Mrs. Elsie Schultz, who never once asked "Why?".

Table of Contents

Abstracti	i
Acknowledgmentsii	ii
List of Tables	V
List of Figuresv	ʻi
List of Appendicesvi	ii
Chapter 1: Introduction	1 1
II. Research Questions	3
III. Hypothesis	3
IV. Review of the Literature	4
V. Summary	8
Chapter 2: Methods 40	C
I. Research Design44	0
II. Data Sources4	1
III. Data Collection Methods4	1
IV. Variable Definition and Comparability4	2
V. Data Analysis Methods4	9
VI. Ethical Considerations	4
Chapter 3: Results	5
I. Descriptive Analysis	5
II. Single Year Analysis	4
III. Interaction Analysis – combined 1990 and 19968	6
IV. Summary of Interaction Analyses	8
V. Additional Analyses	4
VI. Summary11	7
Chapter 4 Discussion	8
I. Health Status and Income	8
II. Health Status and Education12	9
III. Study Limitations	3
IV. Implications for Health and Social Policy and Research13	7
V. Summary and Conclusions13	9
References	1
Appendix A	4

List of Tables

Table	-	Page
1.1	Concepts and domains of health-related quality of life	26
1.2	Characteristics of health status measures used in this thesis	29
2.1	Adjusted Income Category Matrix	47
3.1a	Univariate Analysis of Variables Included in Full Model, 1990 and 1996	56
3.1b	Additional Univariate Comparisons, Variables Not Included in Model	59
3.1c	Bivariate Analyses: Health Status by Covariables	62
3.2	Health Status Outcomes by Income, adjusted and unadjusted, 1990	65
3.3	Health Status by Adjusted Income and Sex, 1990	67
3.4	Health Status by Adjusted Income and Age Group, sexes together, 1990	69
3.5	Health Status Outcomes by Income, adjusted and unadjusted, 1996	71
3.6	Health Status by Adjusted Income and Sex, 1996	72
3.7	Health Status by Adjusted Income and Age Group, sexes together, 1996	74
3.8	Health Status Outcomes by Highest Level of Education, adjusted and unadjusted, 1990	77
3.9	Health Status by Education and Sex, 1990	78
3.10	Health Status by Education and Age Group, sexes together, 1990	79
3.11	Health Status Outcomes by Education, adjusted and unadjusted, 1996	81
3.12	Health Status by Highest Level of Education and Sex, 1996	82
3.13	Health Status by Education and Age Group, sexes together, 1996	84
3.14	Interaction Analysis – Health Status and Adjusted Income	87
3.15	Interaction Analysis – Health Status and Education	91
3.16	Interaction Analysis by Sex – Health Status and Income	92
3.17	Interaction Analysis by Sex – Health Status and Education	96
3.18	Interaction Analysis by Age Group – HUI and Income	97
3.19	Interaction Analysis by Age Group – Dichotomous Measures and Income	99
3.20	Interaction Analysis by Age Group – HUI and Education	105
3.21	Interaction Analysis by Age Group – Dichotomous Measures and Education	n106
3.22	Summary of Interaction Analyses	109

List of Figures

Figure	
3.1	Mean HUI Scores for Men, Women and Total Population, 1990 and 1996, by Income Group
3.2	Relative Risks for HUI <.83, Fair/Poor Health Status and Activity Restriction, 1990 and 1996, by Income Group
3.3	Relative Risks for HUI <.83, Fair/Poor Health Status and Activity Restriction, 1990 and 1996, by Income Group, Men only
3.4	Relative Risks for HUI <.83, Fair/Poor Health Status and Activity Restriction, 1990 and 1996, by Income Group, Women only
3.5	Mean HUI by Income Group and Age Group98
3.6	Relative Risks for HUI <.83, Fair/Poor Health Status and Activity Restriction, 1990 and 1996, by Income Group, Age 25-44 only101
3.7	Relative Risks for HUI <.83, Fair/Poor Health Status and Activity Restriction, 1990 and 1996, by Income Group, Age 45-64 only102
3.8	Relative Risks for HUI <.83, Fair/Poor Health Status and Activity Restriction, 1990 and 1996, by Income Group, Age 65-74 only103
3.9	Relative Risks for HUI <.83, Fair/Poor Health Status and Activity Restriction, 1990 and 1996, by Income Group, Age 75+ only104
3.10	Difference in mean HUI 1990 and 1996 by Income for All Ontario, Men and Women110
3.11	Difference in Mean HUI 1990 and 1996, by Income and Age Group111
3.12	Difference in Mean HUI 1990 and 1996 by Education, All Ontario, Men and Women112
3.13	Difference in Mean HUI 1990 and 1996, by Education and Age Group113
3.14	Difference in Mean HUI Component Scores, by Income Group, 1990 and 1996115
3.15	Mean HUI by employment status, those age 25-64 with no activity restriction, by sex, 1996116
4.1	Total Unemployment Rate, Canada and Ontario and Ontario Long term unemployment rate, 1985-1998123

List of Appendices

Appendix	Page
A. Health Utilities Index Mark III: Health Status Classification	1
System	154

Chapter 1: Introduction

I. Rationale

The years 1990-1996 were a period of major economic and social change for the people of Ontario. In the early 1990s, from 1990 to 1993, the changes were primarily the result of the severe economic recession sweeping the country. The official unemployment rate for Ontario soared from 6.3% in 1990 to 10.8% in 1992 as businesses "downsized" in an effort to cut costs (Ontario Ministry of Finance, 1999). The average duration of unemployment also increased from just under 15 weeks in 1990 to 26 weeks by 1993. The proportion of people working less than 30 hours per week rose from 16% of those employed in 1990 to 19% in 1993. By 1994, the economy (as measured by GDP) had begun to recover. However, few new jobs were created, so unemployment remained high at 9.6%. During this same period, social policy changes were occurring at the federal level which included the tightening of Unemployment Insurance (UI) criteria and deep cuts in transfer payments to the provinces. The UI changes forced many people onto welfare. The cuts in transfer payments in turn prompted the province to cut welfare payment rates.

Evidence of the widespread negative impact of this restructuring can be found using a number of indicators. Overall household incomes decreased, while the proportion of Ontario families living in poverty increased (Canadian Council on Social Development, 1997; Statistics Canada, 1996). Multivariate indices designed to measure quality of life or "social health" also indicate that things got worse for most Ontarians in the 1990s. This prompted the questions--has there also been a negative impact on the

health status of the people of Ontario? And, have these negative effects differed from one socioeconomic group to another?

In this thesis, these questions are explored within the framework of the relationship between socioeconomic status and health. It has been known for some time that socioeconomic status (SES) and health are linked (Antonovsky, 1967; Pamuk, 1985; Wilkinson, 1996; Marmot et al., 1987, 1994; Adler et al., 1993). It is also widely acknowledged that this doesn't consist merely of a health gap between the richest and poorest segments of the population but that, regardless of how one measures either health or SES, successively higher SES groups tend also to have successively better health status (Hertzman et al., 1994). This association has come to be known as the SES-health status gradient.

Research into the gradient has established that it can change over time, and that, in some countries, its slope became steeper (indicative of an increase in health inequalities) in the 1970s and 1980s (Pamuk, 1985; Pappas et al., 1993). However, the extent to which the gradient changes as a result of societal economic events such as recession and restructuring is not well understood.

II. Research Questions

Comparing the results of the 1990 and 1996 Ontario Health Surveys, this thesis proposes to address the following questions:

- How does health status vary among different socioeconomic/sociodemographic groups in Ontario?
- 2. When comparing the health status of different socioeconomic/sociodemographic groups in 1990 and 1996, are there significant differences?
- 3. Has the pattern of health inequalities changed between 1990 and 1996? That is, have the differences in health status between various groups become wider, narrowed or have there been changes in rank order?

III. Hypothesis

This thesis proposes to test the hypothesis that there have been significant changes in the distribution of health inequalities in Ontario in 1996 compared with 1990. The null hypothesis is that there has been no change.

IV. Review of the Literature

The following section provides a review of the literature pertaining to the association between socioeconomic status and health status, as this is the fundamental question explored in this thesis. Also reviewed is the recent literature dealing with the measurement of health status and socioeconomic status as well as the socioeconomic context of Ontario in the years 1990 and 1996.

A. The Socioeconomic Status-Health Status Gradient

Evidence from the International Literature

The topic of socioeconomic status and health inequalities became a major field of public health inquiry approximately twenty years ago following the publication of the final report of the British Research Working Group on Health Inequalities chaired by Sir Douglas Black (Black et al., 1988). The Black Report, as it has since become known, served to both stimulate and focus discussion on the pattern, nature and causes of the observed differential in health status between social classes.

While the Black Report certainly galvanized researchers around the world to begin looking at the issue of SES and health in their own countries, it was not the first report of its kind. Indeed, "The Black Report is part of a long tradition in Britain of public health interest in socio-economic conditions and health, and of competing explanations for observed differences" (MacIntyre, 1997). Britain has been reporting mortality statistics by social class on a regular basis at least since 1842, when Edwin Chadwick published his *Report on an Enquiry into the Sanitary Conditions of the Labouring Population*. Beginning in 1913, when Stevenson, Britain's Registrar General, devised the five-level occupational classification system, occupational information has been recorded on both birth and death certificates. Linking this mortality data with census records has allowed for the calculation of standardized mortality ratios by social class with each decenniel census (Fein, 1995).

Early studies of social class and mortality consistently found a marked inverse gradient – as social class increased, mortality decreased. Titmuss (1943), when he examined the mortality-social class gradients over time, concluded that social inequalities in 1931 were as great, if not greater than in 1911, due to the fact that, while mortality rates had declined across all social strata during this time, the declines had been steeper in the higher status occupational groups than the lower. Antonovsky (1967), in his review of studies of life expectancy, overall mortality and social class dating back to the 12th century, also found evidence of differential rates of mortality decline among classes. He reasoned that the upper classes would be the first to benefit from improvements in such areas as nutrition, housing and immunization, after which these benefits would "trickle down" to the lower classes. This would produce lags in the resulting mortality rate differentials. He further hypothesized that as mortality rates reached very low levels, these differentials should disappear.

Interest in the social class-health gradient waned in Britain during the 1950s and 1960s, as the focus of research shifted to the transition from infectious to chronic disease as the main cause of illness and death (MacIntyre, 1997). However, the SES-health gradient once again came to the fore when policy-makers realized that infant mortality rates in Britain in the 1960s and 1970s were not declining as quickly as in many other

countries (Black et al., 1988). In 1960, Britain ranked eighth in the world in infant mortality rate (IMR). By the late 70s the country had fallen to 15th in IMR, behind both Hong Kong and Singapore. There was a feeling that the persistence of health inequalities might be playing a role, and the Working Group on Inequalities was convened to examine the evidence regarding the patterns of health inequalities, hypotheses as to their cause and implications for public policy.

The Working Group (authors of the Black Report) found marked social class gradients for most of their health status and health service utilization indicators. They also found that, in general, health inequalities between occupational classes had increased in the post-war period, in spite of the fact that overall mortality rates had fallen to a very low rate by 1971. This countered Antonovsky's hypothesis that social class differentials would disappear when mortality rates reached a low level. The Black Report also examined the evidence surrounding four theoretical explanations for the social classhealth gradient, which they divided into four general areas: artefact, natural/social selection, materialist/structural and cultural/behavioural. They then produced a number of general and specific recommendations for both policy and research. The Report recommended health sector policy changes aimed at giving children a better start in life, providing better services for the disabled and increasing preventive and health education programs to promote good health. For wider policy, they recommended a broad antipoverty strategy and improvements to education in general (Black et al., 1988; MacIntyre, 1997).

The Black Report "unleashed a vigorous and, at times, acrimonious debate" (Frank and Mustard, 1994), in both Britain and in North America. Criticisms of the

report focused on several issues. The first of these was its use of occupational classifications as a measure of social class, with critics arguing that the social status of an occupation can and does change over time. Also, the results over time were difficult to interpret because there was no index of inequality that could be used to judge whether the health inequalities were increasing or decreasing. Pamuk (1985), addressed these criticisms in a more refined analysis of the same data that controlled for changes in occupational status, misclassification and also included an index of inequality. She found that health inequalities decreased through the thirties but then began to increase in the post-war period and continued to do so into the seventies.

Another criticism levelled at the Black Report focused on the fact that it was based on an analysis of a series of cross-sectional studies and was not truly a longitudinal study. While this is true, subsequent longitudinal analyses have tended to corroborate the findings of Black and his colleagues. In a landmark longitudinal study of the association between socioeconomic status and health, Marmot and colleagues (Marmot et al., 1978; 1984) followed 17,530 British civil servants for more than ten years, periodically examining the relationships between employment grade and various types of mortality. In their first analysis, conducted after seven and a half years of follow-up, they found a clear and unambiguous inverse gradient between risk of death from coronary heart disease (CHD) and employment grade. The lower the grade, the higher the risk, with the risk of death from CHD in the lowest grade 3.6 times that of the highest. This association remained strong even after controlling for risk factors such as smoking, lack of physical activity, Body Mass Index (BMI) and hypertension.

A final criticism of the Black Report was its reliance on mortality data as its measure of population health status (Fein, 1995). Subsequent studies have used not only mortality, but also functional measures of health status such as the SF-36 (Hemingway et al., 1997), prevalence of disability (Wilkins and Adams, 1983) and the Health Utilities Index (Roberge et al., 1995a) in their examination of the association between socioeconomic status and health status. Again, these studies have tended to show that the conclusions of the Black Report hold for other outcomes.

In North America, studies of socioeconomic status or social class and mortality were rare prior to the publication of the Black Report. This was due in part to the fact that information about socioeconomic status, either using income or occupation, was not routinely collected in a way that could be linked to mortality data (Last, 1982; Krieger and Fee, 1994). Deciding on an appropriate classification system for social class has also been identified as a problem both here in Canada (Williams, 1971) and in the United States (U.S.) (Krieger and Fee, 1994). When socioeconomic data were included in public health analyses, often they were "primarily used by researchers to "control" for, rather than study the effects of, socioeconomic position on health" (Krieger, Moss and Williams, 1997: 342). As well, researchers and policy-makers in the U.S. were more concerned with health and mortality differentials between racial groups, rather than social classes. Apart from racial differences, the U.S. perceived itself to be a largely classless society, with mobility up the socioeconomic scale freely available to anyone willing to 'pull himself up by his bootstraps' (Krieger et. al., 1997; MacIntyre, 1997).

Despite these difficulties, there have been studies of SES and health in the U.S. The earliest of these was an ecological analysis of mortality in Chicago between 1928

and 1932 by census tract, with each tract assigned one of five SES levels based on median monthly rental payments (Fein, 1995). It found a smooth inverse gradient between mortality and median rent – the higher the rent, the lower the mortality. The first study which linked death certificates with actual individual SES data was Kitagawa and Hauser's Matched Records study (Kitagawa and Hauser, 1973). They found an inverse gradient between mortality and three measures of SES: income, education and occupation. Pappas and colleagues recently updated Kitagawa and Hauser's study using data from the National Mortality Followback Survey and the National Health Interview Survey. They found that not only is there still an inverse relationship between SES and mortality, but that the gradient steepened during the intervening 26 years (Pappas et al., 1993).

Since the publication of The Black Report and the Whitehall Study, there has been a "deluge of studies" (Frank and Mustard, 1994) conducted around the world. Reviews of this body of research (Marmot et al., 1987; Haan et al., 1989; Williams, 1990; McGrail et al., 1998; Adler et al., 1993, 1994; Anderson and Armstead, 1995) reveal the following: 1) Despite marked heterogeneity in measures of both SES (e.g. income, occupation, education, residential area) and health (e.g. life expectancy, mortality rates, morbidity or functional limitations), the gradient persists. Or, as Hertzman et al. (1994) put it, "higher socioeconomic status, however measured, seems to be associated with better health, however measured" (p.79). 2) The gradient shows remarkable consistency over time and across a variety of cultures, countries and economic systems. According to Haan et al., (1989) "the gradient, the persistence over the life span and over time, and the international consistency of the association are basic to our understanding of SES and health." Recent studies in both the U.K. and the U.S. have suggested not only that the gradient persists, but also that it might have increased in recent years. Pamuk (1985) found that health inequalities decreased in the 20s and 30s and increased again in the Post-War period. Pappas et al. (1993) estimated that between 1960 and 1986 the index of inequality doubled for men, while for women the increase was 23 percent. Feldman et al. (1989) found an increase in educational differentials in mortality between 1960 and 1984 for men, with the gradient for women remaining about the same. In another study dealing only with poverty and mortality, Hahn et al. (1995) determined that poverty-attributed mortality in the U.S. increased between the period 1971-1984 and 1991 by 10%. In the early 1970s the poverty-attributed mortality in the U.S. was 16.1%; in 1991 it was 17.7%. They also examined the directionality of this relationship and concluded that "ill-health contributes relatively little to poverty; the direction of causation is primarily from poverty to poor health to mortality." (p.495).

Canadian studies of SES and health

The SES-health status gradient is also evident in Canadian studies. One of the earliest studies was an ecological study of mortality by census tract in the metropolitan areas of Canada (Wigle and Yao, 1980) that found an association between life expectancy and income status. Following on this work, and still examining mortality and income on the ecological level in urban areas only, Wilkins et al. (1989) examined changes in mortality differences by income between 1971 and 1986. They showed three measures of population health – life expectancy, disability-free life expectancy and quality-adjusted life expectancy – to be associated with income. All three population health measures increased with increasing income. However, they also found that differences between income groups had decreased from 1971 to 1986. They caution that because their

analysis is based on neighbourhood income variables rather than individual or household level income, their results probably represent the "minimum rather than the maximum estimate of income-related disparities in mortality" (p 165). As well, they advise caution in interpreting the changes over time, as they may reflect an increasing neighbourhood heterogeneity, with the poor scattered more widely within each community, rather than a change in the actual income-mortality relationship itself.

Wilkins and Adams (1983) in an analysis of individual level data from the 1978 Canada Health Survey, found both life expectancy and health adjusted life expectancy to decrease with decreasing income:

Although comprehensive government-administered health insurance plans have made medical and hospital care available as a right to all Canadians since the late 1960s, this does not mean that socioeconomic-based disparities in health status have been eliminated. Healthfulness of life was directly related to income whether the measure was overall life expectancy, disability-free life or quality-adjusted life expectancy. Moreover, income-related disparities in health status were compounded, rather than diminished, when disability was taken into account as well as overall life years. (p. 1078)

Subsequent studies have confirmed the findings of an association between SES and health status in Canada (Hay, 1988; Roberge et al., 1995a; Badley and Ibanez, 1994). Mustard et al. (1997) examined data on mortality and hospital treatment rates (as a proxy for morbidity) in the province of Manitoba and found socioeconomic differences similar to previous studies. They also found that such differences are greatest in the mid-adult years, lessening into older age.

The SES-health status gradient in Ontario

In 1990, the Province of Ontario conducted a comprehensive survey of the health of its citizens. A multistage, stratified cluster design, was used to survey 61.239 individuals in 35,479 households. Information collected in the survey included health status, health behaviour, health care utilization as well as socioeconomic and demographic information. Evidence from analyses of these data indicates that a clear socioeconomic gradient with health status and other health-related measures also exists in Ontario.

An important feature of the Ontario Health Survey was the inclusion of questions to be used in the construction of an individual Health Utilities Index (HUI). The HUI is a generic health status index that synthesizes both qualitative and quantitative measures of health status. The quantitative component comprises measures on eight aspects of health and functioning: vision, hearing, speech, cognition, mobility, dexterity, emotion and pain. The qualitative component consists of a series of weights applied to these measures which are based on societal preferences concerning the various functional levels. The weighted scores are then combined into an index with perfect health scoring 1.0.

Roberge et al. (1995a) conducted an analysis of HUI scores by socioeconomic status, specifically by income, educational attainment, marital status, occupation and an SES measure combining education and income. Each analysis was stratified by age group and sex. Their results tend to confirm other studies of SES and health status. Looking at measures of SES such as income (adjusted for family size and type), education and occupation, there is a gradient of increasing HUI with increasing SES for nearly every group between ages 35 and 64 for both men and women. Below age 35 and above 64 the association is not consistent. The results also show that HUI decreases with age, although the slope of the gradient changes with SES level and differs between men and women. It is interesting to note that the association between income and education, either

alone or together, appears to be stronger than the association between occupation and SES, based on the consistency of the gradients across age-sex groupings. With respect to marital status, there is no consistent pattern across age-sex subgroups. Below age 45, both men and women show a similar pattern of increasing HUI from separated/divorced to single to married. After age 44 for women, being single is associated with the highest HUI, while the pattern for men changes with each age category.

While this study is interesting because it uses functional health status rather than the more commonly used mortality as the outcome measure, it has a number of significant limitations. The first are the weights used to compute the HUI. Although the weights are intended to reflect societal preferences with respect to functional limitations, those used in this study were derived from a relatively small sample of the population. As well, except for stratification by age and sex, there was no adjustment for confounding. Thus, for example, the relationship between high HUI and being a single woman may be a result of single women's educational or income levels, not her marital status per se. Finally, because the study was cross-sectional, one cannot draw any conclusions regarding directionality.

A number of studies used the results from the 1990 OHS to examine factors associated with specific health problems (Badley et al., 1993). However, in most cases SES was simply treated as a possible confounder to be controlled for rather than a potential risk factor in and of itself. An exception was an analysis by Liira et al. (1996), focusing on long-term back problems. With respect to simple prevalence, a gradient was found with both income (increasing prevalence of back problems with decreasing income) and education (prevalence was significantly higher among those without a

secondary diploma than those who had secondary or greater). However, of the SES variables only occupation (white or blue-collar) was included in the logistic regression model, and was no longer significant once physical exposure was controlled for. While certain types of physical exposure (bending and lifting, operating vibrating machinery and working with the back in an awkward position) proved to be the best predictors of long term back pain, the authors did not take their analysis one step further and examine possible predictors of such exposure.

Other investigations into the association between SES and health have focused on either health behaviour or health-care utilization. Pomerleau et al. (1997) focused on the association between SES and the likelihood of meeting current recommendations for four health behaviours: smoking, alcohol consumption, fat intake and physical activity. Jaglal and Goel (1994), using data from the Ontario Heart Health Survey, looked at risk behaviour for coronary artery disease such as smoking, blood cholesterol, blood pressure and BMI and found higher risk behaviour to be associated with lower SES as measured by education level. Allison (1996) studied the predictors of physical inactivity using OHS data and found income to be a strong predictor. Ostbye et al. (1995) found the odds of being overweight or obese (defined using BMI) to be related to education and occupation, among other factors. And Keller et al. (1997) discovered that levels of income and education were associated with diet quality in seniors for both men and women.

With respect to health care utilization and socioeconomic status. Katz et al. (1996a, 1996b) found that in Ontario, utilization of physician and hospital services decreased with increasing income. As well, within income groups, utilization rates

increased with declining health status. They compared this to patterns in the U.S., which were much more mixed, with utilization among those in fair/poor health increasing with income. A similar study by Iron and Goel (1998), who looked separately at men and women, found need for health care, defined using health status and number of reported health problems, to be the most important predictor of hospital utilization. SES (income) was associated with utilization for women but not for men. MacIsaac et al. (1997) also looked at physician use and found that SES was not associated with seeing a general practitioner once in the past 12 months, but it was associated with six or more physician visits in the same period. While it is generally lower levels of income and education that are associated with higher frequency of utilization, the probability of having seen a specialist increased with income and education. Brown and Goel (1994) found that those with less than a high school education were more likely to have made two or more visits to the Emergency Room in the previous 12 months.

Socioeconomic status is also related to utilization of preventive services, with women in higher SES groups more likely to have had a Pap smear (Goel, 1994), and to have undergone mammography (Mercer and Goel, 1997), although in the latter study, the effect of the specific SES variable (income or education) varied with age group. Katz et al. (1994) also found that the probability of receiving a screening test for breast cancer or cervical cancer increased with both income and education.

Explanations for the SES-health gradients

If the fact of the SES-health status gradient is not in dispute, there continues to be a lively debate regarding the possible explanations for this association. In 1980, the Black Report divided the theoretical explanations of the association between health and socioeconomic status into four categories: artefact, natural or social selection,

cultural/behavioural factors and materialist/structural explanation. Other possible explanations have emerged since. The following is an outline of the main explanations for the gradient that have been put forth in the past two decades.

Artefact

This explanation argues that the SES-health gradient is an artefact of the data, and it does not reflect a causal relationship. Proponents of this view argue that, while the gap between classes may not have closed, the proportion of people in the lower classes has been shrinking, so that there has, in fact, been a lessening of inequalities. This is not borne out by the data, which show that, depending on the time frame involved, the proportion of the population in the lower SES groups (certainly the lower income groups) has tended to either remain the same or increase (Black et al., 1988).

Differential access to health care

Along with poorer nutrition and sanitation, lack of access to health care was also often cited as an explanation for the SES-health gradient. However, this explanation does not stand up under closer scrutiny, for two reasons. In the first place, the gradient persists even in places where access to health care is based on need and not on financial resources, as illustrated by studies from Ontario. Studies of utilization patterns in Ontario found that need was the greatest predictor of use of both hospital and physician services (Iron and Goel, 1997; MacIsaac et al., 1998), and that low income Ontarians had the highest utilization rates (Katz et al., 1996a, 1996b). However, in spite of this, Roberge et al. (1995a) still found clear SES-health status gradients among the Ontario population.

A number of researchers have also looked at the impact of health/medical care on mortality or life expectancy and found it to be small. McKeown et al. (1975), analysed death rates from various infectious diseases over time and concluded that the contributions of modern medicine to the decline in mortality from such diseases have been small. Bunker et al. (1994) estimate that modern medical advancements in this century account for only about 5 years additional life expectancy, or about 20 percent of the actual improvement that has occurred. One can only conclude that barriers to care do not appear to be a sufficient explanation for the gradient, nor does access appear to be a solution.

Natural or social selection

This explanation is known by a number of titles – selection (Black et al., 1988), social mobility (Wilkinson, 1996) or reverse causation (Hertzman et al., 1994). Essentially, this theory suggests that the relationship between SES and health is being interpreted in reverse order. Rather than lower SES "causing" relatively poorer health, it is the poorer health that is "causing" the lower SES. Two studies (Power et al., 1990: Wadsworth, 1986) investigated this possibility and concluded that health does affect social mobility, but the size of the effect is small and cannot account for overall health differences. In addition, Wilkinson (1996) quotes from an unpublished study by Bartley and Plewis, who report that the effects of social mobility would likely be to decrease differences between SES groups.

Cultural/behavioural factors

This takes the approach that differences in health status between SES groups can be accounted for by differing levels of high risk behaviour such as smoking, alcohol consumption, diet and other lifestyle factors. While it is certainly true that risk behaviours such as smoking (Pomerleau et al., 1997), obesity (Ostbye et al., 1995) and physical activity (Allison, 1996) are related to both SES and health status, work by Slater and colleagues (Slater and Charlton, 1985; Slater et al., 1985) as well as evidence from

the Whitehall Study (Marmot et al., 1978) indicate that the effects of SES and health behaviour on health status operate independently of one another.

The lifestyle/behaviour explanation tends to assume that an individual behaves in a certain way of his or her own free will, and chooses to engage in high risk behaviour out of a lack of knowledge of the consequences. It then follows that the solution to the problem lies in education – once a person realizes the risk, he or she will cease the behaviour. However, the authors of the Black Report point out that this view fails to take into account the context, or "culture", in which people live and make choices. They cite Bernstein (1971), who argues that different patterns of child-rearing and socialization in working and middle class families produce children with very different linguistic and intellectual approaches to the social world. According to Evans and Stoddart (1994), who used the example of smoking, "the observation that smoking behaviour is sharply graded by socioeconomic class undercuts the argument that it represents an individual choice, and indicates instead a powerful form of social conditioning" (p. 44). This view sounds more like the materialist/structural argument (discussed in the next section) in that it implies that culture differs between social classes, and thus, that at least certain aspects of culture are determined by economic factors. This illustrates one of the difficulties with the search for an explanation for the association between health and SES - the lines between explanations are often blurred and may not be mutually exclusive.

Materialist/structural explanations

This approach emphasizes the role of economic and associated socio-structural factors in the distribution of health and well-being (Black et al., 1988:106). Traditionally, this has tended to focus on the *direct* link between poverty and ill-health, which are obvious when one considers conditions among the urban poor of Britain's

cities in Victorian or Edwardian times, or in the slums of the megacities of the developing world today. The health risks resulting from a lack of basic necessities such as proper food, housing, clean water, etc. are clear.

However, how does the materialist/structural explanation apply in today's industrialized societies, where food is relatively inexpensive and the vast majority have access to basic needs such as safe water and housing? In the Black Report, the authors, who confessed to preferring this explanation above others, theorize that economic class may be playing an indirect rather than a direct role, through the *relative* inequalities that continue to exist. "Poverty is also a relative concept, and those who are unable to share the amenities or facilities provided within a rich society, or who are unable to fulfil the social and occupational obligations placed upon them by virtue of their limited resources, can properly be regarded as poor." (Black et al., 1988:107). Being at the lower end of the economic scale, even though the bottom of the scale might be higher in absolute terms than a generation ago, still may confer disadvantages such as exposure to emerging new hazards, increased geographical isolation or lack of access to new information about health risks.

Income inequality

The idea that relative inequalities can have a detrimental effect on health is a theme that has been explored by a number of investigators. They argue that it is income distribution that has the negative effect on health, and they have taken an ecological approach to explore this relationship at the aggregate level (Wilkinson, 1992, 1996; Kennedy et al., 1996; Kawachi and Kennedy, 1997; Lynch et al., 1998). All have found that mortality rates increased as income disparity increased.

Wilkinson (1996), in an examination of health and income inequalities in a variety of countries, found that even if the absolute level of incomes was relatively low (although adequate to meet basic needs), if the spread from the lowest to the highest income percentile was relatively narrow, the country would show a flatter income-health gradient than a country with higher absolute levels of income but a broader range of income levels.

Kennedy, Kawachi and Prothrow-Stith (1996) examined the association between income distribution and mortality using two measures of inequality -- the Gini coefficient and the Robin Hood Index. The Robin Hood Index is a measure of the proportion of total income that is "maldistributed" – that is, the proportion of total income earned by the segment of the population whose income proportion exceeds its population proportion. For example, if 40% of the population earn 70.26% of the income, the Robin Hood Index is 30.26%. They found a strong correlation between the Robin Hood Index and total mortality as well as treatable causes of mortality such as infectious disease, hypertensive disease and tuberculosis. This relationship persisted even after controlling for poverty level, smoking, median household income and household size. In a similar analysis, that used the proportion of total household income earned by the least well-off 50% of the population, Kaplan et al. (1996), using as their measure of inequality the proportion of total household income earned by the population, found it to be correlated with total age adjusted mortality, homicide rates, violent crime rates, per capital expenditure on medical care and percentage low birth weight infants.

Kaplan and colleagues then took their analysis one step further and examined possible pathways which would account for the link between income inequality and

mortality. Looking at a variety of social indicators, they found correlations between the level of income inequality and the proportion of the population unemployed, incarcerated, receiving welfare, food stamps and without health insurance. Income inequality was also correlated with educational outcomes such as the proportion of the population with no or incomplete high school education.

A valuable analysis by Duncan (1996) sheds some light on a possible individuallevel mechanism for this increasing disparity. He looked longitudinally at individual incomes over twenty years, tracing average incomes at the 10th, 50th and 90th percentiles. He also tracked inflation-adjusted incomes for each group relative to the base year of 1969. The results are a dramatic illustration of the differential effects of recessional and post-recessional periods on those at different income levels. While all groups saw their incomes decline during recessions, the declines became larger as the percentile decreased. As well, the ability for income levels to recover decreased as the percentile decreased. The result was that at the end of twenty years, average income in the 90th percentile had increased 18%, had stayed the same for the 50th percentile group and had dropped about 22% in the 10th percentile group. If the association between income and health is causal, the health status of the lower group would drop and that of the highest group would rise, changing the slope of the gradient.

The fact that studies of the correlation between health and income inequality have used a variety of different measures has been the subject of criticism. Judge (1995) suggested that researchers in this area choose to use a certain measure because it yields the expected outcome. Such criticism was refuted in a study by Lynch et al. (1998), who examined the correlation between income inequality, measured nine different ways, and total mortality in 283 metropolitan areas of the United States. They found a consistent, highly significant (p<.001) correlation between the two in every case. The relationship remained significant when they controlled for per capita income and average household size. Interestingly, however, they also found per capita income to be significantly associated with mortality, although the relationship was weaker than that of income inequality. Their findings suggest a series of parallel gradients both by income inequality quartile and by per capita income quartile.

Social Cohesion

A number of possible pathways have been suggested for the interaction between SES and health. Kawachi and Kennedy (1997) and Kawachi et al. (1997) tested the hypothesis that one of the pathways by which income inequality leads to health inequality as measured by mortality is via reduced investment in social capital and resulting damage to the social fabric. Following on the work of Putnam (1993), who, in his pioneering work in Italy, equated social capital with social cohesion -a sense of solidarity and integration among community members, they identified four indicators of social cohesion: participation in social organizations; level of perceived fairness; degree of mistrust of others and perceived lack of helpfulness. They then examined the associations between age-adjusted mortality, income inequality as measured by the Robin Hood Index and the four social capital measures. Income inequality was found to be highly correlated with mortality as well as with the social capital variables. In a path analysis they found that the relationship between income inequality and mortality is mediated through the social capital variables, especially perceived fairness. The authors conclude that "disinvestment in social capital appears to be one of the pathways through which growing income inequality exerts its effects on population-level mortality". They

caution, however, that the effect may also go in the opposite direction, or that there may be other variables underlying both social capital and income inequality and urge further investigation.

Lynch et al. (1998), proposed a 2-strand hypothesis as to how inequality is linked to health. The first strand suggests that income inequality is associated with a set of social processes and economic policies that systematically underinvest in physical and social infrastructure such as education, which may affect health. The second strand comprises the consequences of people's perceptions of their relative place in the social environment, leading to behavioural and cognitive states that influence health. Corin (1994) and others have suggested that the intervening factor here is stress. He argues that the dissonance created when one is unable to meet either one's own or one's community's expectations, results in great stress. This stress then increases one's susceptibility to a variety of conditions and illnesses. The idea that social inequalities can affect host resistance and increase susceptibility was first proposed in 1976 (Syme and Berkman, 1976; Cassel, 1976). It continues to be an attractive explanation for two reasons: 1) it describes a physiological mechanism through which an aggregate level variable such as income inequality can act on health at the individual level and 2) it offers a possible explanation for the striking diversity of pathological conditions associated with SES differentials. Marmot reports that in the Whitehall study, investigators found being lower on the job hierarchy to be associated with deaths from lung cancer, other cancers, coronary heart disease, cerebrovascular disease, respiratory diseases, genitourinary disease, accidents and violence (1994). The Whitehall II study also found an association with a variety of morbid and functional conditions (Hemingway et al., 1997).

Summary

In summary, the literature surrounding the association between SES and health suggests several things. First, that the association is ubiquitous. In this review of literature, no studies emerged that looked for an association between SES and health status and failed to find one. On the contrary, the association persists across cultures, across segments of the population and over time.

Secondly, the current variation in the lines of inquiry into the association suggest that there may be a number of possible explanations for the association, all of which are partially correct. All of this points to an association that is quite complex, with a variety of factors and determinants playing a role.

B. Measurement of Health Status

The relationship between SES and health status is complex, in part, because health itself is complex with respect to both its definition and measurement. With respect to definition, health was traditionally defined in terms of pathological conditions – if one was alive and had no diagnosed pathologies, then one was healthy. In the past few decades the emphasis has shifted from defining how sick someone is, to how *well* they are. This is often described as general health status, quality of life or well-being (Ware, 1995; Bergner, 1989). Patrick and Bergner (1990), prefer the term *health-related quality of life*, which encompasses a broad range of concepts, from death and duration of life to opportunity, and have developed a useful framework for delineating the various domains or concepts of health that fall within the health-related quality of life definition (see Table 1).

Along with variation in the concepts or domains of health underlying a particular choice of indicator, there are wide variations in the types of health measures. Health measures may be generic or disease specific, preference-weighted or non-preferenceweighted, global or have a series of components and yield either an overall index or a profile. Generic measures generally measure health concepts that are universally valued and relevant to functional status and well-being, but are not specific to any one age, sex, disease or treatment group (Ware, 1991, 1995; Patrick and Deyo, 1989). Diseasespecific measures, on the other hand, are designed to assess specific populations with specific conditions or diagnoses. The concepts measured range from overall measures of well-being to a single concept such as nausea and vomiting (Patrick and Deyo, 1989). The relative advantages and disadvantages depend to large degree on the objectives of the research and application of the measurement. For large, population-based studies of health status, generic measures are the most appropriate, as they allow comparability across ages, different diseases and conditions and sexes.

OPPORTUNITY Social or cultural handicap Individual resiliance Disadvantage because of health HEALTH PERCEPTIONS Satisfaction with health General health perceptions Physical, psychological, social function	
Social or cultural handicap Individual resilianceDisadvantage because of health Capacity for health; ability to withstand stress; reserveHEALTH PERCEPTIONS Satisfaction with health General health perceptionsPhysical, psychological, social function Self-rating of health; health concern/ wor	
Individual resilianceCapacity for health; ability to withstand stress; reserveHEALTH PERCEPTIONS Satisfaction with health General health perceptionsPhysical, psychological, social function Self-rating of health; health concern/ wor	
stress; reserveHEALTH PERCEPTIONSSatisfaction with healthGeneral health perceptionsSelf-rating of health; health concern/ wor	
HEALTH PERCEPTIONSSatisfaction with healthGeneral health perceptionsPhysical, psychological, social functionSelf-rating of health; health concern/ wor	
Satisfaction with healthPhysical, psychological, social functionGeneral health perceptionsSelf-rating of health; health concern/ wor	
General health perceptions Self-rating of health; health concern/ wor	
FUNCTIONAL STATUS	
Social	
Limitations in usual roles Acute or chronic limitations in social role	
of student, worker, parent, household	
member	
Integration Participation in the community	
Contact Interaction with others	
Intimacy Perceived feelings of closeness; sexual	
Psychological	
Affective Psychological attitudes and benaviours,	
Including distress and general well-being	
Alextness disorientation: problems in	
Cognitive Alertness, disortentation, problems in	
Physical	
Activity restrictions	
activity mobility self-care, sleep.	
communication	
Fitness Performance of activity with vigor and	
without excessive fatigue	
IMPAIRMENT	
Subjective complaints Reports of physical and psychological	
symptoms, sensations, pain, health	
problems or feelings not directly	
observable	
Signs Physical examination: observable evider	
of defect of abnormality	
Self-reported disease Patient listing of medical conditions or	
impairments	
Physiologic measures Laboratory data, records and their clinica	
interpretation	
Tissue alterations Pathological evidence	
Diagnoses Clinical judgments "after all the evidenc	

 Table 1.1 Concepts and domains of health-related quality of life

Adapted by Patrick and Bergner (1990:167).

Measures may also be preference-weighted or non-preference-weighted. Nonpreference weighted measures include health classification systems, in which respondents are assigned to different categories according to their responses to one or more questions. Classification measures may use a Likert-type scale where each item (category) is given equal weight. Or they may use an ordinal scale to which numeric values such as 0, 1, 2, 3, etc. may be assigned. In the latter case, the numbers assigned do not have any relative value, i.e. category 2 is not necessarily twice as bad/good as category 1, but simply indicate relative positions on the scale.

Preference-weighted measures, on the other hand, are one type of measure that attaches a numeric value to a health state. Preference weighting arose out of the conception of health status and quality of life as a value (Patrick and Bergner, 1990). Preference or utility values are assigned to states of health and quality of life according the certain rules and procedures. Utility-theory based measures such as the Health Utilities Index generally use techniques such as standard gamble, time trade-off or rating scales to determine health state preferences. As Mulley (1989) points out, there is an ongoing debate over the use of preference-based measures, primarily around the validity of the preference weights themselves. He identifies as the source of this debate evidence that suggests preferences vary not only across individuals, as is to be expected, but according to the methodology used to derive the preference weights and the context in which the questions are asked. He also suggests that societal preferences in general are not static but may change over time, so preferences elicited at one point in time may no longer be valid at a future date.

Health status measurements may also be global, single-attribute or multi-attribute. Self-rated health is an example of a global measure of health. It asks the respondent to describe his or her health status in one overall term: excellent, very good, good, fair or poor. Other measures, such as the HUI, measure specific components of health – vision, hearing, mobility etc. and then combine them into a single measure. The difference is that in the latter case the components are explicit, while in the former the respondent is free to form his or her own evaluation criteria.

The information gathered from generic health measurement instruments may be summarized in one of two ways: as a single index score or as a profile that comprises measures of several different health components (McDowell and Newell, 1996). Examples of general health status surveys that yield a single index score are the European Quality of Life survey (EuroQOL), the HUI and Quality of Well-being Scale. Health status surveys that give a profile include the Nottingham Health Profile, the Short-Form 36 and the Duke Health Profile (Ware, 1995). Those who advocate the profile approach argue that health is inherently multidimensional and must be presented as such. Those who support the single index take the view that tradeoffs between dimensions are a part of everyday reality, and that a single score is more useful when deciding between two types of treatment, for example (McDowell and Newell, 1996).

Three measures of overall health status were examined in this thesis. The table below summarizes their characteristics based on the foregoing discussion.
Health Status Measure	Concept or Domain of Health	Type of Measurement
Self-rated Health Status	General health perceptions	Global, unweighted, single score
Health Utilities Index	Physical activity restrictions; self-reported impairments	Preference-weighted single index
Activity Restriction	Role limitations	Unweighted, single score

 Table 1.2 Characteristics of Health Status Measures Used in this Thesis

Self-rated Health Status

Self-rated health status has been used since the 1950s in health and gerontological research (Jylha et al., 1998). It is attractive to researchers because it is both simple and global. There is a growing body of evidence of its validity and reliability. Idler and Benyamini (1997) reviewed 27 community studies of self-rated health and mortality and concluded that it is a consistent independent predictor of mortality. It has also been found to be predictive of hip fracture (Cummings et al., 1995), coronary heart disease (Moller et al., 1996), disability requiring the need for assistance with activities of daily living (Kaplan et al., 1993) and the use of physician services (Miilunpalo et al., 1997). Its robustness as a predictor of a variety of health outcomes suggests strong predictive validity. Its correlation with a number of more complex health indices indicates that it also has construct validity (Cousins, 1996). Lundberg and Manderbacka (1996) re-interviewed a sample of respondents from the Swedish Level of Living Study and found self-rated health to have high test-retest reliability as well (kappa=.723).

Studies have also explored the criteria, and thus the underlying construct of health, used by individuals to rate their health. Shadbolt (1997), examining the correlates

of self-rated health in a population of Australian women, and Manderbacka (1998) using qualitative interview techniques, generally found that "self-rated health reflects a complex process of internalized calculations that encompass both lived experience and knowledge of disease causes and consequences" (Shadbolt, 1997:951). Manderbacka (1998) also found that individuals who rate their health at the lower end of the spectrum tend to focus on illness and disability, while those who rate their health at the higher end also focus on health behaviour and feelings of fitness. Both concluded that people rate their health based on their understanding of what is important to health. Further to this, work by Jylha suggests that the construct of health used within a population is likely to be similar, but that cultural differences may exist, and that cross-cultural comparisons should be made with caution.

There are often differences in the wording of self-rated health questions on population-based health surveys over time and from survey to survey. In some cases, the respondent is asked simply, "In general, how would you rate your health?". In others, the respondent is asked explicitly to remove the effects of aging: "In general, compared with people your age, how would you rate your health". The phrase "in general" is sometimes worded "overall" or "all-in-all", while the category choices vary from 'excellent, very good, good, fair and poor' in the National Population Health Survey (Canada) and the National Health Interview Survey (U.S.), to 'very good, fairly good, average, fairly poor and poor' in the European Longitudinal Study on Aging (ELSA) (Jylha et al., 1998) and 'very good, good, fair, bad and very bad' in the European Health Interview Survey (WHO EUROHIS). While Idler and Benyamini (1997) concluded that the strength of the association between self-rated health and subsequent mortality was such that it was unaffected by differences in question wording, Manderbacka (1998) suggests that question wording may affect have an effect on other associations. Further research is needed into this question.

In summary, the high correlation shown between self-rated health and more complex health indices, coupled with the research into the health constructs which underlie respondent's evaluations, provide evidence to support a growing consensus that self-rated health is both a valid (Greiner et al., 1996; Cousins, 1997; Manderbacka et al., 1998) and reliable measure of an individual's health status (Lundberg and Manderbacka, 1996; Cousins, 1997).

The Health Utilities Index

One of the limitations of self-rated health as a measure of health status is its lack of discrimination. As Gold et al. (1996) point out, "Sixty-six percent of the US population reports itself as being in either excellent or very good health, therefore providing little information about gradations of health in a majority of Americans" (p. 164). This has been the impetus for the development of more detailed health-related quality of life (HRQOL) measures. The measure included in the Ontario Health Surveys is the Health Utilities Index.

The Health Utilities Index is a generic, multi-attribute, preference-based system for assessing health-related quality of life (Torrance et al, 1996). There have been three versions of the Health Utilities Index. The first, HUI Mark I, was developed for use in evaluating outcomes for low birthweight children in neonatal intensive care. It consisted of four domains, each having from four to eight attribute levels: physical function, role function, social-emotional function and health problems. The second version, HUI Mark II, was developed for use in evaluating long-term outcomes of childhood cancer. It comprised seven domains: sensory and communication, happiness, self-care, pain or discomfort, learning and school ability, physical activity ability and fertility (Torrance et al., 1996). A third version, which is intended for use in the general adult population to measure overall health states, has been developed which includes eight domains: vision, hearing, speech, mobility, dexterity, emotion, cognition and pain, each having between four and seven attribute levels.

The utility index itself consists of a combination of the utility weights assigned to the attribute level of each domain. The utility weights themselves were determined by using Standard Gamble techniques to quantify individual preferences for the various health states (Roberge et al., 1995a). (For more information on utility theory and Standard Gamble, see von Neumann and Morgenstern, 1947).

In the version of the Health Utilities Index used in the 1990 and 1996 Ontario Health Surveys, the domains (and associated survey questions) for the population-based HUI:Mark III were mapped onto the weights and attribute levels for the HUI:Mark II. This has become known as the "provisional" HUI:Mark III (Mittman, et al. 1999).

Since 1990, the Health Utilities Index has become increasingly widely used as a measure of health status, both in Canada and elsewhere. In Canada, this is facilitated by the fact that the HUI has been included in several large, population-based surveys: the 1990 Ontario Health Survey, cycle 6 of the General Social Survey, the National Population Health Survey and the National Longitudinal Study of Children and Youth (Boyle et al., 1995). It has been used both as a direct measure of health status (Roberge

et al., 1995a) and as a weighting factor in measures of health-related quality of life (Manuel, 1997; Berthelot et al., 1993; Martel and Belanger, 1998). It is attractive because it provides a single, continuous, numerical measure of health status across a wide variety of health states. One caution noted by researchers in the past is the fact that the utility weights used in the provisional Mark III version were developed using a sample of parents of children with cancer, rather than a sample from the population at large. New weights, developed using a general population sample, have recently become available, but will not be incorporated into the NPHS surveys until the 1998 cycle. A few studies have examined the validity and reliability of the HUI. Gold et al. (1996), assessed the predictive validity of an adapted version of the HUI: Mark I and found it able to predict "the health related outcomes of vital statistics, hospitalization and decline in health perception over a 3- to 5-year time frame." (p. 170). However, they also found that beliefs about health behaviour were not incorporated, nor did the measure show any differentiation between those who had had cancer and those who had not. On the positive side, the constructed HUI retained predictive validity for those with excellent or very good Self-rated Health, who form a large portion of the general adult population, particularly at younger ages. Beaton et al. (1997) examined the test-retest reliability and responsiveness of the pain component of the HUI and found the reliability of the measure to be adequate, while the tests of responsiveness were somewhat inconclusive. Boyle et al. (1995) also examined the test-retest reliability of the HUI: Mark III as a whole and found it to have good reliability. As there is still work to be done in evaluating the HUI for construct validity, especially in how to interpret changes of various magnitudes, the

developers of the measure themselves caution that it is best interpreted in relative or comparative terms, rather than in absolute terms (Torrance et al., 1992).

Activity Restriction

Functional status is one of the domains of health defined in Table 1. Physical functioning, which is the main focus of the Health Utilities Index, is one aspect of functional status. Another is role functioning, which is measured as the presence or absence of limitations to role function as a student, householder, worker or participant in leisure activities. If a survey participant responds that they have a limitation in any of the above roles, they are flagged as having some type of activity restriction. Although no formal evaluations of either the validity or reliability of self-reported activity restriction exist in the literature, it is relatively widely used in general reports of population health status. For example, Williams et al. (1998) used activity restriction as one of their indicators of the burden of disability attributable to arthritis. It is also one of the indicators of disability used in a recent report on the health status of people living in Ontario (PHRED, 2000) and in Canada (ACPH, 1999).

C. The Ontario Context 1990 and 1996

The early 1990s saw the global economy experience another severe economic recession. In Canada, this recession hit particularly hard in the industrial heartland of Ontario. Plant closures, "downsizing" and retrenchment were all familiar features of the employment landscape. What made the 1990s recession different from others was the fact that it also involved major shifts in the labour market itself. Many traditional industrial jobs disappeared forever, replaced by new jobs in the computer and high tech industries. This shift has particularly affected older workers, for whom retraining is often not an option for a variety of reasons.

As well, this recession was accompanied by significant social policy changes, including cuts in transfer payments through Unemployment Insurance and Social Assistance. Finally, the recession lasted much longer than had originally been predicted and even when the recovery began, it was often referred to as "jobless".

The result has been a pattern of growing inequality in Ontario. A background paper released by the Canadian Council on Social Development in November 1995 outlines some of this inequality. Using data from Statistics Canada, they point to polarization in at least two areas: 1) work hours: the proportion of people working either 1-29 hours per week or over 50 hours per week has increased, while the proportion working 30-49 hours decreased; 2) the shrinking middle class: among Ontario men, for example, the proportion earning between \$15,368 (the average low-income cutoff) and \$50,000 decreased by nearly 8%, with the proportion earning less than \$15,368 increasing 5% and the proportion earning more than \$50,000 increasing by nearly 3%. (CCSD, 1995)

Poverty rates tell a similar story. The family poverty rate in Ontario rose from 9.6% in 1990 to 12.6% in 1995. Looking at selected non-elderly family types, the poverty rate for 2-parent families rose from 9.8% in 1990 to 12.8% in 1995; for single-parent, female-headed families it remained relatively constant at a very high rate, fluctuating between about 60% and 56%; the most dramatic change was in single-parent, male-headed families - the poverty rate in this group initially dropped from 25.5% in 1990 to 18.9% in 1992 but then increased to over 30% the following year, where it has remained. (CCSD, 1997) Overall, average family income dropped 6.4%, with male lone-parent family income dropping 11.3% and female lone-parent family income dropping

8.2%. It is important to note that while male lone-parent families may have had the largest proportional decrease in income, in 1995 they were still earning, on average,
\$44,318 per year compared with and average of \$30,182 for female lone parent families.

Finally, two multivariate indexes, each constructed by combining data on a variety of social, health, economic and environmental indicators, also show a negative change during the 1990s. The Index of Social Health was developed in the mid-1980s at Fordham University (Fordham University, 1995). It is composed of the following indicators: Children- infant mortality, child abuse, children in poverty; Adolescents - teen suicide, drug abuse, high school drop-out rate; Adults - adult unemployment, average weekly earnings, health insurance coverage (US); Seniors - poverty among those 65 and over, out-of-pocket health costs for those 65 and over; All ages – homicides, alcohol-related traffic fatalities, Social Assistance beneficiaries (Canada), access to affordable housing, gap between rich and poor. When the Index was calculated for Canada for the period 1970 to 1995 (Human Resources Development Canada, 1997) the results showed that after peaking in 1979, the Index scores have been in general decline ever since. The score for 1995 was lowest since 1974. As well, the Index score dropped 12% between 1990 and 1995.

The Quality of Life Index for Ontario (Shookner, 1997), is another multi-indicator index that attempts to measure overall societal quality of life. It comprises the following indicators, each recorded as a rate per 10,000 population: children taken into care of Children's Aid Societies, Social Assistance beneficiaries, people waiting for public housing, labour force working, labour force unemployed, number of bankruptcies reported, deaths from suicide, long term care waiting list, low birth weight births, number

of hours of moderate/poor air quality, number of effluent discharge spills, tonnes of waste diverted to blue boxes. The overall composite index fell 13.6% from 1990 to 1997.

It is quite clear that the early to mid 1990s represent a period of economic hardship for many Ontarians. Involuntary unemployment, shrinking income, and even job insecurity tend to increase stress levels and have been found to have negative effects on health. A number of researchers have examined the impact of economic recession on the health of individuals and populations. The focus of many of these studies has been the central feature of recession - unemployment (here meaning those who wish to work but can't find a job). Jones, in his review of this body of literature, states that "Unemployment has been demonstrated to be a stressful life event with severe health consequences." (Jones, 1997:49). Brenner, (1984) who pioneered work in this area in the 1970s and 1980s, correlated an increasing unemployment rate and other changes in the labour market with increases in such things as cardiovascular problems, cirrhosis, suicide, infant mortality, homicide, motor vehicle accidents, child abuse and psychiatric admissions (Shortt, 1996). However, Brenner's work has been criticized because it uses aggregate data and so is subject to the "ecological fallacy". Subsequent studies of individuals during plant closings etc. have since substantiated many of Brenner's findings and have shed light on some of the intervening variables that account for the relationship between unemployment and poor health outcomes. Studies have found that the unemployed take more medication, visit physicians more often, have higher blood pressure and are admitted to the hospital more often than the employed (Jones, 1997). This is true even in studies that have controlled for possible selection bias. In an

interesting study in Ontario, Burke et al. (1993) found that employment status was strongly associated with health status outcomes for men, but not for women.

Lynch et al. (1997) also found a consistent and graded association between economic hardship and physical, psychological and cognitive functioning, although their work had a followup time of 30 years. In his review of the literature, Jones (1997) found that many longitudinal studies of workers who became unemployed experienced increased health problems during the first year after they became unemployed and some studies even found increased health risks during the anticipatory period – that is, between the time when workers find out that a plant/company will be closing/laying people off, and the point at which the layoff/closure takes effect.

While it may be that recessions can cause unemployment, which in turn can have a deleterious effect on health, is there any reason to expect that the effect would be different for people in different socioeconomic groups? A study by Duncan (1996) suggests that this might be so. In his work on income dynamics and health he begins by quoting evidence suggesting a differential impact of income on mortality. In the study proper, he showed that 1) recessions tend to have a greater impact on the incomes of people in the lowest income groups, whose incomes fall proportionately farther than those at higher levels and 2) that after a recession, those is the lowest income groups also tend not to make up the ground they lost, leading to a widening gap between those at the lowest levels and those at the top.

V. Summary

In summary, this review of the literature cites evidence that the recessionary early 1990s was a time of increasing income inequality in Ontario, as a greater proportion of

the population dropped below the low-income cutoff (CCSD, 1995, 1997). As well, there is evidence to suggest that the negative effects of recessions on income are much worse for those at the bottom end of the economic scale (Duncan, 1996). Based on the literature on the association between SES and health status, it is reasonable to expect that the early 1990s would also see increasing disparity in health status across socioeconomic groups and that this increased disparity will be evident as a change in the SES-health status gradient.

Chapter 2: Methods

I. Research Design

This thesis compares data from two cross-sectional population-based surveys, carried out in 1990 and 1996/97, with respect to the associations between the variables of interest – in this case the relationship between measures of socioeconomic status and measures of health status. Cross-sectional surveys, as the name implies, take a snapshot of a population, including various outcomes, exposures, social and demographic co-variables etc., at a single point or during a narrow window of time. Such studies have two main advantages: they are relatively inexpensive, because they don't involve long periods of follow-up, and they are often based on a sample of the general population, increasing the generalizability of their findings. The main disadvantage of cross-sectional studies is the fact that, because exposures and outcomes are measured at the same time, it is difficult to determine which came first and so nearly impossible to determine causality. Cross-sectional studies, then, are usually used to explore relationships and associations between variables (Kelsey et al., 1996), and are generally used for hypothesis generating rather than hypothesis testing.

Series of cross-sectional studies are often used to trace changes in relationships between variables over time. A well-known example of this type of study is the Black Report (Black et al., 1988), which used a cross-sectional series to trace the relationship between socioeconomic status and mortality from the 1920s into the 1970s.

Because one of the independent variables was education, the analysis was limited to those individuals 25 years of age and older, an age at which the majority of the population have attained their highest level of education (the analysis does not distinguish between undergraduate and graduate university education).

II. Data Sources

Data sources for this thesis were the 1990 Ontario Health Survey (OHS90), which used a multi-stage, random sample design to survey some 35,000 households (61,239 individuals) (Ontario Ministry of Health, 1992), and the Ontario portion of the 1996/97 National Population Health Survey (now known as the OHS96) which surveyed approximately 36,000 households as part of a national survey (Statistics Canada, 1998).

III. Data Collection Methods

Data for the OHS90 were collected between January and November 1990 using a combination of face-to-face interviews, during which information was collected on all household members with one member acting as proxy for the others, and self-completed questionnaires which were completed by all members of the household over age 12. In a small number of cases interviews were conducted over the phone rather than face-to-face. The OHS96 data, were all collected between June 1996 and August 1997 via telephone using CATI (computer assisted telephone interviewing). The 1996/97 survey also has two sections, one of which was completed for all household members using one member as proxy. The other section was non-proxy and was completed only for one selected member of the household over 12 years of age. Both surveys were designed and implemented by Statistics Canada.

IV. Variable Definition and Comparability Dependent Variables: Health Status

The Health Utilities Index

Definition: The Health Utilities Index (HUI) is an aggregate measure based on the presence or absence of difficulty with a variety of functions, weighted by the perceived utility of that function/limitation. The HUI was initially developed by Torrance and colleagues at McMaster University (Torrance et. al., 1996) to study neonatal intensive care outcomes for very low birth weight infants and included four attributes: (1) physical function, (2) role function, (3) social-emotional function, and (4) health problems (HUI Mark I). The Mark II instrument was expanded to 7 attributes and used to describe the long-term outcomes of childhood cancer. This Mark II instrument was then adapted for general use with adults and included as part of both the 1990 Ontario Health Survey and the National Population Health Survey (Mark III). This adult HUI Mark III comprises eight attributes: (1) vision, (2) hearing, (3) speech, (4) mobility, (5) dexterity, (6) emotion, (7) cognition and (8) pain. However, because utility weights were not yet available for use with these surveys, "provisional" index scores were calculated by mapping the responses from the Mark III questions onto the Mark II preference weights (Boyle et al., 1995). The final index scores were calculated using the formula: HUI= 1.06*(u1*u2*u3*u4*u5*u6)-.06, where u1-u6 are the utility weights for each attribute level.

Comparability: In the 1996 survey, the HUI was included in the dataset as a derived variable. With the 1990 survey data, it was necessary to compute the index from the individual question responses. As it was important that the HUI scores be computed in an identical way in the two years, the initial step was to compare the questions

included in the 1990 and 1996 survey instruments. This revealed that the question "Are you able to speak at all?" was included in 1990 but omitted in 1996. Otherwise, the questions were identical. The algorithms were also found to be identical, with the exception of the "Speech" section. Based on this, a decision was made to apply the 1996 algorithm to the 1990 survey, to ensure comparability. The 1996 algorithm was provided by Statistics Canada and converted for use with the 1990 questions. The overall impact of this change was small, as only 6 respondents out of the total 1990 sample (age 25 and over) of 38,818 were reported to be unable to speak at all.

Self-rated Health Status

Definition: Health status was also measured using the self-reported health or global health rating scale. This measure asks respondents to rate their own health on a 5-point rating scale: Excellent, Very Good, Good, Fair and Poor. Such a "subjective" measure of health status, "which in effect cedes control over its exact meaning to the respondent" (Idler and Benyamini, 1997:34), may, at first glance, appear to have little reliability. However, it has been found to be a powerful predictor of both mortality and hospitalization (Idler and Benyamini, 1997; Verbrugge, 1989). People seem to be able to evaluate their own health better than professionals, perhaps sensing conditions that are still in the subclinical stage, perhaps with a better understanding of severity in terms of their own physiological resources, prompting some researchers to argue that "the global rating represents an irreplaceable dimension of health status and in fact that an individual's health status cannot be assessed without it" (Idler and Benyamini, 1997:34).

Comparability: It is clear that self-reported health is an important measure of health status. Unfortunately, however, there is some question of variable comparability in this case due to important differences in the wording of the question in 1990 and 1996. In 1990, respondents were asked, "In general, compared with others your age, how would you rate your health?". In 1996, the question was phrased, "In general, how would you rate your health?". Thus, in 1990 respondents were asked to evaluate their health in relative terms -- relative to others in the same age group. In 1996, this explicit relativity has been removed and respondents were free to define for themselves the five levels of health. It is difficult to gauge what the impact of this change might be. To circumvent this problem, the analysis focuses on the risk ratios for Fair/Poor Health in each SES group compared with the highest SES group in 1990 and 1996, rather than the actual proportions in each group reporting Fair/Poor Health. Thus, while the overall proportion reporting Fair/Poor Health might have changed as a result of changes in the wording of the question, it is not likely that it will have changed differently for different SES groups and so the relative proportions should be comparable.

Activity Restriction

Definition – The third measure of health status used in this analysis is activity restriction. This is also often called activity limitation, and has become increasingly popular internationally as a measure of disability in the population. Respondents are asked whether they find it necessary to limit their activities at home, work, school, etc. because of a long term health problem.

Comparability – Unfortunately, once again, there is not an exact match between the 1990 and 1996 questions. To begin with, the 1996 dataset contains a variable called the "Restriction of Activity Flag". A respondent is flagged as having an activity

restriction if they respond 'YES' to any of the "....do you restrict your activities at home, ...school etc." questions OR if they respond 'YES' to the question "Do you have a long term disability or handicap?". This latter question was not included as part of the 1990 survey. This problem was solved by creating a new variable for the 1996 sample that did not include the long-term disability question.

The second comparability problem is similar to that for self-rated health. In 1990 respondents were asked, "Compared to other people of the same age in good health, are you limited in the kind or amount of activity you can do because of a long-term physical or mental condition or health problem?". In 1996/97, on the other hand, respondents were asked simply, "Because of a long-term physical or mental condition or a health problem, are you limited in the kind or amount of activity you can do: [as separate questions] at home, at school, at work or in other activities such as transportation to or from work or leisure time activities?" Once again, the impact of this difference is difficult to gauge, but it would be likely to result in an underestimation of activity restriction in 1990 compared with 1996.

As with self-rated health, this problem was addressed by using the risk ratio for Activity Restriction as the measure of effect, rather than the absolute proportions.

Independent variables: Socioeconomic Status

Definition: One of the challenges of studies involving socioeconomic status is that there is no "gold standard" of measurement. In this study, SES was conceptualized in terms of socioeconomic position rather than social class, to use a distinction proposed by Krieger et al. (1997). They define social class as "referring to social groups forged by interdependent economic and legal relationships". Socioeconomic position, on the other hand, refers to an aggregate concept that encompasses one's material and social resource assets as well as access to and consumption of goods, services and knowledge.

The most commonly used indicators of SES are income, education and occupation. While they are sometimes thought of as interchangeable, some authors have suggested that they may be measuring different determinants of health (Winkleby et al., 1992). For example, income measures spending power and housing, occupation measures physical and environmental work exposures and education measures knowledge and prestige. Occupation was not used as a measure of SES in this study for two main reasons. The first is that the social status of an occupation is not always stable over time (Pamuk, 1985), raising the possibility of misclassification bias. Second, and perhaps even more importantly, those who are not currently employed for wages are difficult to classify and must often be excluded. For these reasons, only income and education were examined in this study.

Income

Comparability: Both surveys collected data about income using income categories rather than asking respondents for an actual estimate. These categories, which were defined by Statistics Canada, differed slightly at the lowest level. This was resolved by turning to Statistics Canada's low income cutoffs for 1990 and 1996. The low income cutoffs, which take into account household size and urbanization, are used to define the population living in "straitened circumstance" relative to the average (see http://www.statcan.ca/english/Pgdb/People/Families/def/deffamil60a.htm) The low income cutoff for 1-2 person households in 1990 was close to \$12,000 and in 1996 it was just over \$15,000, so it was felt that these two figures could be used to define comparable low income groups for the two years. Once the cutoffs for the lowest income group were

defined, the following matrix was developed based on the categories developed by

Statistics Canada for the 1996/97 NPHS:

Low		Lower Middle		Upper Middle		Upper		
Household Size	1990	1996	1990	1996	1990	1996	1990	1996
1-2	<\$12,000	<\$15,000	\$12,000- \$29,999	\$15,000- \$29,999	\$30,000- \$59,999	\$30,000- \$59,999	\$60,000+	\$60,000+
3-4	<\$20,000	<\$20,000	\$20,000- \$39,999	\$20,000- \$39,999	\$40,000- \$79,999	\$40,000- \$79,999	\$80,000+	\$80,000+
5-	<\$30,000	<\$30,000	\$30,000- \$59,999	\$30.000- \$59,999	\$60,000- \$79,999	\$60,000- \$79,999	\$80,000-	\$80.000-

 Table 2.1 Adjusted Income Category Matrix

Education

Education was defined as the highest level of education the respondent had attained. It was used as a categorical variable, with the cutpoints based on credentials as recommended by Liberatos et al. (1988) and Krieger et al. (1997). The cutpoints in this case were: 1. Less than secondary graduation, 2. Secondary graduation/some postsecondary, 3. Post-secondary graduation.

Confounders and co-variables

A review of the literature identified the following as important potential confounders of the association between SES and health status: age, sex, household type (which, in a sense, is a combination of family structure and marital status) and behaviour. Studies have shown that the relationship between SES and health is confounded by both age (House et al., 1990) and sex (Winkleby et al., 1992). The confounding by age consists of an association between age and health (health generally decreases with age), age and education (education levels have increased with each age cohort throughout this century) and age and income (income often decreases after retirement). The confounding with sex has to do with the fact that the returns from increased education with respect to income and occupation are different for women and men (Krieger et al., 1997; Winkleby et al., 1992). Evidence from the Whitehall II study (Hemingway et al., 1997) also suggests that SES level has a differential impact on women compared to men.

The association between health status and SES can also be confounded by health behaviour, as behaviour is associated with both SES and health status. People in lower SES groups tend to smoke more, exercise less and be more overweight. Alcohol use, on the other hand, tends to be higher in the higher socioeconomic groups (Pomerleau et al., 1997). The health effects of behaviours such as smoking and alcohol abuse are well documented. It is therefore important to control for behaviour in order to properly estimate the independent effect of SES on health status.

After the important potential confounders were identified from the literature, they were entered one by one into the model. All were found to be significant and so were included in the final model.

Definitions: Below are the definitions/categorizations of the confounders/covariables used in this analysis:

Age - as a continuous variable in the regression analyses. An age-stratified analysis was also carried out on the combined dataset.

Sex - as a categorical variable.

Household type - The type of household was divided into 5 categories: single individuals, couples without dependent children, couples with dependent children, single parents with dependent children and other.

Behaviour - The effect of health behaviour was controlled for by including variables for physical activity, smoking and alcohol consumption. Physical activity was measured using the Physical Activity Index, a three-level derived variable categorizing a person's activity level as Active, Moderate or Inactive. Smoking was measured using the "type of smoker" variable. This variable has four levels: current daily smoker, current occasional smoker, former smoker, never smoked. Alcohol consumption was included as "type of drinker". This variable also had four levels: regular drinker, occasional drinker, former drinker, abstainer.

Comparability: The 1990 and 1996 surveys use different categories for some of the co-variables. Discrepancies were dealt with by recoding .

V. Data Analysis Methods

The data were first examined for missing values. For most variables, the proportion of observations with missing values was quite small. However, there were a few variables that had missing proportions in at least one of the two years large enough to be cause for concern (i.e. greater than 5%). These were the risk behaviour variables (smoking, drinking, physical activity) and income. The proportion missing for each variable in 1990 and 1996/97 respectively were: smoking 7.3% and 0.3%; drinking 7.1% and 1.0%; physical activity 20.5% and 2.4%; income 14.7% and 25.1%. Because the proportions were so large, a decision was made to create an 'unknown' category for each of these variables, to allow the observations to be included and thus ensure that the other

information was not lost. The total number of observations included in the study was 38,028 in 1990 and 30,327 in 1996/97.

Another issue which had to be considered was the question of how to control for the effect of sampling and the differences in sampling design between the two years. Data from both years came from sample surveys, but the sampling designs differed rather substantially. In 1990, the data were collected using a stratified, cluster design. In 1996, on the other hand, the 'core' sample (that which is part of the national longitudinal sample) was selected using a stratified methodology, while the additional 'buy-in' sample of about 30,000 was selected using Random Digit Dialing techniques which very nearly yields a simple random sample. Also, while detailed DEFF (design effect) estimates are available for 1990, the only estimates available for 1996 were overall for the province. One method which has been suggested to deal with differences in sampling methodologies when combining two or more surveys is to 'down-weight' each sample by its respective DEFF (Frankel, 1983). Using this method, the actual sample size is divided by the average design effect, generating an 'effective sample size' (Aday, 1996:164). In addition, to obtain population estimates without inflating the variance, the sampling weights were normed (each weight divided by the mean weight). Down-weighting for the DEFF, coupled with the normed sampling weights, yielded approximately correct variance estimates for use with in statistical tests that otherwise assume a simple random sample (Frankel, 1983:46).

After the initial examination of the data, a separate analysis for each year was carried out. This included a series of bivariate analyses, looking at each of the outcome variables with the independent and possible confounding variables. This was done using

simple cross-tabulations. Following this, multivariate analyses were conducted using regression to permit control for potential confounders. The confounders or potential confounders listed above were entered into the regression models one by one and all were found to be significant at the .05 level after adjusting for all other variables, with the exception of sex, which was not significant in the full model but was included in spite of this. In addition, each full model was also adjusted for the other SES measure.

The association between mean HUI (a continuous measure) and socioeconomic status was analyzed using linear regression.

With respect to the multivariate analysis of the dichotomous outcome variables: HUI <.83, Self-rated Health and Activity Restriction, the standard approach to this type of analysis has generally been to model the logit using logistic regression, yielding a series of adjusted conditional odds ratios. A number of articles in the past decade have pointed out that this is inappropriate (Wacholder, 1986; Lee, 1994; Davies et al, 1998). According to Lee (1994) the odds ratio in and of itself is "incomprehensible" to most readers, but is useful as a proxy for the more easily understood relative risk. However, if the outcome of interest is not rare, as is often the case in cross-sectional population-based studies, the odds ratio does not approximate the relative risk and may lead to misunderstandings in interpreting the data (Schwartz et al., 1999). As Davies et al. (1998) showed, the farther an odds ratio moves from unity, the more it over- (if the OR is >1) or under (OR <1) estimates the relative risk. Lee (1994) maintains that the more appropriate measure is the relative risk, and suggests that relative risk adjusted for multiple covariates may be estimated using Cox's proportional hazard model. The basis for Lee's suggestion is work by Breslow (1974), who showed that by assuming a constant

risk period, the hazard ratio = the risk ratio. Based on this, the risk ratio in this study was estimated using the SAS procedure PHREG (Allison, 1995), which uses Cox's regression to model the conditional hazard (risk) of the outcome of interest. Time was set equal to 1 for every observation and those without the outcome of interest were censored. PHREG then modeled the proportions with and without the exposure of interest and calculated the adjusted hazard ratio which is equivalent to the risk ratio.

The models (with the interaction term included) were as follows:

Linear model: $HS = \beta_1 Year + \beta_2 SES + \beta_i Covariates + \beta_j Year X SES$

Cox model: time*HS(cens) = β_1 Year + β_2 SES + β_1 Covariates + β_1 Year X SES

In both models "HS" is the particular health status measure, "Year" is the survey year. "SES" is either education or income and "Covariates" are the possible confounders being controlled for such as age. The interaction term of Year x SES was used to assess whether there had been a significant change in the health status gradients from 1990 to 1996/97. In the Cox model, time=1 for all observations and "cens" defined which outcomes were to be treated as censored (usually 0 or 1).

Significance of the interaction was assessed as follows: For the linear regression analysis, the interaction term itself was used to determine whether there was significant interaction. If the p-value from the F-test for the Type III Sum of Squares was less than .05, even after controlling for all other variables, then the effect of the interaction term was considered significant. In this case it was concluded that there was a significant interaction between year and the SES variable. In the case of the dichotomous outcome variables, significance of the interaction was assessed by comparing models. Two models were fit, one with the interaction variables and one without. The difference in the -2Log Likelihood scores for the two models follows a chi-squared distribution with the degrees of freedom equal to the difference in the number of variables from one model to the other. This chi-squared value was then compared to the cutpoint at the .05 level. For example, the chi-squared for 4 df, .95 is 9.49. Thus, in the income analysis, if the difference in the -2 Log Likelihood between the models with and without the income x year interaction terms was equal to or greater than 9.49, there was significant interaction between year and income. As well, the individual variable categories were examined for changes in the relationship between them and the reference category from 1990 to 1996/97.

A note about analysis of the Health Utilities Index

To date, no standard methodology for multivariate analysis of the HUI has been described in the literature. For this reason, the analysis of the association between health status as measured by the HUI and SES was carried out in two different ways. The first analysis was carried out using linear regression, with the HUI as a continuous variable. However, it must be acknowledged that this approach violates the normality assumption for linear regression, as the HUI is not normally distributed but has an upper threshold of 1.0. This may lead to biased variance estimates, and one must be cautious about drawing conclusions regarding statistical significance. The second approach dichotomized the HUI and then used the proportional hazards model to examine the association between the HUI and SES. The difficulty with this approach is the fact that there is no "gold standard" cutpoint for dichotomizing the HUI. For example, Manuel (1997) used .95 as a cutpoint to distinguish "near-perfect" health. Roberge et al. (1995b), on the other hand,

suggested that an HUI score of .8 or higher indicated "a high level of health". Williams et al. (1998) took a somewhat different approach. Rather than defining perfect or nearperfect health, they estimated .83 to be a cutpoint that could be expected to indicate physical disability based on responses to other items. In this thesis, the latter cutpoint, .83, was used to dichotomize the HUI.

Stratified Analysis

In addition to the overall multivariate analyses, analyses were carried out for separate age and sex groups. The age strata were: 25-44 years, 45-64 years, 65-74 years and 75+. The purpose of this stratified analysis was to determine if the SES-health gradient changes were similar for men and women and for different age groups, or if some groups were affected more than others.

VI. Ethical Considerations

The data used in this analysis is secondary survey data which has been made available by Statistics Canada and the Ontario Ministry of Health to researchers through universities and other institutions. In accordance with the guidelines covering the use and release of data from Statistics Canada surveys, only weighted, aggregate results are included and no results have been reported where the unweighted cell count was less than 30.

Chapter 3: Results

This chapter is organized into four general sections. The first section comprises the general descriptive analysis. In the second section the relationship between the two SES variables (income and education) and the four health status variables (the continuous HUI, dichotomous HUI, Self-rated Health and Activity Restriction) are examined separately for the two years, 1990 and 1996. Income is examined first for the two years and then education. All analyses are carried out for the population as a whole, then by sex and finally by four age groups.

The third section contains the interaction analyses. In these analyses the two years are examined together, to determine if the pattern of the association between SES and health status changed from one year to the next. The final section contains several additional analyses – an in-depth look at the component attributes of the HUI and a brief examination of the association between employment status and health status.

I. Descriptive Analysis

Univariate analyses were done to compare the weighted and unweighted samples from 1990 and 1996. Table 3.1a shows the univariate analysis for the variables which were included in the model. The analysis was limited to respondents 25 years of age and over, which yielded sample sizes of 38,309 for 1990 and 30,742 for 1996. The overall Health Utilities Index scores are very similar -- .91 for both years when rounded to two decimal places. The proportion reporting themselves to be in Fair or Poor health was 12.1% in 1990, 11.5% in 1996, a difference which might be explained by the changes in

Table 3.1a.	Univariate Analysi	s of Variables	Included in	n the Model,	1990 and	1996
(age 25 and ov	er)					

	N (Unweighted)		Unweighted		Weighted	
Variable	1990	1996	1990	1996	1990	1996
Dependent Variables						
Health Utility Index						
(mean)	38309	30742	0.906	0.905	0.909	0.912
Self-rated Health Status						
(%)						
Excellent	7752	7292	20.1	23.6	20.4	24.2
Very Good	14571	11635	37.9	37.6	38.1	38.1
Good	11452	8052	29.8	26.0	29.4	26.1
Fair	3788	2906	9.8	9.4	9.6	8.4
Poor	916	1054	2.4	3.4	2.5	3.1
Activity Restriction (%)						
Yes	4116	4750	10.6	15.4	9.7	13.2
No	34603	26189	89.4	84.6	90.3	86.8
Independent Variables						
Income (%)						
Low	3432	3373	8.8	10.9	7.5	8.9
Lower-Middle	10818	6485	27.9	21.0	24.6	19.8
Upper-Middle	13683	9228	35.2	29.8	35.7	29.8
High	5174	4097	13.3	13.2	17.7	15.2
Unknown	5711	7756	14.7	25.1	14.5	26.3
Education (%)						
Less than sec. graduation	14930	6922	38.8	22.7	34.3	20.5
Sec. Grad/Some post-sec.	13919	12179	36.1	39.9	37.1	40.1
Post-Sec Grad	9669	11411	25.1	37.4	28.7	39.1
Age (%)	(0000					
25-44	19289	14/13	49.7	47.6	51.3	50.2
45-64	12417	9591	32.0	31.0	30.8	32.2
65-74	4614	4042	11.9	13.1	11.6	11.2
/5+	2498	2593	6.4	8.4	6.3	6.4
Sex (%)						
Male	17949	14208	46.2	45.9	48.0	48.5
Female	20869	16731	53.8	54.1	52.0	51.5

	N (Unwe	ighted)	Unweig	ghted	Weighted		
Variable	1990	1996	1990	1996	1990	1996	
Household Type (%)							
Single Individual	4927	8413	12.7	27.2	14.3	16.4	
Couple, no dep. children	15929	10064	41.0	32.5	40.5	33.6	
Couple, dep. children	15212	9834	39.2	31.8	37.5	41.3	
Single parent, w/ & w/o dep.	1176	2400	3.0	7.8	2.9	7.6	
Other	1574	223	4.1	0.7	4.9	1.0	
Type of Smoker (%)							
Current daily	9885	7325	25.5	23.7	24.2	22.0	
Current occ.	1610	1056	4.1	3.4	4.5	3.7	
Former	9760	9575	25.1	30.9	23.8	29.8	
Never smoked	14720	12875	37.9	41.6	40.0	44.2	
Unknown	2843	108	7.3	0.3	7.4	0.4	
Alcohol Use (%)							
Regular	22117	17047	57.0	55.1	58.3	55.0	
Occasional	7158	6412	18.4	20.7	17.3	20.0	
Former	3362	4505	8.7	14.6	7.4	13.3	
Abstainer	3410	2637	8.8	8.5	9.4	10.6	
Unknown	2771	338	7.1	1.1	7.5	1.2	
Physical Activity Index (%)							
Active	2881	5212	7.4	16.8	7.7	16.3	
Moderate	4592	6936	11.8	22.4	12.3	22.1	
Inactive	23402	18042	60.3	58.3	59.7	58.4	
Unknown	7943	749	20.5	2.4	20.4	3.1	

Table 3.1a. Univariate Analysis of Variables Included in the Model, 1990 and 1996 (age 25 and over)

the way the question was worded. Activity restriction, on the other hand, rose from 9.7% in 1990 to 13.2% in 96/7.

Moving on to the independent variables, one obvious difference is the change in the proportion of respondents who did not report their income (listed here as "Unknown"). In 1990, 14.5% of respondents were classified as "Unknown". In 1996, this rose to 26.3%. While it is impossible to know exactly what caused this increase, it is likely that the change in mode of administration of the survey from face-to-face to telephone interview played some role. Because the proportions for both 1990 and 1996 are both relatively high and quite different from each other, this group was included in all analyses as a separate category.

With respect to education, we see a large shift from 1990 to 1996, with the proportion reporting less than a secondary graduation diploma dropping from 34.3% to 20.5% and the proportion who have completed some type of post-secondary training rising from 28.7% to 39.1%.

There are only slight shifts in the age-sex distribution. The proportion of respondents in single parent households more than doubled from 1990 to 1996, but twoparent households, either with or without dependent children, still make up the greatest proportion of the sample in 1996. There also appear to be some changes in risk behaviour, with prevalence of current daily smoking and regular drinking both down in 1996 compared with 1990 and physical activity on the increase. However, once again it is important to note the change in proportions of "unknown" for the risk behaviour categories. Once again, this may be the result of the mode of administration – in 1990

	N (Unw	N (Unweighted)		eighted)	% (Weighted)		
Variable	1990	1996	1990	1996	1990	1996	
Health Dianning Parion							
Realth Flanning Region		2055	2.1	66	70	7.0	
	1010	2050	2.1	0.0	1.0	7.0	
	1919	930	4.9 6.5	3.0	2.0	2.0	
	2010	1010	C.0	J.I	4.0	4.5	
N'UMberina/V/H/Peterboro	1/20	1214	4.4	J.9	2.0	2.8	
Dumam	1130	1245	2.9	4.0	3.0	4.1	
	/20	1290	1.9	4.2	0.0	۵.) ۵.۵	
loronto	44/9	3207	11.5	0.01	25.2	22.9	
YORK	/08	1208	2.0	3.9	4.3	5.4	
Simcoe	9/0	1325	2.5	4.3	2.6	3.1	
Halton	9/8	1211	2.5	3.9	2.9	3.2	
Niagara	1100	1201	2.8	3.9	3.9	3.8	
	1036	1263	2.7	4.1	4.6	4.4	
Brant/Hald-Norfolk	2063	1203	5.3	3.9	2.0	2.0	
Well./Dufferin	881	1205	2.3	3.9	1.8	2.0	
Waterloo	1208	1200	3.1	3.9	3.6	3.7	
Essex	916	1180	2.4	3.8	3.3	3.1	
Lambtion/Kent	2110	1169	5.4	3.8	2.4	2.1	
Elgin/Mddlsx/Oxford	3012	1333	7.8	4.3	5.2	5.3	
Bruce/Grey/Huron/Perth	3396	1262	8.7	4.1	2.6	2.6	
Algoma/Cochrane	1647	1157	4.2	3.7	2.2	2.0	
Manit/Sudbury	920	1157	2.4	3.7	1.8	1.8	
Tim/Musk/ParrSnd/Nipp	2698	1184	7.0	3.8	2.0	2.0	
Thunder Bay/Ken/RR	1802	1101	4.6	3.6	2.4	2.1	
Place of Birth							
Canada	30293	23837	78.0	77.0	69.1	69.0	
US	534	406	1.4	1.3	1.4	1.2	
UK	2071	1664	5.3	5.4	6.0	5.3	
Europe	3256	1977	8.4	6.4	11.1	8.3	
Caribbean/L. America	370	336	1.0	1.1	2.0	1.9	
Asia	668	705	1.7	2.3	3.8	4.7	
Other	1547	1953	4.0	6.3	6.3	9.3	
Unknown	79	61	0.2	0.2	0.3	0.3	
Total	38818	30939	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	
Years Since Immigration							
Less than 10 yrs	1044	1141	12.8	16.6	17.6	21.7	
More than 10 yrs	7094	5735	87.2	83.4	82.4	78.3	
Total	8138	6876	100.0	100.0	l 100.0	100.0	

Table 3.1b Additional Unvariate Comparisons, Variables Not Included in the Model (Age 25 and over) (Age 25 and over)

	N (Unwe	N (Unweighted)		ighted)	% (Weighted)	
Variable	1990	1996	1990	1996	1990	1996
Number of GP Consultations p	rev. 12 months		---			
0	7001	5384	18.0	18.1	17.9	18.7
1-4	21453	18037	55.3	60.6	56.5	61.5
5+	9701	6158	25.0	20.7	23.9	19.1
Unknown	663	178	1.7	0.6	1.8	0.7
Total	38818	29757	100.0	100.0	100.1	100.0
Unemployed for						
12 months prior to	5885	5501	18.6	22.6	16.4	20.9
survey (age 25-64 only)						
Sources of Income						
Wages and salaries	28770	18971	74.1	61.3	76.4	66.9
Self-employment	8134	4472	21.0	14.5	19.5	15.2
Investments	13202	4466	34.0	14.4	34.0	14.1
Pensions	11310	9226	29.1	29.8	27.6	25.6
Family allowance (90) or						
child tax credit (96)	15191	3011	39.1	9.7	36.8	10.5
UIC	4531	1621	11.7	5.2	10.0	5.3
Worker's Comp	1923	753	5.0	2.4	4.6	2.3
Social Assistance	1630	1469	4.2	4.7	3.7	4.5
Refused to answer	244	1588	0.6	5.1	0.6	5.5
Number of sources of						
income						
1	8842	16758	22.9	58.0	25.2	56.8
2	15044	8296	39.0	28.7	39.0	28.6
3	10201	2887	26.4	10.0	25.2	10.8
>3	4487	954	11.6	3.3	10.6	3.8
Total	38574	28895	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0

Table 3.1b A	dditional	Unvariate	Comparisons,	Variables	Not Included	in the Model
(Age 25 and ove	er)		-			

the risk behaviour questions were part of the self-completed questionnaire, while in 96/7 they were asked by the interviewer.

Tables 3.1b compared the two surveys on a range of variables not included in the regression model. These included geographic, demographic, health care utilization and socioeconomic variables. The geographic variation in the unweighted samples is expected, as certain areas were intentionally oversampled. As the geographic region was one of the variables included in the weighting, most of the differences disappeared after weighting. With respect to the birthplace and immigration status of the two samples, the weighted proportion for those born in Canada did not change, but the distribution of those born outside Canada did. The weighted 1996 result has a smaller proportion from the UK, US and Europe and more from Asia, the Caribbean and elsewhere. Of the 30% or so who had been born outside Canada, the proportion who said they had immigrated within the last 10 years rose from 17.6 to 21.7 percent. Health care utilization was compared by looking at the number of GP consultations (either by visit or phone) reported. There was a slight shift to fewer visits, with the proportion reporting five or more visits falling and the proportion reporting either no visits or 1-4 visits rising. Economic factors were also examined, which, although they were not included in the analytical model, are still related to the study topic. The proportion of respondents who had been unemployed for at least the previous 12 months rose from 16 to 20 percent (weighted). The final comparison looked at sources of income. The first analysis, which examined the proportion who reported receiving income from various sources (more than one source was allowed), was somewhat puzzling at first, because there was a decline in the proportion receiving each source of income except pensions. Particularly dramatic was

Table 3.1c Bivariate Analyses: Health Status by Co-variables

Weighted proportions only, unadjusted for other variables

					% with F	air/Poor	%	with
	Mea	n HUI	% with I	HUI <.83	Self-rate	d Health	Activity F	Restriction
Variables	1990	1996	1990	1996	1990	1996	1990	1996
Income								
low	0 854	0.851	30.4	32.0	26.9	26.5	17 2	26.0
Low-middle	0.896	0.001	19.6	18.9	15.6	15 1	10.6	16.7
Linner-middle	0.000	0.000	13.0	12.0	8 /	93	6.6	10.7
High	0.321	0.923	0.6	9.5	0. 4 6.0	0.5	4.7	7.0
Linknown	0.930	0.940	9.0	0.5	14.0	5.5	4.7	1.9
CINNOWI	0.097	0.915	19.0	15.0	14.0	11.0	9.0	0.11
Education								
Less than secondary graduation	0.875	0.869	24.3	26.8	20.9	22.5	13.3	20.9
Secondary grad /Some post-sec	0.920	0.000	13.3	14.7	8.8	10 1	69	12.6
Post-secondary graduation	0.020	0.017	10.0	10 0	5.7	70	10	0.6
r ost-secondary graduation	0.334	0.551	10.0	10.5	5.7	7.0	4.5	9.0
Ace								
25-44	0.939	0 941	10.0	93	69	67	54	81
45-64	0.803	0.800	10.0	18.1	14.3	12 9	10 4	14 1
65-74	0.864	0.000	26.7	24 4	21.6	20.1	12.2	20.1
75+	0.004	0.070	20.7	24.4 40.0	21.0	20.1	15.2	20.1
75.	0.027	0.011	50.0	40.5	20.9	27.0	10.4	33.0
Sex								
Male	0.913	0.919	15.9	13.9	11.7	10.8	8.2	12.0
Female	0.906	0.906	16.9	17.6	12.4	12.2	8.7	14.3
Household Type								
Single Individual	0.886	0.887	22.4	22.5	14.2	16.5	11.1	19.7
Couple, no dep. children	0.896	0.901	19.2	17.8	15.3	13.6	9.8	14.9
Couple, dep. children	0.934	0.935	10.5	10.4	7.4	7.2	5.9	8.4
Single parent, w/ & w/o dep.								
children	0.898	0.892	19.6	21.8	11.7	15.2	8.5	16.8
Other	0.901	0.910	18.5	15.2	14.7	13.0	9.5	17.1
Tune of Smoker								
Current daily	0 002	0 004	19.1	17/	12.5	12.9	10.2	14.4
	0.902	0.504	10.1	12.0	13.0	13.0	10.Z	14.4
Correct	0.924	0.910	12.1	13.9	11.3	11.9	0.3	11.5
Newsametrad	0.903	0.905	10.1	10.9	12.1	12.0	9.7	15.5
Never smoked	0.918	0.921	14.4	14.4	10.1	9.9	6.8	11.1
Unknown	0.895	0.840	19.1	33.9	18.7	25.5	9.4	21.4
Alcohol Use								
Regular	0.921	0.927	13.5	11.5	8.3	7.4	6.4	10.0
Occasional	0.906	0.905	16.4	17.7	12.5	12.6	9.3	15.0
Former	0.871	0.866	26.3	27.8	22.7	23.2	16.7	22.7
Abstainer	0.887	0.904	21.8	19.1	20.8	15.6	10.8	14.0
Unknown	0.889	0.913	22.1	19.1	19.0	16.6	12.0	15.3
Physical Activity Index								
Active	0.936	0 030	12 1	Q 1	46	61	52	0.1
Moderate	0.000	0.000	12.1	11 2	62	7 /	6.2	3.1 10.2
Inactive	0.321	0.000	16.0	17.5	12.2	12.2	0.0	14.0
Unknown	0.303	0.300	21 0	51 C	170	24.0	10 5	14.U
Second States	0.007	0.102	<u>د</u> ۱. U	51.0	17.0	J+.3	10.0	39.0

the drop in the proportion reporting income from investments (from 34% in 1990 to 14.4% in 1996, unweighted) and family allowance/child tax credit (from 36.8% to 10.5%). The situation became clearer with the next analysis, which looked at the number of reported sources of income. In 1990 only 22.9% (unweighted) of respondents reported only one source of income and 11.6% reported more than 3. In 1996, the proportion with only one source of income more than doubled to 58% of respondents, while the proportion with more than three dropped to 3.8%. The mean number of income sources for the entire population over 25 was 2.2 in 1990 and 1.5 in 1996.

The final descriptive table is Table 3.1c. This is a bivariate analysis of the health status variables by the co-variables/potential confounders. These results d not control for age, sex or any other variables.

II. Single Year Analysis

The association between socioeconomic status and health status was first examined for each year separately. This was done for the population as a whole, stratified by sex and stratified by age group with both sexes together. Separate analyses were carried out for adjusted income and highest level of education.

The Pattern of Health Inequalities by Income - 1990 Overall

The mean HUI analysis for 1990 shows a clear, almost linear, gradient of increasing HUI with increasing income (Table 3.2). The mean HUI for each successive income level is significantly higher than the one before, with the largest gap between the low and low-middle income groups. The mean HUI scores range from .868 (95% Confidence Limits - .863, .872) for the low income group, to .920 (.916, .924) for the high income group.

Similar results are evident from the analysis of the dichotomous HUI, Self-rated Health and Activity Restriction. In all three cases an association was seen in which the risk of a poorer health status (either HUI <.83, Fair/Poor Self-rated Health or some type of Activity Restriction) relative to those in the High income category increased as one moved down the income scale. It is also interesting to note the similarity in risk ratio estimates across the three outcome variables. Generally speaking, being in the Upper-middle income category increases one's risk of negative health status by about 25%; having a low-middle income increases it by about 50-60% and those in the low income group have a risk of poor health at least twice that of their high income counterparts. The exception to this similar pattern across outcomes is the fact that the risk for reporting
Table 3.2. Health Status Outcomes by Income, adjusted andunadjusted, 1990

Age 25 years and over

Mean HUI by income (LSMeans)

	Unadjusted		Adjusted (full model**)	
	Mean HUI	Mean HUI	(95% Confidence Limits)	p-value*
Low	0.854	0.868	(0.863, 0.872)	0.0001
Low-middle	0.896	0.900	(0.896, 0.903)	0.0001
Upper-middle	0.921	0.910	(0.907, 0.913)	0.0001
High	0.936	0.920	(0.916, 0.924)	ref.
Unknown	0.897	0.902	(0.898, 0.906)	0.0001

*t-test for difference in means, reference category=High income level

Risk Ratio for Mean HUI <.83 by Income

	Unadjusted	Adjusted (full model**)				
	Risk Ratio	Risk Ratio	(95% Confidence Limits)			
Low	3.18	2.01	(1.67, 2.43)			
Low-middle	2.05	1.52	(1.3, 1.78)			
Upper-middle	1.39	1.27	(1.09, 1.48)			
High	1.00	1.00				
Unknown	2.05	1.50	(1.26, 1.77)			

Risk Ratio for Fair/Poor Health by Income

	Unadjusted	Adjusted (full model**)				
	Risk Ratio	Risk Ratio	(95% Confidence Limits)			
Low	4.47	2.39	(1.92, 2.99)			
Low-middle	2.58	1.62	(1.34, 1.97)			
Upper-middle	1.40	1.18	(0.98, 1.43)			
High	1.00	1.00				
Unknown	2.46	1.56	(1.27, 1.92)			

Risk Ratio for Activity Restriction by Income

	Unadjusted	Adjusted (full model**)				
	Risk Ratio	Risk Ratio	(95% Confidence Limits)			
Low	3.43	2.13	(1.67, 2.72)			
Low-middle	2.22	1.57	(1.27, 1.93)			
Upper-middle	1.43	1.26	(1.03, 1.54)			
High	1.00	1.00				
Unknown	2.00	1.43	(1.14, 1.8)			

**full model adjusts for age, sex, household type, behaviour (smoking, alcohol use, physical activity) and education.

Fair/Poor health status was no different for those in the upper-middle income group compared with the high income group.

Sex-stratified - 1990

The pattern of health status inequalities in 1990 was then examined for men and women separately. Table 3.3 reports the results by adjusted income. In 1990, the gradient is clear for both sexes, although the slopes differ somewhat. The mean HUI for low income men in 1990 is 0.865 (0.857, 0.874) compared with 0.928 (0.921, 0.934) for high income. The mean scores for women, on the other hand, range from 0.870 (Low) to 0.913 (High). While the mean HUIs for men and women at the lowest end of the SES scale are similar, they diverge substantially as one moves up, indicating at greater range and steeper gradient for men compared with women.

With respect to the dichotomous HUI, all income groups show a significantly higher risk of an HUI <.83 compared with the high income group, and the relative risk for low income men is higher than for low income women, which is consistent with the mean HUI results which showed a larger gap from low to high income among men than among women. The results for activity restriction are again similar to those for the dichotomous HUI, with the difference being no significant difference in risk of activity restriction between the upper-middle income group and the high income group.

The pattern was slightly different with respect to Self-rated Health, with the RR for low income women higher than for low income men. Still, in both cases the risk of reporting Fair/Poor health for low income was more than twice that of high income.

Table 3.3 Health Status by Adjusted Income and Sex, 1990 Age 25+ Mean HUI by Income (LSMeans)

		Men			Women			
	Adj.** mean HUI	95% Confidence Limits	p-value*	Adj.** mean HUI	95% Confidence Limits	p-value*		
Low	0.865	(0.857, 0.874)	0.0001	0.870	(0.864, 0.876)	0.0001		
Low-middle	0.903	(0.897, 0.908)	0.0001	0.899	(0.895, 0.903)	0.0001		
Upper-middle	0.917	(0.911, 0.922)	0.0001	0.905	(0.901, 0.910)	0.0022		
High	0.928	(0.921, 0.934)	ref.	0.913	(0.908, 0.918)	ref.		
Unknown	0.907	(0.900, 0.913)	0.0001	0.900	(0.895, 0.905)	0.0001		
th toot for differ		Lich income on			-			

1990

*t-test for difference in means, High income as reference category

Risk Ratio for HUI <.83 by Income, 1990

		Men		Women
	Adj.** Risk	95% Confidence	Adj.** Risk	95% Confidence
	Ratio	Limits	Ratio	Limits
Low	2.28	(1.74, 3)	1.78	(1.38, 2.31)
Low-middle	1.63	(1.3, 2.04)	1.39	(1.12, 1.74)
Upper-middle	1.28	(1.03, 1.58)	1.25	(1.01, 1.55)
High	1.00		1.00	
Unknown	1.33	(1.28, 2.08)	1.38	(1.08, 1.75)

Risk Ratio for Fair/Poor Health by Income, 1990

		Men		Women
	Adj.** Risk 95% Confidence		Adj.** Risk	95% Confidence
	Ratio	Limits	Ratio	Limits
Low	2.18	(1.6, 2.97)	2.67	(1.94, 3.69)
Low-middle	1.42	(1.09, 1.85)	1.85	(1.39, 2.47)
Upper-middle	1.03	(0.79, 1.33)	1.37	(1.03, 1.83)
High	1.00		1.00	
Unknown	1.40	(1.05, 1.86)	1.76	(1.3, 2.4)

Risk Ratio for Activity Restriction by Income, 1990

		Men		Women	
	Adj.** Risk	95% Confidence	Adj.** Risk	95% Confidence	
	Ratio	Limits	Ratio	Limits	
Low	2.30	(1.62, 3.27)	1.95	(1.39, 2.74)	
Low-middle	1.62	(1.21, 2.17)	1.49	(1.11, 1.99)	
Upper-middle	1.28	(0.96, 1.7)	1.23	(0.92, 1.64)	
High	1.00		1.00		
Unknown	1.45	(1.05, 2.01)	1.40	(1.02, 1.92)	

**full model adjusts for age, household type, behaviour (smoking, alcohol use, physical activity) and education.

Age stratified - 1990

The data were also stratified into age groups: 25-44 (young working age), 45-64 (older workers) 65-74 (young seniors) and 75+ (older seniors). The results of the analysis of health status by income and age group are reported in Table 3.4. From the HUI results two features emerge. The first is, as one might expect, most SES groups show a general decline in HUI with age. The second is that, while there is a clear gradient with income in the 25-44, 45-64 and 65-74 age groups, the relationship shows evidence of change with increasing age. In the 25-44 age group, the gradient is clear and the mean HUIs for each group are significantly different from the groups above and below. In the next group, the HUI for the lowest group has dropped significantly but the mean scores for the two highest groups are quite similar. In the 65-74 age group, while there is still a gradient in the mean values, the differences are no longer statistically significant. Over age 75 there are not statistically significant differences, nor is there a gradient in the mean values. Caution must be used when interpreting the results for those in the older age groups, keeping in mind that the survey does not include anyone living in institutions, and also that more of these responses may be proxy than at the younger ages. Mean HUI appears to rise, or at least level off, after age 65 in the low income group. Overall, the greatest inequality in health status appears to be in the 45-64 year age group, with very little difference in the mean HUI scores of the top two groups and then successively larger drops in health status as one moves down the income scale.

With respect to Self-rated Health, the relative risk of Fair/Poor health for low income 25-44 year-olds is just under twice that of high income. This increases in the 45-

Table 3.4. Health status by Adjusted Income and Age Group, sexes together, 1990

Age 25+

Mean HUI by Income (LSMeans)

	25-44				45-64			65-74	75+			
	Adj.** Mean HUI	95% Confidence Limits	p-value*	Adj.** Mean HUI	95% Confidence Limits	p-value*	Adj.** Mean HUI	95% Confidence Limits	p-value*	Adj.** Mean HUI	95% Confidence Limits	p-value*
Low	0.898	(0.892, 0.904)	0.0001	0.817	(0.806, 0.827)	0.0001	0.836	(0.816, 0.855)	0.0005	0.806	(0.779, 0.834)	0.8424
Low-middle	0.926	(0.922, 0.930)	0.0001	0.878	(0.871, 0.885)	0.0001	0.852	(0.836, 0.868)	0.0108	0.833	(0.808, 0.858)	0.0814
Upper-middle	0.932	(0.928, 0.936)	0.0001	0.905	(0.899, 0.912)	0.3007	0.863	(0.847, 0.879)	0.2003	0.833	(0.806, 0.860)	0.0978
High	0.947	(0.943, 0.951)	ref.	0.908	(0.901, 0.916)	ref.	0.875	(0.854, 0.897)	ref.	0.803	(0.767, 0.838)	ref.
Unknown	0.931	(0.926, 0.936)	0.0001	0.889	(0.882, 0.896)	0.0001	0.850	(0.833, 0.867)	0.0105	0.824	(0.799, 0.849)	0.2305
*t-test for diffe	rence in me	ans, High income	as referenc	e category								

Risk Ratio for Mean HUI <.83 by Income

		25-44		45-64		65-74		75+
	Adj.** Risk	95% Confidence						
	Ratio	Limits	Ratio	Limits	Ratio	Limits	Ratio	Limits
Low	2.87	(2.08, 3.98)	2.61	(1.94, 3.53)	1.62	(0.93, 2.82)	0.81	(0.46, 1.42)
Low-middle	1.83	(1.38, 2.43)	1.64	(1.28, 2.09)	1.30	(0.80, 2.11)	0.82	(0.49, 1.40)
Upper-middle	1.51	(1.16, 1.96)	1.15	(0.92, 1.44)	1.25	(0.76, 2.05)	0.78	(0.44, 1.37)
High	1.00		1.00		1.00		1.00	
Unknown	1.66	(1.21, 2.28)	1.48	(1.15, 1.92)	1.41	(0.84, 2.34)	0.85	(0.50, 1.46)

Risk Ratio for Fair/Poor Health by Income

		25-44		45-64		65-74		75+
	Adj.** Risk Ratio	95% Confidence						
Low	1.96	(1.34, 2.87)	3.23	(2.28, 4.60)	2.87	(1.39, 5.93)	2.24	(0.92, 5.49)
Low-middle	1.36	(0.98, 1.87)	1.88	(1.39, 2.53)	2.11	(1.07, 4.15)	1.42	(0.59, 3.42)
Upper-middle	1.04	(0.77, 1.41)	1.22	(0.91, 1.63)	1.66	(0.83, 3.34)	1.01	(0.39, 2.59)
High	1.00		1.00		1.00		1.00	
Unknown	1.26	(0.88, 1.81)	1.66	(1.21, 2.28)	2.13	(1.06, 4.31)	1.72	(0.71, 4.19)

Risk Ratio for Activity Restriction by Income

		25-44		45-64		65-74		75+
	Adj.** Risk	95% Confidence	Adj.** Risk	95% Confidence	Adj.** Risk	95% Confidence	Adj.** Risk 95% Confide	
	Ratio	Limits	Ratio	Limits	Ratio	Limits	Ratio	Limits
Low	2.74	(1.82, 4.13)	3.55	(2.42, 5.21)	1.35	(0.64, 2.82)	0.54	(0.26, 1.10)
Low-middle	1.60	(1.12, 2.29)	2.08	(1.51, 2.87)	1.28	(0.67, 2.44)	0.52	(0.26, 1.00)
Upper-middle	1.49	(1.07, 2.07)	1.19	(0.87, 1.62)	1.22	(0.63, 2.37)	0.51	(0.24, 1.05)
High	1.00		1.00		1.00		1.00	
Unknown	1.36	(0.90, 2.05)	1.70	(1.21, 2.40)	1.35	(0.68, 2.65)	0.53	(0.27, 1.06)

**full model adjusts for sex, household type, behaviour (smoking, alcohol use, physical activity) and education.

64 year old group such that older workers who are low income are more than three times more likely to rate their health as Fair or Poor compared to their high income counterparts. The gradient persists into early retirement, with the relative risk of Fair/Poor health for those 65-74 years of age with low income still nearly three times that of high income. In the oldest age group there is no difference in relative risk of reporting Fair/Poor health across income groups.

Looking at activity restriction and HUI <.83, the risk of negative health status for the low income group age 25-44 is nearly 3 times that of the high income group. In the 45-64 year age group this RR drops for HUI <.83 but rises to 3.6 for Activity Restriction. After age 64 there is little difference in risk of either Activity Restriction or HUI <.83 across income groups.

The Pattern of Health Inequalities by income - 1996

Overall

Looking at Table 3.5, the pattern of health inequalities as measured by the HUI appears similar in 1996. The greatest gap in mean HUI exists between the low income and low-middle income groups, with smaller differences between the upper three groups. However, it is interesting to note that the mean HUIs for all groups are lower in 1996 compared with 1990.

With respect to the other health status measures, the overall pattern is similar in 1996 to 1990. Compared with the highest income group, the relative risk of a poor health status outcome is approximately 20-30% higher for the upper-middle income group, between 40% and 60% higher for the low-middle income group and from 98% to 150% higher for the low income group.

Table 3.5. Health Status Outcomes by Income, adjusted and unadjusted, 1996 Age 25+

Mean HUI by Income (LSMeans)

	Unadjusted		Adjusted (full model**)	
	Mean HUI	Mean HUI	(95% Confidence Limits)	p-value*
Low	0.851	0.823	(0.816, 0.831)	0.0001
Low-middle	0.898	0.864	(0.857, 0.871)	0.0001
Upper-middle	0.923	0.872	(0.866, 0.879)	0.0003
High	0.940	0.880	(0.873, 0.887)	ref.
Unknown	0.915	0.880	(0.873, 0.886)	0.736
*t-test for differe	nce in meane	reference cate	ann - High incomo loval	

"t-test for difference in means, reference category=High income level

Risk Ratio for Mean HUI <.83 by Income

	Unadjusted	Adjusted (full model**)				
	Risk Ratio	Risk Ratio	(95% Confidence Limits)			
Low	3.78	2.22	(1.93, 2.54)			
Low-middle	2.23	1.44	(1.27, 1.64)			
Upper-middle	1.53	1.29	(1.14, 1.46)			
High	1.00	1.00				
Unknown	1.84	1.23	(1.08, 1.39)			

Risk Ratio for Fair/Poor Health by Income

	Unadjusted	Adjust	ed (full model**)
	Risk Ratio	Risk Ratio	(95% Confidence Limits)
Low	4.86	2.53	(2.15, 2.98)
Low-middle	2.76	1.63	(1.40, 1.90)
Upper-middle	1.52	1.22	(1.05, 1.43)
High	1.00	1.00	
Unknown	2.02	1.26	(1.08, 1.47)

Risk Ratio for Activity Restriction by Income

	Unadjusted	Adjusted (full model**)				
	Risk Ratio	Risk Ratio	(95% Confidence Limits)			
Low	3.30	1.98	(1.71, 2.29)			
Low-middle	2.11	1.40	(1.22, 1.60)			
Upper-middle	1.41	1.19	(1.05, 1.36)			
High	1.00	1.00				
Unknown	1.47	1.01	(0.89, 1.15)			

**full model adjusts for age, sex, household type, behaviour (smoking, alcohol use, physical activity) and education.

Table 3.6 Health Status by Adjusted Income and Sex, 1996 Age 25+ Mean HUI by Income (LSMeans)

	Men				Women			
	Adj.** mean	95% Confidence	p-value*	Adj.** mean	95% Confidence	p-value*		
	HUI	Limits		HUI	Limits			
Low	0.828	(0.817, 0.839)	0.0001	0.817	(0.807, 0.827)	0.0001		
Low-middle	0.867	(0.858, 0.877)	0.0001	0.859	(0.850, 0.868)	0.0956		
Upper-middle	0.882	(0.873, 0.892)	0.0001	0.862	(0.853, 0.871)	0.3619		
High	0.895	(0.885, 0.905)	ref.	0.865	(0.855, 0.874)	ref.		
Unknown	0.891	(0.882, 0.900)	0.2088	0.868	(0.860, 0.877)	0.279		
The back from differen		I Parla da anciencia de la						

*t-test for difference in means, High income as reference category

Risk Ratio for HUI <.83 by Income, 1996

		Men		Women	
	Adj.** Risk	95% Confidence	Adj.** Risk	95% Confidence	
	Ratio	Limits	Ratio	Limits	
Low	2.89	(2.35, 3.56)	1.80	(1.50, 2.16)	
Low-middle	1.80	(1.49, 2.17)	1.19	(1.00, 1.41)	
Upper-middle	1.48	(1.23, 1.78)	1.14	(0.97, 1.34)	
High	1.00		1.00		
Unknown	1.35	(1.12, 1.63)	1.11	(0.94, 1.31)	

Risk Ratio for Fair/Poor Health by Income, 1996

		Men		Women	
	Adj.** Risk	95% Confidence	Adj.** Risk	95% Confidence	
	Ratio	Limits	Ratio	Limits	
Low	3.02	(2.39, 3.82)	2.17	(1.73, 2.73)	
Low-middle	1.75	(1.41, 2.18)	1.49	(1.20, 1.86)	
Upper-middle	1.25	(1.01, 1.56)	1.18	(0.95, 1.46)	
High	1.00				
Unknown	1.35	(1.09, 1.68)	1.16	(0.94, 1.44)	

Risk Ratio for Activity Restriction by Income, 1996

		men		women	
	Adj.** Risk	95% Confidence	Adj.** Risk	95% Confidence	
	Ratio	Limits	Ratio	Limits	
Low	2.62	(2.11, 3.24)	1.64	(1.34, 2.00)	
Low-middle	1.64	(1.35, 1.99)	1.22	(1.01, 1.46)	
Upper-middle	1.27	(1.05, 1.53)	1.13	(0.94, 1.34)	
High	1.00		1.00		
Unknown	1.03	(0.85, 1.26)	0.97	(0.81, 1.16)	
بالمحمد المامحمة البنائة		and a final at the second state of the second second	An an alter an alter that a start		

. . .

**full model adjusts for age, household type, behaviour (smoking, alcohol use, physical activity) and education.

Stratified by sex - 1996

The 1996 sex-stratified results are found in Table 3.6. In the mean HUI analysis for women there is a noticeable narrowing of the gaps between the upper three groups and a widening of the gap between these and the lowest income group. For men, the pattern remained largely the same as in 1990, but again, the mean HUI scores for all groups dropped relative to 1990.

Looking at the other three health status variables, it appears as though there is greater inequality across income groups for men than for women. Although low income women are still significantly more likely to report lower health status (HUI <.83, Fair/Poor health or some type of Activity Restriction) the relative risks range from 1.64 for Activity Restriction to 2.17 for Self-rated Health. Also, there is no evidence of elevated risk for those in the upper-middle income group. In contrast, the relative risks for low income men range from 2.62 for activity restriction to 3.02 for self-rated health, and all income groups show significantly higher risk compared with the high income group.

Stratified by age - 1996

Table 3.7 lists the results of the analysis by age group for 1996. Once again, the mean HUIs for all groups are lower in 1996 relative to 1990. Both the 25-44 and 45-64 year age groups show clear gradients with income. As in 1990, the 45-64 group once more exhibits the greatest health inequalities by income. Over age 64 there is no significant difference between income groups.

In the analysis of the dichotomous HUI, the highest relative risk is found among those age 25-44 with low incomes. Their RR of a low HUI is 3.22 compared with their high income counterparts. This drops to 2.74 among those 45-64. In contrast, the highest

Table 3.7. Health status by Adjusted Income and Age Group, sexes together, 1996

Mean HUI by Income (LSMeans)

	25-44			45-64		65-74		75+				
	Adjusted**	Confidence		Adjusted**	Confidence		Adjusted**	Confidence		Adjusted**	Confidence	
	Mean HUI	Limits	p-value									
Low	0.868	(0.859, 0.878)	0.0001	0.802	(0.786, 0.817)	0.0001	0.818	(0.796, 0.839)	0.7616	0,753	(0.723, 0.782)	0.0112
Low-middle	0.909	(0.900, 0.918)	0.0001	0.864	(0.851, 0.878)	0.0001	0.827	(0.803, 0.851)	0.5850	0.785	(0.758, 0.811)	0.2775
Upper-middle	0.920	(0.911, 0.928)	0.0143	0.877	(0.864, 0.890)	0.0001	0.835	(0.813, 0.858)	0.1655	0.776	(0.741, 0.810)	0.1191
High	0.926	(0.917, 0.935)	ref.	0.894	(0.880, 0.908)	ref.	0.821	(0.799, 0.844)	ref.	0.806	(0.766, 0.845)	ref.
Unknown	0.920	(0.912, 0.928)	0.0246	0.894	(0.881, 0.907)	0.9688	0.833	(0.806, 0.860)	0.2467	0.799	(0.773, 0.824)	0.7153

*t-test for difference in means, High income as reference category

Risk Ratio for Mean HUI <.83 by Income

		25-44		45-64		65-74		75+
	Adj.** Risk Ratio	95% Confidence Limits						
Low	3.22	(2.55, 4.06)	2.74	(2.22, 3.38)	1.17	(0.77, 1.78)	1.27	(0.80, 1.99)
Low-middle	1.65	(1.32, 2.07)	1.65	(1.36, 2.00)	1.05	(0.72, 1.54)	1.11	(0.72, 1.70)
Upper-middle	1.33	(1.07, 1.65)	1.40	(1.17, 1.67)	1.03	(0.70, 1.52)	1.14	(0.74, 1.75)
High	1.00		1.00		1.00		1.00	
Unknown	1.39	(1.11, 1.73)	1.22	(1.01, 1.47)	0.96	(0.66, 1.4)	1.04	(0.68, 1.58)

Risk Ratio for Fair/Poor Health by Income

		25-44		45-64		65-74		75+
	Adj.** Risk Ratio	95% Confidence Limits						
Low	2.79	(2.13, 3.66)	3.44	(2.66, 4.44)	1.33	(0.86, 2.06)	1.93	(0.97, 3.82)
Low-middle	1.46	(1.12, 1.90)	2.09	(1.64, 2.67)	0.96	(0.64, 1.44)	1.82	(0.95, 3.51)
Upper-middle	1.15	(0.89, 1.48)	1.38	(1.09, 1.74)	0.67	(0.44, 1.02)	1.83	(0.94, 3.53)
High	1.00		1.00		1.00		1.00	
Unknown	1.22	(0.94, 1.58)	1.31	(1.03, 1.66)	0.85	(0.57, 1.27)	1.58	(0.82, 3.03)

Risk Ratio for Activity Restriction by Income

	25-44 45-64		45-64		65-74			
	Adj.** Risk	95% Confidence						
	Ratio	Limits	Ratio	Limits	Ratio	Limits	Ratio	Limits
Low	2.25	(1.78, 2.84)	2.73	(2.17, 3.45)	1.13	(0.71, 1.81)	1.37	(0.84, 2.25)
Low-middle	1.34	(1.08, 1.66)	1.75	(1.41, 2.17)	1.11	(0.73, 1.69)	1.18	(0.74, 1.88)
Upper-middle	1.03	(0.84, 1.27)	1.30	(1.06, 1.59)	1.13	(0.74, 1.72)	1.26	(0.79, 2.00)
High	1.00		1.00		1.00		1.00	
Unknown	0.87	(0.70, 1.09)	1.04	(0.84, 1.28)	0.92	(0.60, 1.40)	1.10	(0.70, 1.74)

**full model adjusts for sex, household type, behaviour (smoking, alcohol use, physical activity) and education.

relative risks for Fair/Poor health and Activity Restriction are found in the 45-64 year old age group, with slightly lower RRs for the 25-44 age group. Still, there is a clear association between risk of lowered health status and income group for those under 65. Over age 64 there are no significant differences across groups.

Pattern of Health Inequalities by Highest Level of Education – 1990 Overall

The pattern of health inequalities by SES, when education is used as the SES measure, differs from that of income in that the gradient is less clear (Table 3.8). In fact, in many cases it appears to be more of a threshold effect than a gradient. For example, mean HUI scores by highest level of education indicates a significantly lower HUI for those with less than a high school diploma, but virtually no difference in HUI between those with a high school diploma and those with a post-secondary degree or diploma.

The pattern is similar for both the dichotomous HUI and activity restriction. If one does not have a high school diploma, the relative risk of scoring less than .83 on the HUI or reporting some type of Activity Restriction in 1990 were 1.32 (1.17, 1.49) and 1.56 (1.32, 1.83) respectively. However, there was no significantly higher risk of either low HUI or Activity Restriction for those with a high school diploma but no postsecondary diploma or degree. The exception to this is Self-rated Health. In this case, there was a significantly higher risk of reporting Fair/Poor health for both those with less than a secondary diploma and those with a secondary diploma but no college or university. However, in the latter case the result was barely significant.

Stratified by sex - - 1990

Comparing mean HUI scores by highest level of education for men and women in 1990 (Table 3.9), once again there is no difference between the upper two groups for men, although there is a significant difference in mean HUI for women in these two groups. For both sexes, mean HUI scores for those with less than a secondary education are much lower than the other two groups. As well, the mean HUI scores for women in all groups tend to be lower than those for men.

Table 3.8. Health Status Outcomes by Highest Level of Education, adjusted and unadjusted, 1990 Age 25+ Mean HUI by Education

	Unadjusted	Adjusted (full model**)	(95% Confidence Limits)	p-value*
Less than secondary				
graduation	0.875	0.886	(.883, .889)	0.0001
Secondary graduation/ Some				
post-secondary	0.920	0.905	(.903, .909)	0.1951
Post-secondary graduation	0.934	0.908	(.904, .911)	ref.

*t-test for difference in means, reference category=Post-secondary graduation

Risk Ratio for Mean HUI <.83 by Education

	Unadjusted	Adjusted (full model**)		
	Risk Ratio	Risk Ratio	(95% Confidence Limits)	
Less than secondary				
graduation	2.18	1.32	(1.17, 1.49)	
Secondary graduation/ Some				
post-secondary	1.19	1.00	(0.89, 1.13)	
Post-secondary graduation	1.00	1.00		

Risk Ratio for Fair/Poor Health by Education

	Unadjusted	Adjusted (full model**)			
	Risk Ratio	Risk Ratio	(95% Confidence Limits)		
Less than secondary					
graduation	3.50	1.88	(1.62, 2.20)		
Secondary graduation/ Some					
post-secondary	1.47	1.18	(1.01, 1.39)		
Post-secondary graduation	1.00	1.00	***		

Risk Ratio for Activity Restriction by Education

	Unadjusted	Adjusted (full model**)			
	Risk Ratio	Risk Ratio	(95% Confidence Limits)		
Less than secondary					
graduation	2.53	1.56	(1.32, 1.83)		
Secondary graduation/ Some					
post-secondary	1.39	1.16	(0.99, 1.37)		
Post-secondary graduation	1.00	1.00			

**full model adjusts for age, sex, household type, behaviour (smoking, alcohol use, physical activity) and income.

Table 3.9. Health Status by Education and Sex, 1990 Age 25+ Mean HUI by Education (LS Means)

		Men			Women				
	Adj.** mea HUI	95% Confidence Limits	p-value*	Adj.** mea HUI	95% Confidence Limits	p-value*			
Less than secondary									
graduation	0.890	(0.884, 0.895)	0.0001	0.884	(.880, .888)	0.0001			
Secondary graduation/	1								
Some post-secondary	0.912	(0.906, 0.917)	0.5445	0.901	(.897, .905)	0.0097			
Post-secondary									
graduation	0.910	(0.904, 0.916)	ref.	0.907	(.902, .911)	ref.			
*t-test for difference in	means, refer	ence category=Pc	st-secondary gra	aduation					

Risk Ratio for HUI <.83 by Education

		Men		Women
	Adj.** Risk Ratio	95% Confidence Limits	Adj.** Risk Ratio	95% Confidence Limits
Less than secondary				
graduation	1.30	(1.09, 1.54)	1.36	(1.14, 1.61)
Secondary graduation/				
Some post-secondary	0.99	(0.83, 1.18)	1.03	(0.87, 1.22)
Post-secondary				
graduation	1.00		1.00	

Risk Ratio for Fair/Poor Health by Education

		Men		Women
	Adj.** Risk Ratio	95% Confidence Limits	Adj.** Risk Ratio	95% Confidence Limits
Less than secondary graduation	1.96	(1.57, 2.44)	1.80	(1.45, 2.23)
Secondary graduation/ Some post-secondary	1.23	(0.98, 1.56)	1.14	(0.92, 1.43)
graduation	1.00		1.00	

Risk Ratio for Activity Restriction by Education

		Men		Women
	Adj.** Risk Ratio	95% Confidence Limits	Adj.** Risk Ratio	95% Confidence Limits
Less than secondary graduation	1.60	(1.27, 2.02)	1.51	(1.2, 1.9)
Secondary graduation/ Some post-secondary	1.08	(0.85, 1.38)	1.23	(0.98, 1.54)
graduation	1.00		1.00	

** full model adjusts for age, household type, behaviour (smoking, alcohol use, physical activity) and income.

Table 3.10. Health Status by Education and Age Group, sexes together, 1990, Age 25+

Mean HUI by Education (LS Means)

	25-44				45-64			65-74 75+				
	Adj.** Mean HUI	95% Confidence Limits	p-value*	Adj.** Mean HUI	95% Confidence Limits	p-value*	Adj.** Mean HUI	95% Confidence Limits	p-value*	Adj.** Mean HUI	95% Confidence Limits	p-value*
Less than secondary												
graduation	0.914	(0.910, 0.918)	0.0001	0.862	(0.856, 0.868)	0.0001	0.852	(0.837, 0.867)	0.2997	0.798	(0.775, 0.821)	0.0001
Secondary grad./												
some post-secondary	0.932	(0.929, 0.936)	0.1658	0.887	(0.880, 0.893)	0.3577	0.854	(0.838, 0.870)	0.4376	0.820	(0.796, 0.844)	0.0532
Post-secondary												
graduation	0.934	(0.931, 0.938)	ref.	0.890	(0.883, 0.897)	ref.	0.859	(0.841, 0.877)	ref.	0.842	(0.813, 0.870)	ref.
t-test for difference in r	means, refer	ence category is P	ost-secon	dary gradua	tion							

Risk Ratio for HUI <.83 by Education

	25-44			45-64		65-74		
	Adj.** Risk Ratio	95% Confidence Limits	Adj.** Risk Ratio	95% Confidence Limits	Adj.** Risk 1 Ratio	95% Confidence Limits	Adj.** Risk Ratio	95% Confidence Limits
Less than secondary graduation	1.57	(1.28, 1.92)	1.37	(1.12, 1.69)	0.98	(0.73, 1.33)	1.26	(0.88, 1.79)
Secondary grad./ some post-secondary Post-secondary	1.00	(0.83, 1.21)	1.00	(0.80, 1.24)	0 94	(0.69, 1.29)	1 04	(0.70, 1.54)
graduation	1.00		1.00		1.00		1.00	

Risk Ratio for Fair/Poor Health by Education

		25-44		45-64		65-74		75+
	Adj.** Risk Ratio	95% Confidence Limits						
Less than secondary graduation Secondary orad /	2.18	(1.70, 2.81)	2.07	(1.58, 2.73)	1.43	(0.97, 2.11)	1.31	(0.84, 2.06)
some post-secondary Post-secondary	1.20	(0.94, 1.52)	1.30	(0.97, 1.74)	1.13	(0.75, 1.71)	0.88	(0.52, 1.48)
graduation	1.00		1.00		1 00		1.00	

Risk Ratio for Activity Restriction by Education

		25-44		45-64		65-74		75+
	Adj.** Risk Ratio	95% Confidence Limits						
Less than secondary graduation	1.72	(1.33, 2.24)	1.70	(1 28, 2 25)	0.74	(0.74, 1.70)	1.21	(0.72, 2.05)
Secondary grad./ some post-secondary	1.14	(0.90, 1.46)	1.15	(0.85, 1.55)	0 74	(0 74, 1.71)	1.17	(0.66, 2.05)
graduation	1.00		1.00		1 00		1.00	

**full model adjusts for sex, household type, behaviour (smoking, alcohol use, physical activity) and income

Looking at the results for the dichotomous health status measures, in no case is there a significant difference in risk between the highest two education levels. This is the same for both men and women. Having less than a secondary education, however, does significantly increase one's risk of reporting a lower health status compared with those with a post-secondary diploma or degree. The relative risks for the lowest education group ranged from 1.3 for the relative risk of an HUI score less than .83, to 1.96 for the relative risk of reporting one's health as Fair or Poor.

Stratified by age - 1990

Results for the analysis of health status by highest level of education and age group in 1990 are found in Table 3.10. For each education level group, mean HUI declines steadily with age. As well, at no age is there a significant difference between the top two education level groups. Those with less than a high school diploma, however, have significantly lower mean HUI scores in all age groups except 65-74. Again, the greatest inequality is found in the 45-64 year old age group.

Looking at the other health status variables, in the 25-44 and 45-64 year age groups those with less than a high school diploma have a significantly higher risk of low HUI, Fair/Poor health and Activity Restriction compared with those who have completed post-secondary. However, there is no evidence of a significantly higher risk among those with less education over the age of 64.

Pattern of Health Inequalities by Highest Level of Education – 1996 Overall

While the overall pattern of mean HUI scores by education level shows virtually no change between 1990 and 1996 (Table 3.11), again the mean HUI scores for each

Table 3.11. Health Status Outcomes by Highest Level of Education, adjusted and unadjusted, 1996

Mean HUI by Education

	Unadjusted	Adjusted (full model**)	(95% Confidence Limits)	p-value*
Less than secondary				
graduation	0.869	0.853	(.847, .860)	0.0001
Secondary graduation/ Some				
post-secondary	0.917	0.869	(.863, .875)	0.6699
Post-secondary graduation	0.931	0.870	(.863, .876)	ref.

*t-test for difference in means, reference category=Post-secondary graduation

Risk Ratio for Mean HUI <.83 by Education

	Unadjusted	Adjuste	i (full model**)	
	Risk Ratio	Risk Ratio	(95% Confidence Limits)	
Less than secondary				
graduation	2.34	1.28	(1.18, 1.39)	
Secondary graduation/ Some				
post-secondary	1.28	1.07	(0.99, 1.15)	
Post-secondary graduation	1.00	1.00		

Risk Ratio for Fair/Poor Health by Education

	Unadjusted	Adjuste	ed (full model**)
	Risk Ratio	Risk Ratio	(95% Confidence Limits)
Less than secondary			
graduation	3.01	1.53	(1.39, 1.69)
Secondary graduation/ Some			
post-secondary	1.36	1.10	(1.00, 1.21)
Post-secondary graduation	1.00	1.00	

Risk Ratio for Activity Restriction by Education

	Unadjusted	Adjusted	d (full modei**)
	Risk Ratio	Risk Ratio	(95% Confidence Limits)
Less than secondary			
graduation	2.13	1.17	(1.02, 1.33)
Secondary graduation/ Some			
post-secondary	1.2 9	1.03	(0.91, 1.16)
Post-secondary graduation	1.00	1.00	

**full model adjusts for age, sex, household type, behaviour (smoking, alcohol use, physical activity) and income.

Table 3.12. Health Status by Education and Sex, 1996Age 25+

Mean HUI by Education (LS Means)

		Men		Women			
	Adj.** mean HUI	95% Confidence Limits	p-value*	Adj.** mean HUI	95% Confidence Limits	p-value*	
Less than secondary graduation	0.866	(0.856, 0.875)	0.0002	0.840	(0.831, 0.849)	0.0001	
Secondary graduation/ Some post-secondary	0.876	(0.867, 0.885)	0.8411	0.861	(0.852, 0.869)	0.8191	
Post-secondary graduation	0.876	(0.867, 0.886)	ref.	0.861	(0.853, 0.870)	ref.	

*t-test for difference in means, reference category=Post-secondary graduation

Risk Ratio for HUI <.83 by Education

		Men		Women
	Adj.** Risk Ratio	95% Confidence Limits	Adj.** Risk Ratio	95% Confidence Limits
Less than secondary graduation	1.24	(1.10, 1.41)	1.29	(1.16, 1.44)
Secondary graduation/ Some post-secondary Post-secondary	1.07	(0.95, 1.19)	1.06	(0.96, 1.17)
graduation	1.00		1.00	

Risk Ratio for Fair/Poor Health by Education

		Men		Women
	Adj.** Risk Ratio	95% Confidence Limits	Adj.** Risk Ratio	95% Confidence Limits
Less than secondary graduation	1.52	(1.32, 1.74)	1.53	(1.34, 1.75)
Secondary graduation/ Some post-secondary	1.15	(1.00, 1.30)	1.05	(0.92, 1.19)
graduation	1.00		1.00	

Risk Ratio for Activity Restriction by Education

		Men		Women
	Adj.** Risk Ratio	95% Confidence Limits	Adj.** Risk Ratio	95% Confidence Limits
Less than secondary graduation	1.17	(1.02, 1.33)	1.17	(1.03, 1.33)
Secondary graduation/ Some post-secondary	1.03	(0.91, 1.16)	1.11	(0.99, 1.23)
graduation	1.00		1.00	

**full model adjusts for age, household type, behaviour (smoking, alcohol use, physical activity) and income.

group are lower in 1996 compared with 1990. The adjusted risk ratios have also dropped, suggesting a reduction in inequalities across education categories.

Stratified by sex - 1996

The pattern of mean HUI by education for men and women in 1996 was nearly identical, with significantly lower scores in those without a high school education but no difference between the top two groups (Table 3.12). The main difference between the men's and women's results was the fact that the women's scores were lower than the men's across the board. As well, all scores dropped in 1996 relative to 1990.

The relative risks for HUI <.83, Fair/Poor health and Activity Restriction for those with less than a high school diploma were nearly identical for men and women, ranging from 1.17 (1.02, 1.33) for activity restriction to 1.52 (1.32, 1.74) for Self-rated Health. As before, there were no significant differences in risk between the top two groups.

Stratified by age - 1996

The pattern of mean HUI by age and education shows little change from 1990 (Table 3.13). As in 1990, we again see no difference between the high school graduates and the post-secondary graduates. The only group that differs significantly from the highest group is the group with less than high school graduation. Scores for this group are lower than their higher education counterparts across all age groups. As well, 1996 scores are generally lower than those for 1990 across all age and education groups.

For the other outcome variables, the pattern for those under age 64 is much like that of 1990 – no difference between the top two groups, but significantly higher risk of the negative outcomes among those with less than high school graduation. The difference between the 1996 results and 1990 come in the upper age groups. Unlike

Table 3.13. Healtl	h Status b	y Education an	d Age Gr	oup, sex(es together, 19	96						
Mean HUI by Edu	Ication											
		25-44			45-64			65-74			75+	
	Adj." mear HUI	n 95% Confidence Limits	p-value"	Adj." mean HUI	95% Confidence Limits	p-value.	Adj." mean HUI	95% Confidence Limits	p-value"	Adj." mean HUI	95% Confidence Limits	p-value*
Less than secondary graduation	0.899	(0.890, 0.908)	0.0001	0.857	(0.844, 0.870)	0 0003	0.817	(0.795, 0.838)	0.0013	0.764	(0.740, 0.788)	0.0035
Secondary graduation/ Some post-secondary	0.913	(0.905, 0.922)	0.6986	0.871	(0.858, 0.884)	0.9416	0.829	(0.807, 0.851)	0.287	0.794	(0.769, 0.819)	0.8744
Post-secondary graduation 't-test for difference in	0.914 1 means, refe	(0.906, 0.922) srence category is F	ref. ² ost-second	0.871 ary graduat	(0.858, 0.883) lion	ref	0 835	(0.813, 0.858)	ref.	0.793	(0.765, 0.820)	ref.
Risk Ratio for HU	ll <.83 by l	Education 25-44			45-64			65-74			75+	
	Adj.•• Risk Ratio	95% Confidence Limits	-	Adj •• Risk Ratio	95% Confidence Limits	•	Adj.** Risk Ratio	95% Confidence Limits	-	Adj •• Risk Ratio	95% Confidence	
Less than secondary graduation	1.29	(1.09, 1.52)		1.22	(1.07, 1.39)		1.42	(1.16, 1.75)		1.31	(1.07, 1.61)	
Secondary grad./ some post-secondary	1.05	(0.93, 1.20)		1.01	(0.89, 1.14)		1.23	(0.99, 1.52)		1.08	(0.87, 1.33)	
College/university graduation	1.00	ł		1.00	ł		1.00	ł		1.00	I	
Risk Ratio for Fai	ir/Poor He	alth by Educati 25-44	uo		45-64		-	65-74			75+	
	Adj.•• Risk Ratio	95% Confidence Limits	-	Adj ** Risk Ratio	95% Confidence Limits	•	Adj.•• Risk Ratio	95% Confidence Limits		Adj •• Risk Ratio	95% Confidence Limits	
Less than secondary graduation	1.82	(1.51, 2.18)		1.54	(1.32, 1.80)		1.25	(1.01, 1.56)		1.49	(1.15, 1.94)	
Secondary grad./ some post-secondary College/university	1.10	(0.95, 1.29)		1.05	(0.90, 1.23)		1.04	(0.82, 1.31)		1.23	(0.94, 1.62)	
graduation	1.00	ł		1.00	ł		1.00	ł		1.00	***	
Risk Ratio for Act	tivity Rest	riction by Educ 25-44	ation		45-64			65-74			75+	
	Adj.•• Risk Ratio	95% Confidence Limits		Adj. • Risk Ratio	95% Confidence Limits	•	Adj •• Risk Ratio	95% Confidence Limits		Adj •• Risk Ratio	95% Confidence Limits	
Less than secondary graduation	1.34	(1.11, 1.60)		1 22	(1.05, 1.42)		1 05	(0 85, 1.30)		1 01	(0.82, 1.25)	
secondary grau./ some post-secondary College/university.	1.15	(1.01, 1.32)		1 06	(0 92, 1.22)		16 0	(0 78, 1.21)		0.97	(0.78, 1.21)	
graduation	1.00	:		1 00	:		1 00	ł		1.00	I	

"full model adjusts for sex, household type, behaviour (smoking, alcohol use, physical activity) and income

1990, where there was no difference between groups after age 64, in 1996 the lowest education group exhibits significantly higher risk of both low HUI and Fair/Poor health in both older age groups. Only in the case of Activity Restriction is there no difference after age 64.

III. Interaction Analysis – combined 1990 and 1996

After examining the relationships between health status outcomes and SES for each year individually, an analysis was carried out that looked for interaction and, as such, for significant changes in the association between SES and health status between 1990 and 1996.

Overall interaction analysis by income

Table 3.14 contains the results of the interaction analysis for the population as a whole, controlled, as always, for age, sex, household type, behaviour and highest level of education. The purpose of the interaction analysis was to determine if there has been a significant change in the relationships between the groups from 1990 to 1996, a change in the pattern of inequalities, as it were. From Table 3.14 we can see that there has been a significant change using mean HUI as the measure of health status. The F-test for the interaction term is significant at 7.43, p<.0001.

Looking at the individual categories, we find that while the mean HUIs of all groups appear to have declined, the drop was greater for the lowest income group (Figure 3.1).

There is also a significant interaction between year and the risk of an HUI score less than .83. The relative risk ratio for the dichotomous HUI exceeded 1 for all income groups, although only the low income group showed a significantly higher relative risk. Figure 3.2 displays graphically the changes in relative risk for the three dichotomous measures.

For Self-rated Health, the relative risks for 1996 compared with 1990 also exceed 1.0, but are not significant for any individual group. The overall chi-squared test for

Table 3.14. Interaction Analysis - Health Status and Adjusted IncomeCombined analysis of 1990 and 1996 OHSAge 25+, both sexes together

Mean HUI	Adjusted*	* mean HUI			
	1990	95% Confidence	1996	95% Confidence	p-value
Income Category		Limits		Limits	interaction
Low	0.871	(0.865, 0.877)	0.853	(0.849, 0.858)	0.0021
Lower-middle	0.901	(0.897, 0.904)	0.894	(0.891, 0.897)	0.476
Upper-Middle	0.908	(0.905, 0.911)	0.904	(0.901, 0.907)	0.9273
High	0.916	(0.912, 0.920)	0.911	(0.908, 0.915)	ref.
Unknown	0.904	(0.900, 0.909)	0.908	(0.905, 0.911)	0.0072
F-test for interaction	on term, full	model: F=7.43, p<.0	001		

Adjusted** Risk Ratio for HUI <.83 in 1996 compared with 1990

			Interaction	Interaction Effect
	Adj.	Adj.	Effect (Ratio	95% Confidence
Income Category	RR 1990	RR 1996	1996/1990)	Limits
Low	1.74	2.26	1.30	(1.05, 1.61)
Lower-middle	1.38	1.48	1.07	(0.88, 1.3)
Upper-Middle	1.22	1.29	1.06	(0.87, 1.29)
High	1.00	1.00	1.00	
Unknown	1.33	1.27	0.95	(0.78, 1.17)
Chi-squared test for	or interaction:	12.462, 4df, p	= 0.014	•

Adjusted** Risk Ratio for Fair/Poor health in 1996 compared with 1990

			Interaction	Interaction Effect
	Adj.	Adj.	Effect (Ratio	95% Confidence
Income Category	RR 1990	RR 1996	1996/1990)	Limits
Low	2.18	2.58	1.18	(0.92, 1.53)
Lower-middle	1.56	1.64	1.05	(0.83, 1.34)
Upper-Middle	1.18	1.22	1.04	(0.81, 1.33)
High	1.00	1.00	1.00	
Unknown	1.47	1.28	0.87	(0.68, 1.13)
Chi-squared test for	or interaction:	9.168, 4df, p =	0.057	

Adjusted** Risk Ratio for Activity Restriction in 1996 compared with 1990

			Interaction	Interaction Effect
	Adj.	Adj.	Effect (Ratio	95% Confidence
Income Category	RR 1990	RR 1996	1996/1990)	Limits
Low	2.03	1.97	0.97	(0.74, 1.28)
Lower-middle	1.53	1.40	0.91	(0.71, 1.17)
Upper-Middle	1.24	1.19	0.96	(0.74, 1.23)
High	1.00	1.00	1.00	
Unknown	1.33	1.03	0.77	(0.59, 1.01)
Oh!				•

Chi-squared test for interaction: 5.80, 4df, p = 0.215

**Full model adjusts for age, sex, household type, behaviour (smoking, alcohol use and physical activity) and education







Figure 3.2 Relative Risks for HUI <.83, Fair/Poor Health Status and Activity Restriction, 1990 and 1996 by Income Group

interaction was 0.057, just missing significance at the .05 cutpoint. There was no evidence of an interaction for Activity Restriction.

Overall interaction analysis by education

From Table 3.15, there appears to be no interaction between mean HUI, education and time (F=1.75, p=.1734). Nor is there any evidence of a change in the association between either the dichotomous HUI or Self-rated Health and education from 1990 to 1996. However, the chi-squared test for interaction for Activity Restriction was significant, and it appears as though there may have been a reduction in inequality in Activity Restriction by education level between 1990 and 1996.

Stratified by sex - income

Table 3.16 shows the interaction between income, health status and time separately for men and women. For mean HUI, both sexes show overall significant interactions and a similar pattern of changes. All groups saw their HUIs drop, but the drops get larger descending the income scale, leading to an increase in inequality.

The interaction analysis of the dichotomous HUI also shows a significant overall interaction for men, although not for women (see Figures 3.3 and 3.4). The adjusted relative risk of an HUI less than .83 was more than 50% higher in 1996 compared with 1990. Low income men also had a significantly higher relative risk of reporting their health as Fair or Poor in 1996 compared with 1990, although the overall interaction test for Fair/Poor health was not significant. There was no significant difference in the relative risk of Activity Restriction among low income men in 1996 compared with 1990. Nor was there any evidence of a change in the association between income and any of the dichotomous outcome variables for women.

Table 3.15. Interaction Analysis - Health Status and Highest Level of Education Combined analysis of 1990 and 1996 OHS

Age 25+, both sexes together

Mean HUI	Adjusted* n	Adjusted* mean HUI							
Highest level of education	1990	95% Confidence Limits	1996	95% Confidence Limits	p-value interaction				
Less than secondary oraduation	0.889	(0.885, 0.892)	0.881	(0.878, 0.884)	0.0618				
Secondary graduation/		(0.000, 0.000,			0.0010				
Some post-secondary	0.905	(0.901, 0.908)	0.900	(0.897, 0.903)	0.3991				
Post-secondary graduation	0.904	(0.901, 0.908)	0.902	(0.899, 0.904)	ref.				
F-test for interaction term, fi	ull model: F="	1.75, p = 0.1734							

Adjusted* Risk Ratio for HUI <.83 in 1996 compared with 1990

Highest level of education	Adj.** RR 1990	Adj.** RR 1996	Interaction Effect (Ratio 1996/1990)	Interaction Effect 95%Confidence Limits
Less than secondary graduation	1.21	1.34	1.11	(0.97, 1.27)
Secondary graduation/ Some post-secondary	0.97	1.08	1.12	(0.97, 1.29)
Post-secondary graduation Chi-squared test for interaction:	1.00 Chi-sq = 2.788,	1.00 2df, p = 0.248	1.00	

Adjusted* Risk Ratio for Fair/Poor health in 1996 compared with 1990

Highest level of education	Adj.** RR 1990	Adj.** RR 1996	Interaction Effect (Ratio 1996/1990)	Interaction Effect 95%Confidence Limits
graduation Secondary graduation/	1.76	1.59	0.91	(0.76, 1.07)
Some post-secondary	1.16	1.11	0.96	(0.80, 1.15)
Post-secondary graduation Chi-squared test for interaction	1.00 : Chi-sq.=1.545,	1.00 , 2df, p = 0.462	1.00	

Adjusted* Risk Ratio for Activity Restriction in 1996 compared with 1990

Highest level of education	Adj.** RR 1990	Adj.** RR 1996	Interaction Effect (Ratio 1996/1990)	Interaction Effect 95%Confidence Limits
Less than secondary				
graduation	1.48	1.21	0.82	(0.68, 0.98)
Secondary graduation/				
Some post-secondary	1.14	1.08	0.95	(0.78, 1.15)
Post-secondary graduation	1.00	1.00	1.00	
Chi aguarad toot for internatio		00 046 - 0 0	45	

Chi-squared test for interaction: Chi-sq.=6.199, 2df, p = 0.045

**Full model adjusts for age, sex, household type, behaviour (smoking, alcohol use and physical activity) and income

Table 3.16. Interaction Analysis by Sex - Health Status and Income Combined analysis of 1990 and 1996 OHS

			Men					Women		
Mean HUI	Adjusted* m	iean HUI								
	1990	95% Confidence	1996	95% Confidence	p-value	1990	95% Confidence	1996	95% Confidence	p-value
Income Category		Limits		Limits	interaction		Limits		Limits	interaction
Low	0.863	(0.856, 0.870)	0.852	(0.848, 0.857)	0.0954	0.881	(0.875, 0.887)	0.857	(0.852, 0.863)	0.0003
Lower-middle	0.899	(0.890, 0.909)	0.891	(0.884, 0.898)	0.9062	0.898	(0.890, 0.906)	0.904	(0.899, 0.908)	0.0329
Upper-Middle	0.911	(0.905, 0.916)	0.908	(0.903, 0.913)	0.8334	0.907	(0. 9 02, 0.912)	0.908	(0.904, 0.912)	0.2372
High	0.920	(0.915, 0.925)	0.920	(0.916, 0.924)	ref.	0.916	(0.911, 0.920)	0.912	(0.907, 0.917)	ref.
Unknown	0.904	(0.898, 0.910)	0.914	(0.909, 0.920)	0.0607	0.901	(0.895, 0.908)	0.911	(0.907, 0.915)	0.0043
F-test for interaction	n, full model: I	F=4.66, p=0.0009				F-test for inte	eraction, full model: F	=3.99, p= (0.0031	

Adjusted* Risk Ratio for Mean HUI <.83 in 1996 compared with 1990

			Interaction	Interaction Effect
	Adj.	Adj.	Effect (Ratio	95%Confidence
Income Category	RR 1990	RR 1996	1996/1990)	Limits
Low	1.97	3.00	1.53	(1.10, 2.11)
Lower-middle	1.47	1.87	1.28	(0.96, 1.70)
Upper-Middle	1.22	1.48	1.21	(0.91, 1.61)
High	1.00	1.00	1.00	
Unknown	1.45	1.41	0.97	(0.72, 1.32)
Chisq test for interac	tion: 13.01, 4df,	p = 0.011		

Adjusted* Risk Ratio for Fair/Poor health in 1996 compared with 1990

•			Interaction	Interaction Effect	
	Adj.	Adj.	Effect (Ratio	95%Confidence	
Income Category	RR 1990	RR 1996	1996/1990)	Limits	
Low	2.07	3.07	1.48	(1.03, 2.14)	
Lower-middle	1.39	1.76	1.27	(0.91, 1.76)	
Upper-Middle	1.04	1.25	1.21	(0.86, 1.69)	
High	1.00	1.00	1.00		
Unknown	1.34	1.38	1.03	(0.73, 1.47)	
O 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1		10 141 . 0.40	•		

Chisq test for interaction: Chisq=7.246, 4df, p = 0.123

Adjusted* Risk Ratio for Activity Restriction in 1996 compared with 1990

		Interaction	Interaction Effect
Adj.	Adj.	Effect (Ratio	95%Confidence
RR 1990	RR 1996	1996/1990)	Limits
1.63	1.78	1.10	(0.82, 1.46)
1.30	1.19	0.91	(0.70, 1.20)
1.21	1.13	0.94	(0.72, 1.23)
1.00	1.00	1.00	
1.25	1.13	0.90	(0.68, 1.20)

Chisq test for interaction: Chisq=3.69, 4df, p= 0.45

Adj.	Adj. PR 1996	Interaction Effect (Ratio	Interaction Effect 95%Confidence
2.36	2 20	0.93	(0.65, 1.35)
1.75	1.50	0.86	(0.60, 1.22)
1.34	1.17	0.88	(0.61, 1.26)
1.00	1.00	1.00	
1.63	1.17	0.72	(0.50, 1.04)

Chisq test for interaction: Chisq=5.133, 4df, p= 0.274

			Interaction	Interaction Effect			Interaction	Interaction Effect
	Adj.	Adj.	Effect (Ratio	95%Confidence	Adj.	Adj.	Effect (Ratio	95%Confidence
Income Category	RR 1990	RR 1996	1996/1990)	Limits	RR 1990	RR 1996	1996/1990)	Limits
Low	2.37	2.58	1.09	(0.72, 1.64)	1.83	1.61	0.88	(0.61, 1.28)
Lower-middle	1.67	1.64	0.98	(0.69, 1.41)	1.41	1.21	0.85	(0.60, 1.21)
Upper-Middle	1.30	1.26	0.97	(0.67, 1.39)	1.18	1.12	0.95	(0.67, 1.35)
High	1.00	1.00	1.00		1.00	1.00	1.00	
Unknown	1.44	1.05	0.73	(0.49, 1.08)	1.25	0.98	0.78	(0.54, 1.14)
			-		A		0.50 4.11	~ ~ ~ ~

Chisq test for interaction: Chisq=5.534, 4df, p = 0.237

Chisq test for interaction: Chisq=2.56, 4df, p= 0.634

*Full model adjusts for age, household type, behaviour (smoking, alcohol use and physical activity) and education



Figure 3.3 Relative Risks for HUI <.83, Fair/Poor Health Status and Activity Restriction, 1990 and 1996, by Income Group, Men only



Figure 3.4 Relative Risks for HUI <.83, Fair/Poor Health Status and Activity Restriction, 1990 and 1996, by Income Group, Women only

Stratified by sex – education

When education is used as the measure of socioeconomic status, a somewhat different picture emerges. Results of the interaction analysis for education, health status and time are shown in Table 3.17. For mean HUI, there is no significant interaction evident for men, but there is for women. The mean HUIs for men without a high school diploma showed almost no change, while women in this group saw their HUIs drop significantly.

In the case of the dichotomous HUI, Self-rated Health and Activity Restriction, no significant change in the pattern of inequalities by education level is evident.

Stratified by age – income

Interaction analysis of the mean HUI by income and age group is shown in Table 3.18. There is a significant interaction with time at age 25-44 and 45-64, indicating a change in the pattern of inequalities in these age groups (Figure 3.5).

From Table 3.19, there is no evidence of interaction between the dichotomous HUI, income and time, nor with Self-rated Health Status (see Figures 3.6 to 3.9). However, the chi-squared test for interaction for Activity Restriction was significant for both the 45-64 age group and the over 75 year age group. In the former, there appears to be a general reduction in the risk ratios for Activity Restriction. However, in the latter age group, those over age 75, the risk ratio for Activity Restriction was much higher in 1996 compared with 1990.

Table 3.17. Interaction Analysis by sex - Health Status and Education Combined analysis of 1990 and 1996 OHS

Mean HUI	Adjusted*	Mean HUI								
			Men					Women		
	1990	95% Confidence	1996	95% Confidence	p-value	1990	95% Confidence	1996	95% Confidence	p-value
Highest level of education		Limits		Limits	interaction		Limits		Limits	interaction
Less than sec. Grad.	0.889	(0.884, 0.894)	0.888	(0.883, 0.892)	0.6049	0.887	(0.883, 0.891)	0.875	(0.870, 0.879)	0.1006
Sec. grad., some post-secondary	0.906	(0.901, 0.911)	0.901	(0.897, 0.906)	0.0968	0.902	(0.897, 0.906)	0.898	(0.894, 0.902)	0.4101
Post-secondary graduation	0.902	(0.897, 0.908)	0.903	(0.899, 0.907)	ref.	0.905	(0.900, 0.910)	0.899	(0.895, 0.903)	ref.
F-test for interaction, full mode	l: F=1.43, p)=0.2384				F-test for i	nteraction, full mode	el: F=3.35, p	= 0.0349	

Adjusted* Risk Ratio for Mean HUI <.83 in 1996 compared with 1990

	Adj.	Adj.	Interaction Effect (Ratio	Interaction Effect 95% Confidence	Adj.	Adj.	Interaction Effect (Ratio	Interaction Effect 95% Confidence
Highest level of education	RR 1990	RR 1996	1996/1990)	Limits	RR 1990	RR 1996	1996/1990)	Limits
Less than sec. Grad.	1.13	1.33	1.17	(0.86, 1.26)	1.28	1.33	1.04	(0.86, 1.26)
Sec. grad., some post-secondary	0.94	1.09	1.16	(0.86, 1.28)	1.02	1.06	1.05	(0.86, 1.28)
Post-secondary graduation	1.00	1.00	1.00		1.00	1.00	1.00	

Chisg test for interaction: Chisg=2.751, 2df, p= 0.253

Adjusted* Risk Ratio for Fair/Poor health in 1996 compared with 1990

	Adi	Adi	Interaction	Interaction Effect
	Auj.	Auj.	Ellect (Ralio	95% Confidence
Highest level of education	RR 1990	RR 1996	1996/1990)	Limits
Less than sec. Grad.	1.75	1.61	0.92	(0.72, 1.17)
Sec. grad., some post-secondary	1.19	1.17	0.98	(0.75, 1.29)
Post-secondary graduation	1.00	1.00	1.00	
Chisa test for interaction: Chi	hhc 146 0=0	n= 0 725		

Chisq test for interaction: Chisq=0.644, 207, p=0.725

Adjusted* Risk Ratio for Activity Restriction in 1996 compared with 1990

	Adj.	Adj.	Interaction Effect (Ratio	Interaction Effect 95% Confidence
Highest level of education	RR 1990	RR 1996	1996/1990)	Limits
Less than sec. Grad.	1.49	1.21	0.82	(0.63, 1.06)
Sec. grad., some post-secondary	1.07	1.04	0.96	(0.72, 1.28)
Post-secondary graduation	1.00	1.00	1.00	
	- · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			

Chisg test for interaction: Chisg=3.132, 2df, p= 0.209

*Full model adjusts for age, household type, behaviour (smoking, alcohol and physical activity) and income

Adj. Effect (Ratio Adj. 95% Confidence RR 1990 RR 1996 1996/1990) Limits 1.76 1.56 0.88 (0.7, 1.12)1.14 1.05 0.92 (0.71, 1.19)1.00 1.00 1.00 •--

Interaction

Interaction Effect

Chisq test for interaction: Chisq=1.082, 2df, p= 0.582

Chisq test for interaction: Chisq=0.239, 2df, p= 0.887

Adj.	Adj.	Interaction Effect (Ratio	Interaction Effect 95% Confidence
RR 1990	RR 1996	1996/1990)	Limits
1.49	1.20	0.81	(0.63, 1.04)
1.20	1.10	0.92	(0.7, 1.2)
1.00	1.00	1.00	

Chisq test for interaction: Chisq=3.154, 2df, p= 0.207

Table 3.18. Interaction Analysis by Age Group - Mean HUI by IncomeCombined analysis of 1990 and 1996 OHS

Adjusted* mean HUI

Age 25-44

	1990 9	95% Confidence	1996	95% Confidence	p-value
Income Category		Limits		Limits	interaction
Low	0.898	(0.890, 0.905)	0.883	(0.878, 0.888)	0.0391
Lower-middle	0.926	(0.921, 0.930)	0.924	(0.919, 0.929)	0.5460
Upper-Middle	0.931	(0.927, 0.935)	0.935	(0.931, 0.939)	0.0098
High	0.946	(0.941, 0.951)	0.942	(0.938, 0.945)	ref.
Unknown	0.930	(0.925, 0.936)	0.935	(0.930, 0.939)	0.0393
F-test for interaction,	full model:	F=5.51, p= 0.0002			

Age 45-64

	1990	95% Confidence	1996	95% Confidence	p-value
Income Category		Limits		Limits	interaction
Low	0.820	(0.806, 0.833)	0.814	(0.805, 0.822)	0.4829
Lower-middle	0.879	(0.872, 0.887)	0.876	(0.870, 0.883)	0.5756
Upper-Middle	0.904	(0.897, 0.910)	0.890	(0.885, 0.896)	0.0060
High	0.907	(0.899, 0.914)	0.907	(0.900, 0.913)	ref.
Unknown	0.890	(0.881, 0.898)	0.905	(0.900, 0.911)	0.0084
F-test for interaction	n, full model:	F=7.71, p= 0.0001			

Age 65-74

	1990	95% Confidence	1996	95% Confidence	p-value
Income Category		Limits		Limits	interaction
Low	0.861	(0.843, 0.879)	0.857	(0.843, 0.871)	0.1208
Lower-middle	0.872	(0.861, 0.883)	0.866	(0.856, 0.877)	0.0907
Upper-Middle	0.878	(0.865, 0.891)	0.876	(0.865, 0.887)	0.0587
High	0.889	(0.868, 0.910)	0.860	(0.842, 0.877)	ref.
Unknown	0.871	(0.856, 0.885)	0.870	(0.860, 0.880)	0.0524
F-test for interaction	n, full mod	el: F=1.04, p= 0.387	2		

Age 75+

	1990	95% Confidence	1996	95% Confidence	p-value
Income Category		Limits		Limits	interaction
Low	0.831	(0.807, 0.855)	0.776	(0.754, 0.797)	0.0439
Lower-middle	0.849	(0.829, 0.870)	0.805	(0.787, 0.822)	0.0866
Upper-Middle	0.838	(0.813, 0.862)	0.802	(0.784, 0.821)	0.1862
High	0.810	(0.769, 0.851)	0.812	(0.780, 0.844)	ref.
Unknown	0.847	(0.826, 0.869)	0.819	(0.802, 0.835)	0.2591
F-test for interaction	n, full model:	F=1.42, p= 0.2254	•		

*Full model adjusts for sex, household type, behaviour and education



Figure 3.5 Mean HUI by Income and Age Group, 1990 and 1996

Table 3.19. Interaction Analysis by Age Group - Dichotomous Measures and Income Combined analysis of 1990 and 1996

Mean HUI <.83

Age 25-44

		Adi.*	Interaction	Interaction Effect			Interaction	Interaction Effect
	Adj.*	RR	Effect (Ratio	95% Confidence	Adj.	Adj.*	Effect (Ratio	95% Confidence
Income Category	RR 1990	1996	1996/1990)	Limits	RR 1990	RR 1996	1996/1990)	Limits
Low	2.63	3.34	1.27	(0.87, 1.85)	1.83	2.84	1.55	(1.00, 2.39)
Lower-middle	1.75	1.72	0.98	(0.69, 1.39)	1.33	1.48	1.11	(0.75, 1.65)
Upper-Middle	1.47	1.34	0.91	(0.65, 1.27)	1.04	1.15	1.11	(0.75, 1.63)
High	1.00	1.00	1.00		1.00	1.00	1.00	
Unknown	1.58	1.44	0.91	(0.62, 1.33)	1.24	1.23	0.99	(0.64, 1.53)
Chisq test for interaction:	Chisq = 5.985, 4df, p = 0.200				Chisq = 6.331, 4df, p = 0.176			

Self-rated Health Status

Age 45-64

Income Category	Adj.* RR 1990	Adj.* RR 1996	Interaction Effect (Ratio 1996/1990)	Interaction Effect 95% Confidence Limits	Adj.* RR 1990	Adj.* RR 1996	Interaction Effect (Ratio 1996/1990)	Interaction Effect 95% Confidence Limits
Low	2.35	2.80	1.19	(0.85, 1.67)	3.06	3.52	1.15	(0.77, 1.72)
Lower-middle	1.50	1.69	1.13	(0.84, 1.51)	1.83	2.11	1.16	(0.80, 1.67)
Upper-Middle	1.12	1.40	1.25	(0.94, 1.66)	1.23	1.37	1.11	(0.77, 1.61)
High	1.00	1.00	1.00		1.00	1.00	1.00	
Unknown	1.37	1.26	0.92	(0.67, 1.25)	1.62	1.33	0.82	(0.55, 1.21)
Chisq test for interaction:	Chisq = 6	69, 4df,	p = 0.153		Chisq = 6	6.276, 4df	, p = 0.179	

Age 65-74

		Adj.*	Interaction	Interaction Effect			Interaction	Interaction Effect
	Adj.*	RR	Effect (Ratio	95% Confidence	Adj.*	Adj.*	Effect (Ratio	95% Confidence
Income Category	RR 1990	1996	1996/1990)	Limits	RR 1990	RR 1996	1996/1990)	Limits
Low	1.33	1.20	0.90	(0.47, 1.75)	2.73	1.35	0.50	(0.22, 1.12)
Lower-middle	1.19	1.05	0.89	(0.48, 1.63)	2.09	0.95	0.45	(0.21, 0.99)
Upper-Middle	1.25	1.01	0.80	(0.43, 1.51)	1.67	0.66	0.40	(0.17, 0.90)
High	1.00	1.00	1.00		1.00	1.00	1.00	
Unknown	1.28	0.98	0.77	(0.41, 1.44)	2.04	0.86	0.42	(0.19, 0.95)
Chisq test for interaction:	Chisq = 1.417, 4df, p =0.841			Chisq = 5.975, 4df, p = 0.201				

Age 75+

Income Category	Adj.* RR 1990	Adj.* RR 1996	Interaction Effect (Ratio 1996/1990)	Interaction Effect 95% Confidence Limits	Adj." RR 1990	Adj.* RR 1996	Interaction Effect (Ratio 1996/1990)	Interaction Effect 95% Confidence Limits
Low	0.72	1.22	1.69	(0.85, 3.37)	2.00	1.91	0.96	(0.32, 2.87)
Lower-middle	0.77	1.06	1.38	(0.72, 2.68)	1.36	1.74	1.28	(0.43, 3.78)
Upper-Middle	0.78	1.06	1.36	(0.68, 2.73)	0.98	1.68	1.72	(0.55, 5.39)
High	1.00	1.00	1.00		1.00	1.00	1.00	
Unknown	0.76	1.01	1.33	(0.68, 2.57)	1.51	1.52	1.01	(0.34, 3.00)
Chisq test for interaction:	Chisq = 2.	829, 4d	f, p = 0.587		Chisq = 5	5.339, 4di	, p = 0.254	

*Full model adjusts for sex, household type, behaviour and education

Table 3.19. Interaction Analysis by Age Group - Dichotomous Measures and Income Combined analysis of 1990 and 1996

Age 25-44

Act	vity	Rest	tric	lion
-----	------	------	------	------

			Interaction	Interaction Effect
	Adj.*	Adj.*	Effect (Ratio	95% Confidence
Income Category	RR 1990	RR 1996	1996/1990)	Limits
Low	2.81	2.23	0.79	(0.50, 1.26)
Lower-middle	1.62	1.34	0.83	(0.55, 1.27)
Upper-Middle	1.42	1.03	0.72	(0.48, 1.09)
High	1.00	1.00	1.00	
Unknown	1.40	0.88	0.63	(0.39, 1.01)
Chisq test for interaction:	Chisq = 4.	478, 4df, p	o = 0.345	

Age 45-64

	Adj."	Adj.*	Interaction Effect (Ratio	Interaction Effect 95% Confidence
Income Category	RR 1990	RR 1996	1996/1990)	Limits
Low	3.88	2.73	0.70	(0.46, 1.09)
Lower-middle	2.29	1.75	0.76	(0.52, 1.13)
Upper-Middle	1.33	1.29	0.97	(0.65, 1.44)
High	1.00	1.00	1.00	
Unknown	1.78	1.04	0.59	(0.38, 0.90)
Chisq test for interaction:	Chisq = 10).926, 4df,	p = 0.027	

Age 65-74

			Interaction	Interaction Effect
	Adj.*	Adj.*	Effect (Ratio	95% Confidence
Income Category	RR 1990	RR 1996	1996/1990)	Limits
Low	1.26	1.10	0.87	(0.37, 2.06)
Lower-middle	1.20	1.08	0.90	(0.41, 1.96)
Upper-Middle	1.10	1.11	1.01	(0.45, 2.27)
High	1.00	1.00	1.00	
Unknown	1.25	0.91	0.74	(0.33, 1.66)
Chisq test for interaction:	Chisq = 1.	751, 4df, p	o = 0.781	

Age 75+

			Interaction	Interaction Effect
	Adj.*	Adj.*	Effect (Ratio	95% Confidence
Income Category	RR 1990	RR 1996	1996/1990)	Limits
Low	0.44	1.33	3.03	(1.33, 6.92)
Lower-middle	0.45	1.12	2.48	(1.13, 5.44)
Upper-Middle	0.43	1.17	2.72	(1.16, 6.38)
High	1.00	1.00	1.00	
Unknown	0.39	1.06	2.73	(1.22, 6.09)
Chisq test for interaction:	Chisq = 6.	923, 4df, p	o = 0.14	

*Full model adjusts for age, sex, household type and behaviour


Figure 3.6 Relative Risks for HUI <.83, Fair/Poor Health Status and Activity Restriction, 1990 and 1996, by Income Group, Age 25-44 only



Figure 3.7 Relative Risks for HUI <.83, Fair/Poor Health Status and Activity Restriction, 1990 and 1996, by Income Group, Age 45-64 only



Figure 3.8 Relative Risks for HUI <.83, Fair/Poor Health Status and Activity Restriction, 1990 and 1996, by Income Group, Age 65-74 only



Figure 3.9 Relative Risk for HUI <.83, Fair/Poor Health Status and Activity Restriction, 1990 and 1996, by Income Group, Age 75+ only

Table 3.20. Interaction Analysis by Age Group - Mean HUI and EducationCombined analysis of 1990 and 1996 OHS

Adjusted* Mean HUI

Age 25-44

Highest Level of Education	1990	95% Confidence Limits	1996	95% Confidence Limits	p-value interaction
Less than secondary graduation	0.914	(0.909, 0.919)	0.913	(0.908, 0.918)	0.6375
Sec. grad., some post-secondary	0.930	(0.926, 0.933)	0.929	(0.926, 0.933)	0.7556
Post-secondary graduation	0.930	(0.926, 0.934)	0.931	(0.927, 0.934)	ref.
F-test for interaction, full mode	el: F = 0.1	2, p = 0.8865			

Age 45-64

Highest Level of Education	1990	95% Confidence	1996	95% Confidence	p-value
		Limits		Limits	interaction
Less than secondary graduation	0.866	(0.860, 0.872)	0.868	(0.862, 0.874)	0.1508
Sec. grad., some post-secondary	0.889	(0.883, 0.895)	0.883	(0.877, 0.888)	0.7471
Post-secondary graduation	0.889	(0.882, 0.896)	0.884	(0.879, 0.890)	ref.
F-test for interaction, full mod	el: F =1.98	8, p = 0.1377			

Age 65-74

Highest Level of Education	1990	95% Confidence	1996	95% Confidence	p-value
		Limits		Limits	interaction
Less than secondary graduation	0.868	(0.858, 0.879)	0.854	(0.845, 0.864)	0.0473
Sec. grad., some post-secondary	0.867	(0.855, 0.879)	0.869	(0.859, 0.880)	0.8512
Post-secondary graduation	0.873	(0.857, 0.889)	0.877	(0.866, 0.888)	ref.
F-test for interaction, full mode	i: F = 3.43,	, p = 0.0326			

Age 75+

Highest Level of Education	1990	95% Confidence	1996	95% Confidence	p-value
		Limits		Limits	interaction
Less than secondary graduation	0.820	(0.803, 0.837)	0.776	(0.760, 0.792)	0.8472
Sec. grad., some post-secondary	0.837	(0.816, 0.858)	0.813	(0.797, 0.830)	0.1830
Post-secondary graduation	0.860	(0.833, 0.887)	0.814	(0.794, 0.833)	ref.
F-test for interaction, full mode	el: F =1.50), p = 0.2238			

*Full model adjusts for sex, household type, behaviour and income

Table 3.21 Interaction Analysis by Age Group - Dichotomous Measures and EducationCombined analysis of 1990 and 1996

	Mean HUI <.83				Self-rated Health Status			
Age 25-44								
Highest level of education	Adj.*	Adj.• RR	Interaction Effect (Ratio	Interaction Effect 95% Confidence	Adj.* RR	Adj.* RR	Interaction Effect (Ratio	Interaction Effect 95% Confidence
Less than secondary	KK 1990	1990	1330/1330)	Linits	1990	1990	1330/1330/	Cunits
graduation Secondary graduation/	1.35	1. 39	1.03	(0.81, 1.32)	1.93	1.92	1.00	(0.75, 1.34)
Some post-secondary	0.94	1.08	1.15	(0.92, 1.44)	1.13	1.13	1.00	(0.75, 1.33)
Post-secondary graduation	1.00	1.00	1.00	-	1.00	1.00	1.00	
Unisq test for interaction:		Chisq = 1.773, 201, p = 0.412			Chisq =	0.0, 201,	, p = 1.0	
Age 45-64								
Highest level of education	Adj.*	Adj.* RR	Interaction Effect (Ratio	Interaction Effect 95% Confidence	Adj.* RR 1990	Adj.* RR 1996	Interaction Effect (Ratio	Interaction Effect 95% Confidence
Less than secondary	1411 1550	1000	1000/1000/	cinito	1330	1000	1000/1000/	Cirina
graduation Secondary graduation/	1.29	1.07	0.98	(0.78, 1.24)	1.98	1.60	0.81	(0.60, 1.09)
Some post-secondary	0.96	1.04	1.08	(0.84, 1.38)	1.27	1.07	0.84	(0.61, 1.17)
Post-secondary graduation Chisq test for interaction:	1.00 Chisq = 0	1.00 .809, 2	1.00 df, p = 0.667		1.00 Chisq =	1.00 2.005, 2	1.00 2df, p = 0.367	-
Age 65-74								
Highest level of education	Adj.* RR 1990	Adj.* RR 1996	Interaction Effect (Ratio 1996/1990)	Interaction Effect 95% Confidence Limits	Adj.* RR 1990	Adj.* RR 1996	Interaction Effect (Ratio 1996/1990)	Interaction Effect 95% Confidence Limits
Less than secondary graduation	0.94	1.48	1.58	(1.11, 2.24)	1.43	1.27	0.89	(0.58, 1.38)
Secondary graduation/ Some post-secondary	0.95	1.23	1.30	(0.89, 1.91)	1.14	1.04	0.91	(0.57, 1.47)
Post-secondary graduation Chisq test for interaction:	1.00 Chisq = 6	1.00 .669, 2	1.00 df, p = 0.0356		1.00 Chisq =	1.00 0.263, 2	1.00 2df, p = 0.877	
Age 75+								
Highest level of education	Adj.* RR 1990	Adj.* RR 1996	Interaction Effect (Ratio 1996/1990)	Interaction Effect 95% Confidence Limits	Adj.* RR 1990	Adj.* RR 1996	Interaction Effect (Ratio 1996/1990)	Interaction Effect 95% Confidence
Less than secondary graduation	1.23	1.33	1.08	(0.73, 1.61)	1.47	1.46	1.00	(0.60, 1.66)
Secondary graduation/ Some post-secondary	1.04	1.07	1.03	(0.66, 1.61)	0.91	1.40	1.33	(0.74, 2.41)
Post-secondary graduation Chisq test for interaction:	1.00 Chisq = 0	1.00 .1 87, 2	1.00 df, p = 0.911		1.00 Chisq =	1.00 2.011, 2	1.00 2df, p = 0.366	

*Full model adjusts for sex, household type, behaviour and income

Table 3.21 Interaction Analysis by Age Group - Dichotomous Measures and EducationCombined analysis of 1990 and 1996

Activity Restriction

Age 25-44

Highest level of education	Adj.* RR 1990	Adj.* RR 1996	Interaction Effect (Ratio 1996/1990)	Interaction Effect 95% Confidence Limits
Less than secondary				
graduation	1.82	1.37	0.76	(0.55, 1.03)
Secondary graduation/				
Some post-secondary	1.12	1.16	1.04	(0.77, 1.39)
Post-secondary graduation	1.00	1.00	1.00	
Chisq test for interaction:	Chisq = 5.1	111, 2df, p =	= 0.078	

Age 45-64

Highest level of education	Adj.* RR 1990	Adj.* RR 1996	Interaction Effect (Ratio 1996/1990)	Interaction Effect 95% Confidence Limits
Less than secondary				
graduation	1.76	1.24	0.70	(0.51, 0.97)
Secondary graduation/				
Some post-secondary	1.12	1.08	0.96	(0.68, 1.36)
Post-secondary graduation	1.00	1.00	1.00	
Chisq test for interaction:	Chisq = 7.8	361,2df,p:	= 0.019	

Age 65-74

Highest level of education	Adj.* RR 1990	Adj.* RR 1996	Interaction Effect (Ratio 1996/1990)	Interaction Effect 95% Confidence Limits
Less than secondary				
graduation	1.21	1.05	0.87	(0.53, 1.43)
Secondary graduation/				
Some post-secondary	1.25	0.97	0.78	(0.46, 1.33)
Post-secondary graduation	1.00	1.00	1.00	
Chisq test for interaction:	Chisq = 0.8	39, 2df, p =	0.641	

Age 75+

Highest level of education	Adj.* RR 1990	Adj.* RR 1996	Interaction Effect (Ratio 1996/1990)	Interaction Effect 95% Confidence Limits
Less than secondary				
graduation	1.11	1.01	0.92	(0.52, 1.62)
Secondary graduation/				
Some post-secondary	1.18	0.96	0.82	(0.44, 1.52)
Post-secondary graduation	1.00	1.00	1.00	
Chisq test for interaction:	Chisq = 0.4	473, 2df, p =	= 0.789	

*Full model adjusts for sex, household type, behaviour and income

Stratified by age – education

Table 3.20 shows the results of the age-stratified analysis for the mean HUI. The only significant interaction appears in the 65-74 year age group. A similar interaction is evident in this age group for the dichotomous HUI (Table 3.21). Both HUI analyses indicate a decrease in the HUI in the lowest education group relative to the highest education group.

Also from Tables 3.21, there is no evidence of interaction for Self-rated Health Status in any age group. The 45-64 year age group does show interaction for Activity Restriction. Once again, there appears to be a decrease in education-related inequality in Activity Restriction.

IV. Summary of Interaction Analyses

Table 3.22 is a summary of all the interaction results. It clearly shows the variation across both health status and SES measures. The interaction analysis with income showed the most consistency. Across health status measures, the interaction result was most consistent for the HUI, with much less evidence of interaction for either Self-rated Health or Activity Restriction. Figures 3.10 to 3.13 provide a graphic illustration of the differences in the mean HUI between 1990 and 1996. Figure 3.10 shows how the differences in both the magnitude of the change in mean HUI and its direction vary across income groups and also between men and women. Figure 3.11 shows the same thing across age groups. A comparison of Figures 3.12 and 3.13 with Figures 3.10 and 3.11, which are all graphed on the same scale, reveals how much smaller the changes in mean HUI are for the various education groups and how much less variation there is.

Age 75+	F=1.42 NS	X ² =2.83 NS	X ² =5.34 NS	X ² =6.923 NS (but all individ. signif.)	F=1.5 NS	X ² =0.187 NS	X ² =2.011 NS	X ² =0.473 NS
Age 65-74	F=1.04	X ² =1.42	X ² =5.98	X ² =1.751	F=3.43	X ² =6.669	X ² =0.263	X ² =0.89
	NS	NS	NS	NS	p=.0326	p = 0.036	NS	NS
Age 45-64	F=7.71	X ² =6.69	X ² =6.28	X ² =10.93	F=1.98	X ² =0.809	X ² =2.005	X ² =7.861
	p=.0001	NS	NS	p = 0.027	NS	NS	NS	p = 0.019
Age 25-44	F=5.51	X ² =5.99	X ² =6.33	X ² =4.48	F=0.12	X ² =1.773	X ² =0.0	X ² =5.11
	p=.0002	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	p = 0.078
Women	F=3.99 p=.0031	X ² =3.69 NS	X ² =5.13 NS	X ² =2.56 NS	F=3.35 p=.0349	X ²	X ² =1.082 NS	X ² =3.154 NS
Men	F=4.66	X ² =13.01	X ² =7.25	X ² =5.53	F=1.43	X ² =2.757	X ² =0.644	X ² =3.132
	p=.0009	p = 0.011	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS
AII	F=7.43	X ² =12.46	X ² =9.17	X ² =5.80	F=1.75	X ² =2.788	X ² =1.545	X ² =6.199
	p=.0001	p = 0.014	p = 0.057	NS	NS	NS	NS	p = 0.045
	HUI x Income	Dichotomous HUI x income	Self-rated health x income	Activity Restriction x income	HUI × education	Dichotomous HUI x income	Self-rated health x education	Activity Restriction x education

Table 3.22 Summary of Interaction Analysis Results



Figure 3.10 Difference in mean HUI 1990 and 1996 by income group, All Ontario, Men and Women



Figure 3.11 Difference in mean HUI 1990 and 1996, by Income and Age Group

Figure 3.12 Difference in mean HUI 1990 and 1996 by highest level of education, All Ontario, Men and Women





Figure 3.13 Difference in mean HUI 1990 and 1996, by Education and Age Group

V. Additional Analyses

Two additional analyses were carried out in an attempt to better understand the association between SES and health status. The first of these analyses looked at the individual components of the Health Utilities Index, testing for interaction between income and year for each component. The results of this analysis can be found in Figure 3.14. It is clear from Figure 3.14 that the large decline in HUI seen in the low income group is the result of large drops in the scores for emotion, pain and mobility.

Finally, the discussion of health status and SES, particularly during times of recession, has alluded to employment status as one possible intervening factor or mechanism acting on this association. The last analysis took a cross-sectional look at the relationship between employment status and mean HUI. In the 1996 OHS, respondents were categorized in the following employment status groups: those who were currently working, those who were not currently working but who had worked for part of the previous 12 months and those who had not worked at all in the previous 12 months. Respondents who reported some type of activity restriction or long term disability were excluded, and the analysis only included those of standard working age (25-64, early retirement notwithstanding). From Figure 3.15 we can see two things: the first is that there appears to be an association between employment status and health status. Overall, the mean HUI dropped significantly with each category. The other feature of this graph is that the result is different for men and wormen. Men who had worked in the previous 12 months working that a significantly lower HUI than those who were currently working. This was not the case for wormen, but in both sexes, those who



Figure 3.14 Difference in Mean HUI Component Scores, by Income Group, 1990 to 1996



Figure 3.15 Mean HUI by employment status, those age 25-64 with no activity restriction, by sex, 1996

Employment status and sex

had been unemployed for at least 12 months had lower HUIs than either of the other group.

VI. Summary

To summarize, the results show that a significant health status-income gradient existed in both 1990 and 1996. Health status increased significantly as income increased. However, it also appears as though there was a decline in health status as measured by the Health Utilities Index in all income groups between 1990 and 1996, with the size of the decline increasing as one goes down the income scale. This suggests an increase in income-related inequalities in health, particularly if one compares the lowest income group to the rest.

The pattern of health inequalities by education appears to suggest a threshold at high school graduation. Those with less than a high school education have a much lower health status than the rest of the population, but further credentials beyond high school graduation did not appear, from this analysis, to convey additional benefit in terms of health status.

Chapter 4 Discussion

The purpose of this thesis was twofold: 1) to examine the pattern of health inequalities by socioeconomic status in Ontario during the 1990s and 2) to see if there was any significant change in this association from 1990 to 1996. This particular time period was chosen because it was a time of significant restructuring within Ontario, from both an economic and from a social policy point of view, which could conceivably have had an impact on the association between SES and health status. The data came from two independent, cross-sectional, population-based surveys, the 1990 Ontario Health Survey and the 1996/97 Ontario Health Survey.

The analyses carried out were unique in two ways: 1) it is the first study which looked at the SES-health status relationship in Ontario at more than one point in time and 2) it went beyond many Canadian studies of health status and SES in not only controlling for demographic variables such as age and sex, but also, through the use of multivariate analysis techniques, controlling for household type and behaviour.

I. Health Status and Income

As expected, a positive association was found between health status and income – as income increases, so does health status. This association is often referred to as the SES-health gradient. The health status-SES gradient as it existed in 1990 was previously described by Stephens and Graham (1993), Warren (1994) and Roberge et al. (1995). The results of this study demonstrate that the gradient persists even after controlling for household type and health behaviour. In the literature on the SES-health gradient reviewed in Chapter 1, two characteristics of this association were repeatedly mentioned. The first is the consistency of the relationship, the second is its ubiquity. These characteristics were also found to be generally true of the association between income and health status in Ontario in both 1990 and 1996. It was nearly ubiquitous in the sense that it was evident for the population as a whole, for the sexes separately and for the age groups 25-44 and 45-64, although no significant association was found among Ontarians over the age of 64. This latter finding may be due, in part, to a lack of power to detect differences among groups over age 64, as the sample sizes for these groups was much smaller than for the younger age groups. However, as this finding is consistent with other research, there may be other explanations as well. Other possible reasons for a finding of no significant association between SES and health status over age 64 are discussed below.

The consistency of the relationship was evident in the very similar results obtained using the different health status measures. In all of the above groups, and for nearly all health status measures, as one moved up the income scale the health status of each group was significantly higher than the one that preceded it. The only deviation from this pattern was that in certain groups there was no significant (p=.05) difference in health status between the highest two income groups.

While there was general consistency to the pattern across groups and health status measures, the results were not identical. For instance, the health status gradients tended to be different for men and women, and some of the largest risk ratios were seen in the 45-64 year age group. With respect to the former, men tended to have higher HUI scores, indicating higher health status, but the relative risks of Fair/Poor health status or Activity

Restriction also tended to be higher for men than women in the same SES group, suggesting that inequality across SES groups was greater for men than for women.

Possible explanations for such sex-related differences in the SES-health gradient have emerged from a number of recent studies attempting to delineate the exact nature of the relationship between income and health status (Backlund et al., 1996; Ettner, 1996; Ecob and Davey Smith, 1999). Using mortality as their health status measure and a continuous measure of income, Backlund et al. found that income-mortality gradients tended to be steeper overall for men than for women, but women showed the steeper gradients at the lowest income levels. They suggest a number of possible explanations for their finding, including sex-related differences in environmental or workplace exposures at different income levels or perhaps being low income represents a more permanent or long-term situation for men than for women. This latter explanation raises an important point that must be kept in mind when considering the relationship between income and health status - the fact that income is rarely stable across a person's life span, but can vary considerably. If the association between income and health status is causal, as some recent studies have suggested (Ettner, 1999), then the effect of income on a person's life will be the cumulative exposure across that life span. The more movement there is between income groups, then, the smaller the differences between groups will be. The ideal income measure, then, would be some type of "lifetime average income" and any measure that relies only on measures at one or two points in an individual's life is bound to be subject to a certain amount of measurement error, although the magnitude of such error is difficult to judge. This point will be discussed further in the section on study limitations.

With respect to age differences, both Backlund et al. (1999) and House et al. (1990) also found the largest health status-income differentials in the 45-64 age group and a lack of difference in the upper years (75+). House et al. theorized that this increased disparity in health status in the middle years may result from a postponement of morbidity among those in the higher SES groups at an age when serious health problems are beginning to emerge. They also suggested that the lack of difference in health status across income groups in the upper years (75+) is the result of the effects of early mortality in the lower SES groups and of the onset of health problems previously delayed among the higher SES groups. The possible measurement error inherent in measuring income data at only one point in time mentioned above may also play a role here, as income at older ages may be less important than accumulated wealth.

Along with changes in slope among age and sex groups, Backlund et al. (1996) and Ecob and Davey Smith (1999) have also looked into how the the shape of the relationship between income and mortality changed across the income spectrum itself. They demonstrated that the slope tended to be steeper at lower income levels, flattening out at higher levels. The results from this thesis cannot be directly compared with those from the abovementioned studies because the latter were using income as a continuous variable with equal increments and this analysis has income grouped into categories. However, the impact of an increase in income does appear to diminish higher up the income scale. The greatest absolute differences in mean HUI between groups, for example, tend to be between the Low and the Low-middle income groups. Conversely, there is often no statistically significant difference between the Upper-middle and High

income groups. This certainly suggests that increases in income have a greater impact at the low end of the spectrum compared with the higher end.

The second question this thesis sought to answer was whether or not there was any significant change in health status within SES groups from 1990 to 1996 or any change in the overall pattern of health-SES inequalities from one year to the other. The latter was measured by testing for interaction between the SES variable (either income or education) and year. Table 3.22 summarizes the results of the tests for interaction.

Looking only at the top half of the table, which summarizes the interaction results for health status and income, there is strong evidence of an interaction between year and income for the mean HUI. The interaction is also evident for the dichotomized HUI, but is not particularly strong with respect to Self-Rated Health and Activity Restriction. These results raise a number of interesting issues – one of which is the variability of results across the different measures of health status and in particular the very strong result for the mean HUI. In addressing this issue, it may be useful to first examine more closely changes in other social and economic indicators during the period 1990 to 1996.

For Ontario and most of North America, the year 1990 marked the end of a significant economic expansion. Between 1984 and 1989, the number employed grew by an average of 3.5% per year and payrolls for all industries combined grew an average of 8.7%. In 1990 this trend came to an abrupt halt, with the number employed actually decreasing by about one quarter of one percent and payroll growth slowing to only 4% per year (Statistics Canada, 1995).

By 1991 the economy was in full recession, with changes to wages, payrolls and employment numbers all in the negative range (Statistics Canada, 1995). Unemployment

jumped from 6.3% in 1990 to 9.6% in 1991 (Ontario Ministry of Finance, 1999) as many workers lost their jobs to "downsizing" and "right-sizing" and those looking to enter the workforce were unable to do so. Periods of unemployment were also longer in the early 90s. Between 1985-90, an average of 15.6% of those unemployed were classified as long-term unemployed, meaning they were unemployed 27 weeks or more.





Source: Ontario Ministry of Finance, 1999

Between 1991 and 1995 that figure nearly doubled, to an average of 29.5% (Ontario Ministry of Finance, 1999). Family poverty rates also increased during this time, rising from 9.6% in 1990 to a high of 13.3% in 1993. Working life during the early nineties was also difficult for those who remained employed, as they were asked to take

on more responsibility and work longer hours. In short, the early 1990s, from late 1990 until 1994 were stressful economic times for many, if not most, Ontarians.

Both poverty and unemployment are associated with a variety of negative health outcomes (Lynch et al., 1997; Shortt, 1996; Jones, 1997). The low health status of those at the lowest end of the SES-health gradient is indicative of the impact of poverty on health status. The Caledon Institute for Social Policy, a social policy think tank based in Ottawa, has documented that people in the lower income categories often experience food insecurity, substandard housing and difficulties meeting the medical needs of themselves and their children (Noce and O'Connell, 1998; Bezanson and McMurray, 2000).

Employment status, too, can have an impact on health status. Figure 3.15 shows how the mean HUI varied across employment status groups in 1996. For those between 25 and 64 without activity restriction, the mean HUI was significantly associated with employment status. Those who were currently working had the highest mean HUI, with those who were not working currently but who had worked during the previous 12 months significantly lower than the first group, and those who had not worked for at least 12 months showing the lowest mean HUI of the three. This association held true even after controlling for age, sex and behaviour (results not shown).

Given the nature and extent of the changes that occurred in Ontario in the early 90s, it is certainly reasonable to expect some impact on health status. But why did that impact appear to differ across health status measures? Part of the answer to this lies in the conceptual differences between the three health status measures. Social and economic changes certainly have an impact on health, but the impact varies in both

magnitude and rate across different aspects or domains of health. The following section examines each health status measure in turn, beginning with Activity Restriction, then Self-rated Health and finally the HUI, looking at the concepts and domains of health that each encompasses (based on Table 1.1) and extrapolating this to changes in health status that might be expected, given the social changes outlined above.

The first health status measure, Activity Restriction, is the narrowest of the three. From Table 1.1, it primarily encompasses that portion of the "Functional Status" section involving limitations in social roles. A change in this domain would likely take the longest to manifest, as it requires a change in physical health, leading to a change in physical functioning finally leading to a change in social role functioning. It is not surprising, then, that any gradients in Activity Restriction showed less change from 1990 to 1996 (see Figure 3.2) than the other two measures.

Self-rated Health Status, the next measure, comprises "General Health Perceptions" from Table 1.1. The criteria for the various levels of health are left to the respondent to define. As mentioned early in the review of the literature, studies of Selfrated Health suggest that its underlying health construct is complex, including both the respondent's experience of physical health and his or her knowledge and beliefs about preventive medicine, risk behaviours and health promotion (Manderbacka, 1998; Shadbolt, 1997). However, there is also evidence that the underlying construct may differ by culture, gender and age (Jylha et al., 1998; Shadbolt, 1997). For example, Shadbolt found that only older women took psychological aspects into account when evaluating their health. In addition, Smith et al. (1994) found evidence to suggest that individuals may use different criteria when rating their health as Fair or Poor compared

with Good-Excellent. Their results suggested that a rating of Fair or Poor was based almost exclusively on the respondent's experience of ill-health, while ratings of Good, Very Good or Excellent took into account not only the absence of ill-health, but also optimum weight, fitness and other factors. As well, a study by Goldstein et al. (1984) found that changes in perceived health status tend not to be associated with short-term changes in physical health but mainly with long-term chronic illness. A recent study of the responsiveness of the HUI and Self-rated Health to the development of chronic conditions found that Self-rated Health was indeed responsive (Kopec et al., under review). Another feature of Self-rated Health to bear in mind is that it only has five levels to begin with, which were then dichotomized into two – Fair/Poor and Good/Very Good/Excellent.

In light of this, what impact could the changes of the early 90s be expected to have on Self-rated Health? The answer is: probably not very much, for two reasons. In the first place, the fact that the five levels were dichotomized into two means withincategory changes (such as Fair to Poor or from Very Good or Excellent to Good) would not be captured. Secondly, the work of Smith et al. (1994) and Goldstein et al. (1984), suggest that it would require a major shift in health status, such as the development of serious chronic illness, to cause someone to lower their self-rating from Good/Very Good/Excellent to Fair/Poor. Such a change would likely need a longer lag time. Based on this, one might expect to see relatively little overall change in Self-rated Health, which is what this study found, with only men in the lowest-income category showing a significant increase in their relative risk of Fair/Poor health.

The final measure, the Health Utilities Index, is a multi-attribute index rather than a measure based on a single question, which makes it the most complex of the three. It encompasses the broadest range of concepts from Table 1.1 - including aspects of physical health status, psychological health status and impairment. It is also the measure that showed a consistently significant result in the interaction analysis. The reason for this may be the fact that the HUI includes not only physical functioning, but emotional and cognitive function as well. From the analysis of the individual components of the HUI (Figure 3.14) it is clear that emotion plays a major role, along with pain and mobility, in the decrease in HUI among the lowest income group. There was also a marked increase in pain and a loss of mobility among the lowest income group. Because the questions on which the HUI is based ask about pain in general, rather than just pain associated with a long term illness, it is also possible that this measure is picking up acute problems (such as short-term work-related injuries) as well as chronic ones. Thus, the fact that the HUI includes emotion as an explicit component, as well as the suggestion that it may be sensitive to both acute and long term chronic conditions, may make it particularly sensitive to negative life events such as involuntary unemployment, loss of income or economic uncertainty. It certainly appeared to be the most sensitive of the measures used here.

In comparing the results of the interaction analysis across health status measures, it is also important to note that the nature of the associations being modeled differed between the mean HUI analysis and the other analyses. The mean HUI analysis used linear risk modeling, which assumes additive (parallel) relations among the variables (Rothman and Greenland, 1998). In this case the test for interaction looks for nonparallel

slopes in the regression lines. The exponential model, which was used to model the association between SES and the dichotomous health status variables, uses a multiplicative risk model which assumes proportional relations between variables. The test for interaction tests for nonproportional differences in the regression lines. Any interaction must be greater than multiplicative, thus making the test much more stringent.

The preceding section outlined reasons why the impact of negative social and economic changes varied from one health status measure to another. However, there was also variability from one income group to another. As Figures 3.10 and 3.11 show, the magnitude of the change in HUI often increased as income decreased. Those in the lowest income group, who started out with the lowest health status, also tended to experience the greatest drop in health status from 1990 to 1996. This appears to be consistent with work by Duncan (1996) who showed that while incomes in general decline during a recession, incomes of the those at the bottom of the economic scale fall proportionately faster and farther than those in middle or at the upper end of the scale. They also recover more slowly, often not recovering fully before the onset of the next recession, leading to a stepwise, downward progression and increasing income inequality within the population. If the relationship between income and health is causal as some suggest (Ettner, 1996), then we could expect a concomitant decline in health status during recessions that is farther and faster for those in the lowest income group, and a slower improvement post-recession. And even if the drop in income among the lower income group was the same in absolute terms as that of the other income groups, the work of Backlund et al. (1999), outlined above, suggests that income drops of similar absolute value have a greater health impact at the lower than the upper end of the scale. Although

the studies by Duncan and Backlund et al. used data from the U.S. and work by Wolfson (1998) suggests that Canada experiences less income inequality than the U.S., the results of this analysis do appear to be consistent with the scenario described by Duncan.

While the decline in health status was generally larger in the low income group compared with the other groups, another interesting result was the finding that the HUI did not only decline in the lowest group, but in most other groups as well. It can be argued, based on the information about the general context of the early 1990s presented earlier, that no group was immune to the stresses that accompanied the social and economic changes of the time. Even those who did not experience a loss of employment or decline in income directly, were faced with the stresses of increased workload, increased expectations and having to do "more with less", which may have contributed to a general lowering of health status. Another factor which wasn't examined directly but should be mentioned is the independent impact of increased inequality at the societal level. Coburn (2000) argues that the shift in government policy at both the federal and provincial level during the 1990s from a "Keynesian welfare state" to an emphasis on competition and letting markets allocate resources, which he calls "neo-liberalism", has led to an erosion of the 'social safety net' and an increase in income inequality. Wilkinson (1996) and others (Lynch et al., 1998; Kawachi et al., 1997) posit that an increase in inequality leads to a decline in health status through decreased social cohesion and increased mistrust and insecurity.

II. Health Status and Education

This study also examined the relationship between health status and education. Many studies of SES and health status have used education as their SES measure because

it is easy to collect, relatively stable (unlike income) and it has generally been assumed that education is so closely related to income and occupation (the other two most common measures of SES) that it can easily serve as a proxy for the other two. The results of this study raise questions about the validity of this latter assumption. While the association between health status and income took the form of a non-linear but still measurable gradient, the results with respect to education clearly suggest a threshold effect. In virtually every case, whether for the population as a whole or stratified by age or sex, there was virtually no difference in health status between the top two education groups (those with a high school diploma and those with some type of post-secondary credential), but a large gap between these two highest groups and the lowest education group (in this case less than a high school diploma).

This represents a divergence from previously published work, in which a clear gradient has almost always been found with education (House et al., 1990; Winkleby, 1992; Slater et al., 1985). In fact, House et al. found the relationship between education and health status to be the more linear, with the pattern of inequality by income tended to be nonlinear. Winkleby concluded that "the univariate relationship between SES and risk factors [for cardiovascular disease] was strongest and most consistent for education, showing higher risk associated with lower levels of education" (p 818).

One possible explanation for this divergence from previous work might be the additional control for confounding in this study. Winkleby, for example, only controlled for age and sex; House et al., controlled for a number of sociodemographic variables (age, sex, race, marital status) but were not able to control for behaviour. Slater et al.

did control for a variety of health behaviours, but used slightly different cutpoints at the upper end of the education scale.

It is also possible that the differences represent real changes in the relationship between education and health status. Educational attainment has been evolving in the population and some of the data used in the previous studies cited was from the late 1970s and early 1980s. The studies cited were also all based on U.S. data, and there may be national differences at work here as well.

Explanations for why the pattern of inequality should be so different for education compared with income in the same population may lie with the role of educational attainment within the population and how it has changed in recent years. To begin with, the relationship between education and health is complex, acting as it does in the realm of both social class and social status (Liberatos, 1988). The level of education a person attains can affect his or her behaviour, lifestyle and social networks, which are part of social status, but it can also influence income and occupation, aspects of social class. As well, as Liberatos et al., (1988) and Krieger et al. (1997) point out, significant changes have been occurring in North America with respect to education. The first of these is the strong cohort effect. Throughout the 20th century the average level of educational attainment increased with each successive cohort. More recently, there has also been an increasing homogeneity in educational attainment, as a greater and greater proportion of the population have the opportunity to earn post-secondary degrees and diplomas (generally the highest level of education measured). Finally, the economic changes of the past decade or so have blurred the lines of income and opportunity for those with varying levels of education past high school graduation. For example, a person with "only" a

high school diploma is no longer automatically relegated to a low socioeconomic group, either in terms of social class or social status, if he or she has strong creative or entrepreneurial skills. Conversely, a post-secondary degree or diploma is no longer a guarantee of higher social position, either in terms of occupation and income or even in terms of social status. This evolving situation may offer some explanation for the apparent change in the relationship between education and health status.

Looking at the education-health status results for the sexes separately, the threshold effect is evident for men for all four health status measures and for women with respect to the dichotomous HUI, self-rated health and activity restriction. The exception to this pattern was the mean HUI analysis for women, which did show a clear gradient with educational attainment.

In the age-stratified analysis, there was a general threshold pattern for those under age 65, with the lowest education group having much lower health status than the other two groups. Over age 65 there was no difference between the groups in 1990, but the threshold effect was again evident for those over 65 for the dichotomous HUI and for Self-rated Health Status.

Changes in health status within education groups and overall changes in the pattern of health inequalities from 1990 to 1996 across education groups were also examined. The income-health status analysis revealed both a general decline in health status as measured by the HUI and a significant change in the pattern of inequalities, due in large part to the fact that the decline in HUI was much larger for the lower income group than the higher ones. The situation was somewhat different with respect to education. While the mean HUI again dropped for all education groups in the population

as a whole, there was not the same consistent pattern evident across subgroups that one saw in the case of income. The population as a whole and women show the pattern of general decline in health status and increasing magnitude of the decline with decreasing education. However, of these two, only women showed a significant interaction. The age group 65-74 also showed a significant change in the pattern of inequalities, but in this case the mean HUI of the upper two education groups rose, while that of the lowest group fell.

There was no significant change in the association with education for either the dichotomous HUI or Self-rated Health. Activity Restriction, on the other hand, did show a significant interaction both overall and for the 45-64 year age group. However, it appears as though this interaction is the result of a decrease in inequality among groups from 1990 to 1996, rather than an increase in inequality as was evident for income.

III. Study Limitations

There are a number of limitations to this thesis that must be acknowledged. The first of these is the fact that the study was using two cross-sectional surveys to examine longitudinal trends. The use of cross-sectional data precludes the drawing of conclusions with respect to causality and limits such conclusions to general patterns. Ideally, a similar study should be conducted using longitudinal data, which would give a more accurate picture of the nature of the relationships between the variables being studied.

Secondly, as outlined in the Methods chapter, the data collection methodologies differed in important ways from one survey to the other. It is difficult to gauge the total impact of the fact that the first survey used a combination of face-to-face interviews and self-completed survey while the other was carried out completely by telephone using

Computer Assisted Telephone Interviewing (CATI). One noticeable effect was on response rates to certain questions. Response rates differed substantially on a few questions such as those dealing with physical activity, for which the response rate was much higher in 1996 than in 1990, and for income, which had a much higher response rate in 1990 than in 1996. There are several ways of dealing with item missing values. One option is simply to exclude incomplete observations. Another is to create a separate category called "missing" and treat it as a distinct group. A third method that is often used is imputation, in which the missing value is assigned or "imputed" based on other respondent characteristics. The benefit of imputation is that it permits all observations to be used. The downside to imputation is that it requires the analyst to make assumptions about the relationships and associations between variables when choosing imputation categories. As well, it has been suggested that the cell mean method of imputation will distort the relationship between imputed and nonimputed variables, thus leading to incorrect significance test results (Andersen et al., 1979).

In this study, for the questions which had a large proportion of missing values (more than 2%), missing was included as a separate category. This allowed the rest of the information from the respondent to be used, even if no useful information was provided on the question with the missing value, thus avoiding the loss of power that results from excluding observations. Still, the non-responses on these represent an unfortunate loss of information and greater efforts should be made in the future to ensure that the information provided by the respondent is complete.

Another cause for concern with respect to data quality is its representativeness, particularly with regard to education. Statistics Canada reports in the

results from the 1991 Census that 34.7% of the population over age 25 had less than a high school diploma. In the 1990 OHS sample the proportion in this group was 34.3%, very close to the census figure. In 1996, based on the 1996 Census, the proportion with less than a high school diploma was 30.6%. However, the figure from the 1996 OHS was only 20.6% unweighted, 20.1% when the sampling weights were applied. An analysis of the distribution of the population with less than a high school diploma across age groups revealed the greatest differences in the 25-44 and 55-64 year age groups. Those in the 25-44 year group without a high school diploma were oversampled in the OHS96 compared with the 96 Census, while those in the 55-64 year age group were substantially underrepresented. Since younger people generally have higher levels of health status than older, the effect of this would probably be to overestimate the health of those with less than a high school education. The reality may be that the differences in health status between those with and without a high school diploma are actually larger than shown in this analysis.

The data in Table 3.1b also demonstrates certain differences between the two survey samples, but in this case there is reason to believe that these may be the result of real changes occurring in the province of Ontario rather than some type of systematic sampling bias. The samples do not differ substantially with respect to age or sex and the geographic difference is intentional and is accounted for by weighting. The other differences in the variables shown in Table 3.1b may be the result of Ontario becoming more ethnoculturally diverse (which it is); having reduced access to health care, including family physicians; and the drop in sources of income may be the result of the disappearance of thousands of jobs in the early 90s. Rather than being an indication of

bias, the results of this comparison may be part of the changes in the Ontario situation that this thesis was intended to study.

Finally, there are the differences in the Self-rated Health and Activity Restriction questions from 1990 survey to the 1996/97 one. In 1990, respondents were asked to compare their health or their activity restriction with others their age. In 1996 they were simply asked, "How would you rate your health?" or "Are you forced to limit your activities at home, school etc." It is difficult to gauge exactly what the impact of this difference might be. However, one can imagine that the age qualification might cause people in the younger age groups to evaluate their health more critically, as the general expectation would be for perfect or near-perfect health. On the other hand, at older ages, where overall health expectations are lower, the tendency might be in the other direction, with even someone with mild or moderate health conditions thinking along the lines of, "I think I'm doing pretty well for someone my age". The impact of this on the comparison between the two years would then be as follows: At the younger ages, in 1990 one would find people reporting Fair/Poor health at a higher functional level compared to 1996. At the older ages, in 1990 people would tend to report higher levels of health at lower functional levels. This expectation was tested in a very rudimentary fashion using the Health Utilities Index as a measure of functional status. It revealed that, among the age group 25-44, the mean HUI for those reporting Fair or Poor health was higher in 1990 than 1996. Among the group 65 years and over, those reporting Excellent or Very Good health had lower mean HUIs in 1990 compared with 1996. This tends to support the theory outlined above. To get around these differences, only relative risks were compared between the two years.
IV. Implications for Health and Social Policy and Research

When government-funded health and hospital insurance was introduced in Ontario, there was an expectation that the elimination of financial barriers to access to medical care would also eventually lead to the elimination of income-related differences in health status. The results of this thesis have demonstrated that this has not happened. Significant income and education-related differences in health status continue to exist in Ontario. These results also suggest that the gap between those at the lowest end of the SES spectrum and the rest of the population may be getting wider. The question now is, what suggestion do these findings have for future research.

Beginning with an issue that has surfaced throughout this thesis, there is a need for population-based information about health status and its determinants that is both consistent and long term. While cross-sectional health-related surveys have been conducted in Canada since the late 1970s, attempts to use them to track trends over time face problems related to variable incompatibility and differences in sampling and administration methodologies that make such research difficult. The Canadian Community Health Survey, a series of national and provincial cross-sectional surveys to be conducted biennially starting in 2000, was designed to provide such data. One hopes that it will not only provide data on a consistent and long-term basis, but that efforts will be made to minimize the occurrence of missing values, another problem with available survey data identified in this study.

Moving beyond data issues, there is a general need for more Ontario-based research into this association between socioeconomic status and health status. To give an example, one important area of current research in this area in the U.S. is into causal

137

mechanisms. Within this field of inquiry, one question being examined is the role of social and physical environments. Adler (2000) recently cited research conducted in the U.K. and the U.S. which has shown that neighbourhoods that have a relatively low mean income also tend to be poorer with respect to the services and choices available to their residents. This included fewer physicians, pharmacies, recreational facilities and supermarkets, the latter leading to more expensive 'healthy' food. The question for researchers and policy makers in Ontario is whether the same situation hold true for Ontario. Do individuals with lower incomes in Ontario also experience disadvantaged social environments? How widespread is this and what can be done to ameliorate the situation?

There is also a need for more research into the measurement of health status. This is prompted by the finding in this study of a difference in the association between SES and health status over time, depending on which measure of health status was used. This thesis has also raised questions about the measurement properties of the Health Utilties Index, particularly the emotion component.

There is a need for more research into the dynamics of the association between health status and income. The results of this analysis indicate that health status increases with income, cross-sectionally. However, there is a need for a better understanding of how this relationship works longitudinally. For example, it is easy to imagine how someone's health can drop if their income suddenly drops due to unemployment etc., but is the reverse true – can you raise someone's health by increasing their income? How long are the lag times in each case. Information such as this would be valuable, for

138

example, if policymakers were to seek ways to mitigate the negative health effects of recessionary periods.

Finally, there is a need for research into ways to reduce the SES-related disparities in health evident in Ontario. So-called 'agendas for action' have been or are in the process of being developed in countries such as the U.K. (Acheson, 1998; Tarlov, 1999) and the U.S. (Moss, 2000). There is a need for researchers to identify, based on existing and emerging information about factors influencing the SES-health status association in Ontario, strategies that could be implemented as part of a plan to reduce SES-related health disparities in this province.

V. Summary and Conclusions

This thesis sought to explore the association between socioeconomic status and health status in Ontario in 1990 and 1996. As expected, a positive association was found between SES, as measured by income and education, and health status as measured by all three measures – the Health Utilities Index, Self-rated Health and Activity Restriction. This was true for both years, even after controlling for potential confounders.

Health status in 1990 and 1996 within SES groups was compared using the Health Utilities Index. The adjusted mean HUI values for most groups fell from 1990 to 1996, with the largest declines evident in the lowest SES group. Finally, an interaction analysis was carried out to determine if the pattern of SES-related health inequality had changed from 1990 to 1996. It showed a significant interaction between year, income and the HUI, which was interpreted to mean that inequality in health status as measured by the HUI increased from one time to the other. The other measures of health status did not show the same degree of change over the time period. The results of these analyses indicate, first of all, that socioeconomic status has a significant impact on the health of Ontarians, even though there are no financial barriers to accessing required medical care. Being "poor" in Ontario (in the lowest income category) or not having a high school diploma approximately doubles one's risk of poor health when compared with those in the highest category, even after adjusting for age, sex, household type, and health-related behaviour.

These results also suggest that serious recessionary periods can have relatively broad negative health effects (at least as measured by the Health Utilities Index), and that those at the lowest end of the SES spectrum, whose health is already poorer relative to the rest of the population, are the most vulnerable to such effects, as shown by their greater declines in health. More research is needed, not only into the causal mechanisms involved in this association, but into ways to reduce the health risks faced by those at the lower end of the SES scale.

References

_. SAS Version 6.12. Cary, NC: The SAS Institute, 1996.

Acheson, Sir D. Independent Inquiry into Inequalities in Health. London: Her Majesty's Stationery Office, 1998.

ACPH (Federal, Provincial and Territorial Advisory Committee on Population Health). **Toward a Healthy Future**. Ottawa: Minister of Public Works and Government Services, 1999.

Aday LA. Designing and Conducting Health Surveys 2nd Edition. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass, 1996.

Adler NE. Presentation made at the 2000 Annual Meeting of the American Public Health Association, 2000.

Adler NE, Boyce WT, Chesney MA, Folkman S and Syme SL. Socioeconomic inequalities in health: no easy solution. JAMA. 269:3140-3145, 1993.

Adler NE, Boyce T, Chesney MA, Cohen S, Folkman S, Kahn RL and Syme L. Socioeconomic status and health: The challenge of the gradient. American Psychologist. 49(1):15-24, 1994.

Adler NE, Marmot M, McEwen BS and Stewart J. (eds.) Socioeconomic Status and Health in Industrial Nations: Social, Psychological and Biological Pathways. New York Academy of Sciences Annals No. 896, 1999.

Allison KR. Predictors of Inactivity: An Analysis of the Ontario Health Survey. Canadian Journal of Public Health. 87(5):354-358, 1996.

Allison PD. Survival Analysis Using the SAS System: A Practical Guide. Cary, NC: The SAS Institute, 1995.

Andersen R, Kasper J, Frankel MR and Associates. Total Survey Error. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass, 1979.

Anderson N. Solving the Puzzle of Socioeconomic Status and Health: The Need for Integrated, Multilevel, Interdisciplinary Research. in Socioeconomic Status and Health in Industrial Nations: Social, Psychological and Biological Pathways. New York Academy of Sciences Annals No. 896, 1999.

Anderson NB and Armstead CA. Toward understanding the association of socioeconomic status and health: a new challenge for the biopsychosocial approach. **Psychosomatic Medicine.** 57(3):213-225, 1995.

Antonovsky A. Social class, life expectancy and overall mortality. The Milbank Memorial Fund Quarterly. 45(2):31-73, 1967.

Backlund E, Sorlie PD, Johnson NJ. The shape of the relationship between income and mortality in the United States: evidence from the National Longitudinal Mortality Study. Annals of Epidemiology. 691):12-20, 1996.

Badley EM, Yoshida K, Webster G and Stephens M. Disablement and Chronic Health **Problems in Ontario.** Ontario Health Survey 1990 Working Paper No. 5. Toronto: Ministry of Health, 1993.

Badley EM and Ibanez D. Socioeconomic risk factors and musculoskeletal disability. Journal of Rheumatology. 21(3):515-522, 1994.

Beaton DE, Hogg-Johnson S and Bombardier C. Evaluating changes in health status: reliability and responsiveness of five generic health status measures in workers with musculoskeletal disorders. Journal of Clinical Epidemiology. 50(1):79-93, 1997.

Bergner M. Quality of life, health status and clinical research. Medical Care. 27(3):S148-S156, 1989.

Berkman L. Assessing the physical health effects of social networks and social support. Annual Review of Public Health. 5:413-32, 1984.

Bernstein B. Class, Codes and Control. London: Routledge, 1971.

Berthelot J-M, Roberge R and Wolfson MC. The calculation of health-adjusted life expectancy for a Canadian province using a multi-attribute utility function: a first attempt. in Calculation of health expectancies: harmonization, consensus achieved and future perspectives. Robine J-M, Mathers CD and Bone I, eds. London: John Libbey and Company, 1993.

Bezanson K and McMurray S. Booming for Whom? People in Ontario Talk About Incomes, Jobs and Social Programs. Speaking Out Project Periodic Report #5, Ottawa: Caledon Institute of Social Policy, 2000.

Black D, Morris JN, Smith C and Townsend P. *The Black Report*. P Townsend and N Davidson eds. published in **Inequalities in Health.** by Townsend P, Davidson N and Whitehead M. London: Penguin, 1988.

Boyle MH, Furlong W, Feeny D, Torrance GW and Hatcher J. Reliability of the Health Utilities Index—Mark III used in the 1991 cycle 6 Canadian General Social Survey Health Questionnaire. Quality of Life Research. 4(3):249-257, 1995.

Brenner MH. Estimating the effects of economic change on national health and social well-being. A study prepared for use of the Subcommittee on Economic Goals and Intergovernmental Policy, Joint Economic Committee, US Congress, Washington, DC: US Government Printing Office, 1984.

Breslow N. Covariance Analysis of Censored Survival Data. Biometrics. 30:89-99, 1974.

Brown EM and Goel V. Factors related to emergency department use: Results from the Ontario Health Survey 1990. Annals of Emergency Medicine. 24(6):1083-1091, 1994.

Bunker JP, Frazier HS and Mosteller F. Improving health: Measuring the effects of medical care. The Milbank Quarterly. 72(2):225-258, 1994.

Burke M, Stevenson HM, Armstrong P, Feldberg G, Rosenberg H. Working Paper No. 3: Women, Work and Health Inequalities. Toronto: Ontario Ministry of Health, 1993.

Canadian Council on Social Development (CCSD). Adapting to a Changing Ontario Economy. Background paper released November 23, 1995.

Canadian Council on Social Development (CCSD). Poverty rates for selected nonelderly family types, 1980-1995; Family poverty rate, Canada and the Provinces, 1980-1995. Prepared by the Centre for International Statistics at the Canadian Council for Social Development, 1997.

Cassel J. The contribution of the social environment to host resistance. American Journal of Epidemiology. 104(2):107-123, 1976.

Chipman, Mary. OHS Working Paper No. 1: A Population-Based Study of Injury-Producing Accidents. Toronto: Ontario Ministry of Health, 1993.

Coburn, D. Income inequality, social cohesion and the health status of populations: the role of neo-liberalism. Social Science and Medicine. 51:135-146, 2000.

Corin, E. *The Social and Cultural Matrix of Health and Disease* in Why Are Some People Healthy and Others Not? RG Evans, M Barer, and T Marmor, eds. New York: Aldine de Gruyter, 1994.

Cousins SO. Validity and reliability of self-reported health of persons aged 70 and older. Health Care for Women International. 18:165-174, 1997.

Cummings SR, Nevitt MC, Browner WS et al. Risk factors for hip fracture in white women. New England Journal of Medicine. 36:419-427, 1995.

Davies HTO, Crombie IK, Tavakoli M. When can odds ratios mislead? British Medical Journal. 316:989-991, 1998.

Duncan GJ. Income Dynamics and Health. International Journal of Health Services. 26(3):419-444, 1996.

Ecob R and Davey Smith G. Income and health: what is the nature of the relationship? Social Science and Medicine. 48:693-705, 1999.

Erickson P, Kendall E, Anderson J, and Kaplan RM. Using composite health status measures to assess the nation's health. Medical Care. 27(3):S66-S76, 1989.

Ettner SL. New evidence on the relationship between income and health. Journal of Health Economics. 15:67-85, 1996.

Evans RG and Stoddart GL. *Producing health, consuming health care.* in Why Are Some People Healthy and Others Not? RG Evans, M Barer, and T Marmor, eds. New York: Aldine de Gruyter, 1994.

Evans RG, Barer M, and Marmor T, eds. Why Are Some People Healthy and Others Not? New York: Aldine de Gruyter, 1994.

Feeny DH, Torrance GW and Furlong WJ. Chapter 26: Health Utilities Index. in **Quality of Life and Pharmacoeconomics in Clinical Trials, Second Edition.** B. Spilker ed. Philadelphia: Lippincott-Raven, 1996.

Fein O. The influence of social class on health status: American and British Research on Health Inequalities. Journal of General Internal Medicine. 10:577-586, 1995.

Feldman JJ, Makuc DM, Kleinman JC and Cornoni-Huntley J. *National trends in educational differentials in mortality*. American Journal of Epidemiology. 129(5):919-933, 1989.

Fordham Institute for Innovation in Social Policy. 1995 Index of Social Health: Monitoring the Social Well-being of the Nation. New York: Fordham University, 1995

Frank JW and Mustard JF. *The determinants of health from a historical perspective*. **Daedalus.** 123(4):1-20, 1994.

Frankel M. Sampling Theory. in Rossi PH, Wright JD and Anderson AB (eds.). Handbook of Survey Research. San Diego: Academic Press, 1983.

Germani, Gino. Marginality. New Brunswick, New Jersey: Transaction Books, 1980.

Goel V. Factors associated with cervical cancer screening: Results from the Ontario Health Survey. Canadian Journal of Public Health. 85(2):125-127, 1994.

Gold M, Franks P and Erickson P. Assessing the health of the nation: the predictive validity of a preference-based measure and self-rated health. Medical Care. 34(2):163-177, 1996.

Goldstein MS, Siegel JM and Boyer R. *Predicting changes in perceived health status*. **American Journal of Public Health.** 74:611-14, 1984.

Gregorio DI, Walsh SJ and Paturzo D. The effects of occupation-based social position on mortality in a large American cohort. American Journal of Public Health. 87(9):1472-1475, 1997.

Greiner PA, Snowdon DA and Greiner LH. The relationship of self-rated function and self-rated health to concurrent functional ability, functional decline and mortality: Findings from the Nun study. Journal of Gerontology: Social Sciences. 51B(5):5234-5241, 1996.

Haan M, Kaplan GA and Camacho T. Poverty and health: prospective evidence from the Alameda County Study. American Journal of Epidemiology. 125(6):989-998, 1987.

Hahn RA, Eaker E, Barker D, Teutsch SM, Sosniak W and Krieger N. Poverty and death in the United States. Epidemiology. 6(5):490-497, 1995.

Hay DI. Socioeconomic status and health status: a study of males in the Canada Health Survey. Social Science and Medicine. 27(12):1317-1325, 1988.

Hemingway H, Nicholson A, Roberts R and Marmot M. The impact of socioeconomic status on health functioning as assessed by the SF-36 questionnaire: the Whitehall II Study. American Journal of Public Health. 87(9):1484-1490, 1997.

Hertzman C, Frank J and Evans RG. *Heterogeneities in Health Status and the Determinants of Population Health* in Why Are Some People Healthy and Others Not? RG Evans, M Barer, and T Marmor, eds. New York: Aldine de Gruyter, 1994.

Hertzman C. The lifelong impact of childhood experiences: a population health perspective. **Daedalus.** 123(4):167-180, 1994.

Holosko M and Feit MD eds. Health and Poverty. New York: The Haworth Press, 1997.

House JS, Kessler RC, Herzog R, Mero RP, Kinney AM and Breslow MJ. Age, socioeconomic status and health. Milbank Quarterly. 68(3):383-411.

Human Resources Development Canada. How do we know that times are improving in Canada? Bulletin of the Applied Research Branch vol. 2 no. 2., 1997.

Idler EL and Benyamini Y. Self-rated health and mortality: A review of twenty-seven community studies. Journal of Health and Social Behavior. 38:21-37, 1997.

Iron K and Goel V. Sex differences in the factors related to hospital utilization: Results from the 1990 Ontario Health Survey. Journal of Women's Health. 7(3):359-369, 1998.

Jaglal SB and Goel V. Social inequity in risk of coronary artery disease in Ontario. Canadian Journal of Cardiology. 10(4):439-443, 1994.

Jones L. The health consequences of economic recessions. in **Health and Poverty.** Holosko M and Feit MD eds. New York: The Haworth Press, 1997.

Judge K. Income distribution and life expectancy: a critical appraisal. British Medical Journal. 311:1282-1285, 1995.

Jylha M, Guralinik JM, Ferrucci L, Jokela J and Heikkinen. *Is self-rated health comparable across cultures and genders?* Journals of Gerontology: SOCIAL SCIENCES. 53B(3):S144-S152, 1998.

Kaplan GA, Pamuk E, Lynch JW, Cohen RD and Balfour JL. Inequality in income and mortality in the United States: analysis of mortality and potential pathways. British Medical Journal. 312:999-1003, 1996.

Kaplan GA, Strawbridge WJ, Camacho T and Cohen RD. Factors associated with change in physical functioning in the elderly. Journal of Aging and Health. 5:140-153, 1993.

Kasenda M, Calzavara LM, Johnson I and LeBlanc M. Correlates of condom use in the young adult population in Ontario. Canadian Journal of Public Health. 88(4):280-285, 1997.

Katz SJ and Hofer TP. Socioecnomic disparities in preventive care persist despite universal coverage: Breast and cervical screening in Ontario and the United States. JAMA. 272(7):530-534, 1994.

Katz SJ, Hofer TP and Manning WG. Hospital utilization in Ontario and the United States: The impact of socioeconomic status and health status. Canadian Journal of Public Health. 87(4):253-256, 1996a.

Katz SJ, Hofer TP, Manning WG. Physician use in Ontario and the United States: The impact of socioeconomic status and health status. American Journal of Public Health 86(4):520-524, 1996b.

Kawachi I and Kennedy BP. Health and social cohesion: why care about income inequality? British Medical Journal. 314:1037-1040, 1997.

Kawachi I, Kennedy BP, Lochner K and Prothrow-Stith D. Social capital, income inequality and mortality. American Journal of Public Health. 87(9):1491-1498, 1997.

Keller HH, Ostbye T and Bright-See E. Predictors of Dietary Intake in Ontario Seniors. Canadian Journal of Public Health. 88(5):305-309, 1997.

Kelsey JL, Whittemore AS, Evans AS and Thompson WD. Methods in Observational Epidemiology. New York: Oxford University Press, 1996.

Kennedy BP, Kawachi I and Prothrow-Stith D. Income distribution and mortality: cross sectional ecological study of the Robin Hood index in the United States. British Medical Journal. 312:1004-1007, 1996.

Kitagawa EM and Hauser PM. Differential mortality in the United States: a study in socioeconomic epidemiology. Cambridge, Mass: Harvard University Press, 1973.

Kopec JA, Schultz SE, Goel V and Williams JI. Can the Health Utilities Index Measure Change? Medical Care (under review).

Krieger N and Fee E. Social class: the missing link in US health data. International Journal of Health Services. 24(1):25-44, 1994.

Krieger N, Williams DR and Moss NE. Measuring social class in US public health research: concepts, methodologies and guidelines. Annual Review of Public Health. 18:341-78, 1997.

Laroche M. In and out of low income. Canadian Social Trends. 50:20-24, 1998.

Last JM. Inequalities in health. Canadian Journal of Public Health. 73: 377-378, 1982.

Lee J. Odds Ratio or Relative Risk for Cross-Sectional Data? International Journal of Epidemiology. 23(1):201-203, 1994.

Liberatos P, Link BG and Kelsey JL. *The measurement of social class in epidemiology*. **Epidemiologic Reviews.** 10:87-121, 1988.

Liira JP, Shannon HS, Chambers LW and Haines TA. Long-term back problems and physical work exposure in the 1990 Ontario Health Survey. American Journal of Public Health. 86(3):382-387, 1996.

Lundberg O and Manderbacka K. Assessing reliability of a measure of self-rated health. Scandinavian Journal of Social Medicine. 24(3):218-224, 1996.

Lynch JA, Kaplan GA and Shema SJ. Cumulative impact of sustained economic hardship on physical, cognitive, psychological and social functioning. New England Journal of Medicine. 337(26):1889-1895, 1997.

Lynch JA, Kaplan GA, Pamuk E, Cohen RD, Heck KE, Balfour JL and Yen IH. *Income inequality and mortality in metropolitan areas of the United States*. American Journal of Public Health. 88(7):1074-1080, 1998.

MacIntyre S. The Black Report and beyond: what are the issues? Social Science and Medicine. 44(6):723-745, 1997.

Manderbacka K, Lahelma E and Martikainen P. Examining the continuity of self-rated health. International Journal of Epidemiology. 27:208-213, 1998.

Manderbacka K. Examining what self-rated health question is understood to mean by respondents. Scandinavian Journal of Social Medicine. 26(2):145-153, 1998.

Manuel DG. Health-adjusted life expectancy at the local level in Ontario. Master's thesis. University of Toronto, 1997.

Marmot MG, Kogevinas M and Elston MA. Social/economic status and disease. Annual Review of Public Health. 8:111-35, 1987.

Marmot MG, Rose G, Shipley M and Hamilton PJ. Employment grade and coronary heart disease in British civil servants. Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health. 32(4):244-9, 1978.

Marmot MG, Shipley MJ and Rose G. Inequalities in death – specific explanations of a general pattern? Lancet. 8384 (1):1003-6, 1984.

Marmot MG. Social differentials in health within and between populations. Daedalus. 123(4):197-210, 1994.

Martel L and Belanger A. An analysis of the change in dependence-free life expectancy in Canada between 1986 and 1996. in **Report on the Demographic Situation in Canada 1998-99.** Belanger, A, ed. Ottawa: Statistics Canada, 1999.

McDonough P, Duncan GJ, Williams D and House J. Income dynamics and adult mortality in the United States, 1972 through 1989. American Journal of Public Health. 87(9):1476-1483, 1997.

McDonough P, Rootman I, Corey P, Ferrence R. OHS Working Paper No. 4: Interrelations Among Health Behaviours. Toronto: Ontario Ministry of Health, 1993.

McDowell I and Newell C. Measuring Health: a guide to rating scales and questionnaires. New York: Oxford University Press, 1996.

McIsaac W, Goel V, Naylor D. Socio-economic status and visits to physicians by adults in Ontario, Canada. Journal of Health Services Research and Policy. 2(2):94-102, 1997.

McGrail KM, Ostry A, Thomas VS and Sanmartin C. Determinants of Population Health: a synthesis of the literature. Final Report to Health Canada, Contract No. 97-0108, December 1998.

McKeown T, Record RG and Turner RD. An Interpretation of the decline in mortality in England and Wales during the twentieth century. **Population Studies**. 29: 391-422, 1975.

Mercer S. and Goel V. Factors associated with the use of mammography: the Ontario Health Survey. Cancer Prevention and Control. 1(2):144-151, 1997.

Miilunpalo S, Vuori I, Oja P, Pasanen M and Urponen H. Self-rated health status as a health measure: the predictive value of self-reported health status on the use of physician services and on mortality in the working-age population. Journal of Clinical Epidemiology. 50(5):517-28, 1997.

Mittmann N, Trakas K, Risebrough N and Liu BA. Utility scores for chronic conditions in a community-dwelling population. Pharmacoeconomics. 15(4):369-376, 1999.

Moller L, Kristensen TS and Hollnagel H. Self-rated health as a predictor of coronary heart disease in Copenhagen, Denmark. Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health. 50(4):423-8, 1996.

Morris, Lydia. Dangerous Classes: The underclass and social citizenship. New York: Routledge, 1994.

Moss N. Socioeconomic disparities in health in the US: An agenda for action. Social Science and Medicine. 51(11):1627-1638, 2000.

Mulley AG Jr. Assessing patient's utilities: Can the ends justify the means? Medical Care. 27(3):S269-S281, 1989.

Mustard CA, Derksen S, Berthelot J-M, Wolfson M and Roos LL. *Age-specific education and income gradients in morbidity and mortality in a Canadian province.* **Social Science and Medicine.** 45(3):383-397, 1997.

Newman, K. Summary: What Is to Be Done? in Socioeconomic Status and Health in Industrial Nations: Social, Psychological and Biological Pathways. New York Academy of Sciences Annals No. 896, 1999.

Noce L and O'Connell A. Take It or Leave It: The Ontario Government's Approach to Job Insecurity. Speaking Out Project Periodic Report #1, Ottawa: Caledon Institute of Social Policy, 1998.

Ontario Ministry of Finance. **1999 Ontario Economic Outlook and Fiscal Review.** from website: <u>http://www.gov.on.ca/fin/english/oecoeng.htm#oe99</u>.

Ontario Ministry of Health. Ontario Health Survey 1990: User's Guide Volume 1, Documentation, 1992.

Ostbye T, Pomerleau J, Speechley M, Pederson LL and Speechley KN. Correlates of Body Mass Index in the 1990 Ontario Health Survey. Canadian Medical Association Journal. 152(11):1811-1817, 1995.

Pamuk ER. Social class inequality in mortality from 1921 to 1972 in England and Wales. Population Studies. 39:17-31, 1985.

Pappas G, Queen S, Hadden W and Fisher G. The increasing disparity in mortality between socioeconomic groups in the United States, 1960 and 1986. The New England Journal of Medicine. 329(2):103-109, 1993.

Patrick DL and Bergner M. *Measurement of Health Status in the 1990s*. Annual Review of Public Health. 11:165-83, 1990.

Patrick DL and Deyo RA. Generic and disease-specific measures in assessing health status and quality of life. Medical Care. 27(3):S217-S232, 1989.

PHRED (Public Health Research, Education and Development Program). Report on the Health Status of the Residents of Ontario. February 2000.

Picot G. What is Happening to Earnings Inequality and Youth Wages in the 1990s? Ottawa: Statistics Canada, 1998.

Pomerleau J, Pederson LL, Ostbye T, Speechley M and Speechley KN. *Health behaviours and socio-economic status in Ontario, Canada.* European Journal of Epidemiology. 13:613-622, 1997.

Power C, Manor O, Fox AJ and Fogelman K. *Health in childhood and social inequalities in young adults*. Journal of the Royal Statistical Society (series A). 153:17-28, 1990.

Putnam RD. Making democracy work. Civic traditions in modern Italy. Princeton: Princeton University Press, 1993.

Roberge R, Berthelot J-M and Wolfson M. The Health Utility Index: Measuring Health Differences in Ontario by Socioeconomic Status. Health Reports 7(2):25-32, 1995a.

Roberge R, Berthelot J-M and Wolfson M. *Health and Socio-eonomic Inequalities*. Canadian Social Trends. Summer 1995b.

Rose G and Marmot M. Social class and coronary heart disease. British Heart Journal, 1981: 13-19.

Rossi PH, Wright JD and Anderson AB. Handbook of Survey Research. San Diego: Academic Press, 1983.

Rothman K and Greenland S. Modern Epidemiology, Second Edition. Philadelphia: Lippincott, Williams and Wilkens, 1998.

Schwartz LM, Woloshin S and Welch HG. *Misunderstandings about the effects of race and sex on physician's referrals for cardiac catheterization*. New England Journal of Medicine. 341(4):279-282, 1999.

Scott, John. Poverty and Wealth: Citizenship, deprivation and privilege. New York: Longman, 1994.

Shadbolt B. Some correlates of self-rated health for Australian women. American Journal of Public Health. 87(6):951-956, 1997.

Shookner M. The Quality of Life in Ontario 1997. Report prepared for the Ontario Social Development Council, The Social Planning Council of Ontario and the Centre for Health Promotion, University of Toronto, 1997.

Shortt SED. Is unemployment pathogenic: A review of current concepts with lessons for policy planners. International Journal of Health Services. 26(3):569-589, 1996.

Sidel, Ruth. Women and Children Last: The Plight of Poor Women in Affluent America. New York: Penguin, 1992.

Slater CH and Charlton B. Behavior, lifestyle and socioeconomic variables as determinants of health status: implications for health policy development. American Journal of Preventive Medicine. 1(5):25-33, 1985.

Slater CH, Lorimor RJ and Lairson DR. *The independent contributions of socioeconomic status and health practices to health status*. **Preventive Medicine.** 14:372-378, 1985.

Smith A, Shelley JM and Dennersteing L. Self-rated health: biological continuum or social discontinuity? Social Science and Medicine. 39:77-83, 1994.

Statistics Canada. Annual Estimates of Employment, Earnings and Hours 1983-1994. Catalogue No. 72F0002XPB. Ottawa: Minister of Industry, Science and Technology, 1995.

Statistics Canada. Income Distributions by Size, 1995. Catalogue No. 13-207-XPB. Ottawa: Minister of Industry, Science and Technology, 1996.

Statistics Canada. National Population Health Survey 1996-97 Documentation. Ottawa: Statistics Canada, 1998.

Stephens T and Graham DF (eds). Canada's Health Promotion Survey 1990: Technical Report. Ottawa: Minister of Supply and Services, 1993.

Stokes ME, Davis CS and Koch GG. Categorical Data Analysis using the SAS System. Cary, NC: The SAS Institute, 1995.

Syme L and Berkman L. Social class, susceptibility and sickness. American Journal of Epidemiology. 104(1):1-8, 1976.

Syme L. The social environment and health. Daedalus. 123(4):79-86, 1994.

Tarlov A. Public Policy Frameworks for Improving Population Health. in Socioeconomic Status and Health in Industrial Nations: Social, Psychological and Biological Pathways. New York Academy of Sciences Annals No. 896, 1999. Titmuss RG. Poverty and Population. London: Macmillan, 1938.

Torrance GW, Zhang Y, Feeny D, Furlong W and Barr R. Multi-attribute preference functions for a comprehensive health status classification system. CHEPA Working Paper 92-18. Hamilton, Ontario: McMaster University, 1992.

Torrance GW, Feeny DH, Furlong WJ, Barr RD, Zhang Y and Wang Q. Multiattribute utility function for a comprehensive health status classification system. Medical Care. 34(7): 702-722, 1996.

Townsend, Peter. The International Analysis of Poverty. London: Harvester Wheatsheaf, 1993.

Townsend P, Davidson N and Whitehead M. Inequalities in Health. London: Penguin Books, 1988.

Verbrugge LM. Recent, present and future health of American adults. Annual Review of Public Health. 10:333-361, 1989.

Von Neumann J and Morgenstern O. Theory of games and economic behavior. Princeton, New Jersey: Princeton University Press, 1947.

Wacholder S. Binomial regression in GLIM: estimating risk ratios and risk differences. American Journal of Epidemiology. 123(1):174-84, 1986.

Wadworth MEJ. Serious illness in childhood and its association with later life achievement. in Class and health: research and longitudinal data. RG Wilkinson (ed). London: Tavistock, 1986.

Ware JE Jr. Conceptualizing and measuring generic health outcomes. Cancer. 67:774-779, 1991.

Ware JE Jr. The status of health assessment 1994. Annual Review of Public Health. 16:327-54, 1995.

Warren R. Wealth and Health, Health and Wealth. Ontario: Premier's Council on Health, Well-being and Social Justice, 1994.

Wen SW, Goel V and Williams JI. Utilization of health care services by immigrants and other ethnic/cultural groups in Ontario. Ethnicity and Health. 1(1):99-109, 1996.

Whitehead M. The health divide. published in Inequalities in Health. London: Penguin, 1988.

Wigle DT and Mao Y. Mortality by Income Level in Urban Canada, Non-communicable Disease Division, Health Protection Branch. Ottawa: Minister of National Health and Welfare, 1980.

Wilkins R. and Adams OB. Health Expectancy in Canada, Late 1970s: Demographic, Regional and Social Dimensions. American Journal of Public Health. 73(9):1073-1080, 1983.

Wilkins R, Adams O and Brancker A. Changes in mortality by income in urban Canada from 1971 to 1986. Health Reports. 1(2):137-174, 1989.

Wilkinson RG. National mortality rates: the impact of inequality? American Journal of Public Health. 82(8):1084-1082, 1992.

Wilkinson RG. The epidemiological transition: from material scarcity to social disadvantage. Daedalus. 123(4):61-77, 1994.

Wilkinson RG. Unhealthy societies: the afflictions of inequality. London: Routledge, 1996.

Williams DR. Socioeconomic differences in health: a review and redirection. Social Psychology Quarterly. 53:81-99, 1990.

Williams JI, Iron K and Wu K. Estimating the Impact of Arthritis on the Burden of Disability and the Costs of Health Services. in Patterns of Health Care in Ontario: Arthritis and Related Conditions. Badley EM and Williams JI (eds.). Toronto: Institute for Clinical Evaluative Sciences, 1998.

Winkleby MA, Jatulis DE, Frank E and Fortmann SP. Socioeconomic status and health: how education, income and occupation contribute to risk factors for cardiovascular disease. American Journal of Public Health. 82(6):816-820, 1992.

Wolfson M. New Views on Inequality Trends in Canada and the United States. Ottawa: Statistics Canada, 1998.

Woloshin S, Schwartz L, Katz SJ and Welch HG. Is Language a Barrier to the use of preventive services? Journal of General Internal Medicine. 12:472-477, 1997.

Appendix A

Health Utilities Index Mark III: Health Status Classification System

Vision

- 1 Able to see well enough to read ordinary newsprint and recognize a friend on the other side of the street, without glasses or contact lenses
- 2 Able to see well enough to read ordinary newsprint and recognize a friend on the other side of the street, but with glasses
- 3 Able to read ordinary newsprint with or without glasses, but unable to recognize a friend on the other side of the street, even with glasses
- 4 Able to recognize a friend on the other side of the street with or without glasses, but unable to read ordinary newsprint, even with glasses
- 5 Unable to read ordinary newsprint and unable to recognize a friend on the other side of the street, even with glasses
- 6 Unable to see at all

Hearing

- Able to hear what is said in a group conversation with at least three other people, without a hearing aid
- 2 Able to hear what is said in a conversation with one other person in a quiet room without a hearing aid, but requires a hearing aid to hear what is said in a group conversation with at least three other people
- 3 Able to hear what is said in a conversation with one other person in a quiet room with a hearing aid and able to hear what is said in a group conversation with at least three other people with a hearing aid
- 4 Able to hear what is said in a conversation with one other person in a quiet room without a hearing aid, but unable to hear what is said in a group conversation with at least three other people even with a hearing aid
- 5 Able to hear what is said in a conversation with one other person in a quiet room with a hearing aid, but unable to hear what is said in a group conversation with at least three other people even with a hearing aid
- 6 Unable to hear at all

Speech

- 1 Able to be understood completely when speaking with strangers or friends
- 2 Able to be understood partially when speaking with strangers, but able to understood completely when speaking with people who know the respondent well
- 3 Able to understood partially when speaking with strangers or people who know the respondent well
- 4 Unable to be understood when speaking with strangers but able to be understood partially by people who know the respondent well
- 5 Unable to be understood when speaking to other people (or unable to speak at all)

Ambulation

- 1 Able to walk around the neighbourhood without difficulty, and without walking equipment
- 2 Able to walk around the neighbourhood with difficulty, but does not require walking equipment or the help of another person
- 3 Able to walk around the neighbourhood with walking equipment, but without the help of another person
- 4 Able to walk only short distances with walking equipment and requires a wheelchair to get around the neighbourhood
- 5 Unable to walk alone, even with walking equipment; able to walk short distances with the help of another person and requires a wheelchair to get around the neighbourhood
- 6 Cannot walk at all

Dexterity

- 1 Full use of two hands and ten fingers
- 2 Limitations in the use of hands or fingers, but does not require special tools or the help of another person
- 3 Limitations in the use of hands or fingers, is independent with use of special tools (does not require the help of another person)
- 4 Limitations in the use of hands or fingers, requires the help of another person for some tasks (not independent even with the use of special tools)
- 5 Limitations in the use of hands or fingers, requires the help of another person for most tasks (not independent even with the use of special tools)
- 6 Limitations in the use of hands or fingers, requires the help of another person for all tasks (not independent even with the use of special tools)

Emotion

- 1 Happy and interested in life
- 2 Somewhat happy
- 3 Somewhat unhappy
- 4 Very unhappy
- 5 So unhappy that life is not worthwhile

Cognition

- 1 Able to remember most things, think clearly and solve day to day problems
- 2 Able to remember most things, but have a little difficulty when trying to think and solve day to day problems
- 3 Somewhat forgetful, but able to think clearly and solve day to day problems
- 4 Somewhat forgetful and have a little difficulty when trying to think and solve day to day problems
- 5 Very forgetful and have great difficulty when trying to think and solve day to day problems

6 Unable to remember anything at all, and unable to think and solve day to day problems

Pain

- 1 Free of pain and discomfort
- 2 Mild to moderate pain that prevents no activities
- 3 Moderate pain that prevents a few activities
- 4 Moderate to severe pain that prevents some activities
- 5 Severe pain that prevents most activities

(Reprinted with permission from <u>http://www.fhs.mcmaster.ca/hug/hui3.htm;</u> see also Feeny et al., 1996)